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SUMMARY

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) was invited by the Natiomalist and the Lake
District National Park Authority to provide supervision and support totiteland enable
a community archaeology project examining a humber of pesdinimer fulling mills

located within the Windermere lake catchment. The project was éddmnc the Heritage
Lottery Fund and was one of three community surveys being undertakearta®fp
Reflections on History, one of nineteen projects taking place urderumbrella of
Windermere Reflections. Windermere Reflections is part of a wahggerof conservation
and heritage themed projects in the Windermere Catchment RestdPabgramme. The
project was intended to undertake a series of detailed topographic sangeyesk-based
analyses of former fuling mills, while providing support andnirg for volunteers in
areas such as archaeological survey and archive research.

Topographic survey was undertaken to identify, record, and describe any ésdantras
and features associated with five possible, former fulling mills within tinel&mere lake
catchment. The surveys were undertaken between"ti#e @l and 8" May 2012. Desk-
top historical survey of information pertinent to each site, inclydiistorical maps, and
records held in the Armitt Library and Kendal Record Office took place ontea® 16
May 2012.

Fulling describes the process of cleaning and de-greasindewooloth, either with
potash, dung and urine or fuller's earth, and the pounding of the clothripact the
fibres of the fabric. The pounding of the roughly woven woollen cloth uwakertaken
using large wooden hammers (known as stocks) which were liftedrby ca an axle
turned by a water wheel. The stocks would act upon the cloth within a large tmbungh

which also contained water and fuller's earth. After fulling, theth would be washed,
stretched and dried.

The recent survey examined five possible fulling mills withie Windermere lake
catchment. Four of the five sites are located within the northern part of the eatcimear
the villages of Grasmere and Langdale, an area documenteg@sant for fuling and
weaving. The condition of the mills was variable, with one at Sokr@ill being an
exceptional survival and representing an archetypal medievabduttiill, whereas at
Loughrigg Terrace, for example, there is reasonable survivéleofvater system but the
mill remains are open to interpretation. Two of the mills, that at Soufaiilland Stickle
Ghyll, were originally stone founded structures, associated with well-defiaes wupply
systems, comprising head race, wheel pit and tail race, anaduamik Gill, a launder
platform also. Both mill structures were potentially reused their operational life is
uncertain.

At Loughrigg Terrace, the putative mill platform is only 4.5m by 2i6nsize and it is
possible to conjecture that the stocks and trough would not have been conttiied
building, although a simple timber structure could have been erectedhavevorking
components. There would, in any case, have only been room for a singlehatomer
and trough.

The head and tail races were the most diagnostic featured thfeaimills, and often
provided the most definitive evidence for a mill, notably at Loughriggalce. The
relatively limited water supply for many of these water whé@sdlicates that the supply
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would have been taken over the top of an overshot wheel (as opposed to @mainde

wheel which required a large flow of water) using a wooden launder. These sareive;
but a large stone platform for a launder survives at Sourmilk Gill.

At three of the mill sites (Sourmilk Gill, Low Wood and Little Ore Gategres of ponds
survived, which drew water from a divert channel, although their fonmes part of the
fulling process were potentially varied.

The process of fulling was bound into a broadly agricultural econonmgi>a&fd farming,
including the rearing of sheep and shearing, as well as mgawnd potash manufacture.
Spatially associated with a number of the mills were stock pounds, arabladaemains
and potash kilns, which reinforce the historical evidence that iediddtat fulling was
undertaken on a part-time basis alongside a large range ofilagial activities and was
seasonal following on from the annual wool shear typically in mid-summer.
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1
11.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PROJECT

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) was invited by the National Tmdtthe
Lake District National Park Authority to provide supervision and etippo
facilitate and enable a community archaeology project examiai number of
possible, former fulling mills located within the Windermere lake cagctimrl he
project was financed by the Heritage Lottery Fund and was onehrek t
community surveys being undertaken as part of Reflections on Historygfone
nineteen projects taking place under the umbrella of WindermefiecHons.
Windermere Reflections is part of a wider range of conservatioh heeritage
themed projects in the Windermere Catchment Restoration Progranmaeaim
of the wider project is to improve water quality and to bring enviremtal and
economic benefits to the area.

The first step towards planning the Reflections on Historye@reyas taken in
2010, with the commissioning of a GIS based study examining the woodland,
water and mineral-based heritage of the Windermere lake catck@aniorth
2010). This study and report made recommendations for a series ofundgm
projects based around each of the three themes of woodland, water andsmineral
mining. The first thematic survey project, examining woodland indgstiethe
Greythwaite Estate located in the south-western part of the Wiede lake
catchment, took place during March and April 2012. This was followed soon
after by a second thematic survey project which aimed to exarhéeneise of
water power for a number of former fulling mills within théindermere lake
catchment.

The project undertook a detailed topographic survey and desk-bagesisaol
four former fulling mills in the northern and north-western parts thof
Windermere lake catchment (locations shown on Figure 1):

. Sourmilk Gill at Brimmer Head Farm, Easedale (NY 3193 0868)

. Loughrigg Terrace, near to the outflow of Grasmere Tarn (NY 3431 0589)
. Low Wood, Elterwater (NY 3370 0503)

. Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale (NY 2941 0649)

A project design was issued by OA Nowpgendix ] in response to a written
brief from The National TrustAppendix 2 which targeted investigation on these
four sites. A further potential fulling mill site was iddmd at Little Ore Gate,
near Graythwaite (SD 3711 9330) during the survey of woodlands on the
Graythwaite Estate undertaken as part of the Reflections obrAdi$OA North
forthcoming. Given the interest in this site amongst the project paetits, it

was undertaken as part of the program of survey and the results apomated

into this report.
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1.2 AMS

1.2.1  The principle aim of the project was to involve people from the looaimzinity
with an interest in archaeology and their own local historic enment in
archaeological investigation and survey that would provide new iaf@mon
the wealth of archaeological remains in the Windermere lake cabthihlee aim
was to provide training for volunteers in surveying and documentary research tha
they would be able to continue to use beyond the life of the project. The range of
techniques taught to the volunteer team were such that these wavld all
recording without the need for expensive or specialist equipmenpranveied a
legacy of skills within the community. As well as educationavés important
that the participants were provided with an experience thatbatds meaningful,
in terms of learning, but was also social and enjoyable.

1.2.2  This training entailed providing a general introduction to the teclmiqiie
archaeological survey, supplemented by a guided tour of the sites unde
investigation. This general introduction took place at High Close Youth Hostel on
the 31st March 2012 in advance of the start of fieldwork.

1.2.3 The objectives of the recording programme, undertaken by the valumtitler
professional supervision, were to undertake outline documentary researdheinto t
fulling mills and fulling activity in the Windermere catchmbte To undertake
detailed surveys of four fuling mills, and their local environsptovide an
appropriate context for the individual mills. Ultimately theomhation gathered
through this process was to be disseminated in reports, and updated records for the
Lake District Historic Environment Record and the National TrustsSand
Monuments Record. The information collated will in due course be used for
interpretation purposes by the various partners involved in Winderme
Reflections to inform local communities and visitors to the catchment airdas
special qualities.

Fortheuse of the National Trustand Lake Disthetional Park Authority @A North September 2012
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1
211

21.2

2.2
221

22.2

2.2.3

INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESIGN

Project Dedgn: a project design, submitted by OA NortAppendix ] in
responseto a project brief by Jamie Lund, National TrAppéndix 2, was used
as the basis for this investigation. It was adhered to in full, hadmork was
consistent with the relevant standards and procedures of the Indtmute
Archaeologists, and generally accepted best practice.

The work programme was divided into three elements: desk-basadcines
detailed field survey and reporting. The survey areas were dampi@n each of

the documented fulling mills defined and was adjusted so as to emstirthe
maximum possible area could be examined by the volunteers over the course of a
week. In all instances this ensured that the main areas ofgfuthitll and
associated water systems were recorded. The areas of fimay sare as shown

on Figures 2-20 and 29-34.

DOCUMENTARY STUDY

The documentary study was undertaken to provide training for volunteers, and to
allow them to get involved in the historical side of the projicentailed two
training days, led by the archivists at the Cumbria Record Offfiemdal) and
Armitt Library (Ambleside). Further study was undertaken at the BaReword
Office, but not as part of the training programme.

The documentary study sought archaeological information pertinent to egch stud
area, such as earlier investigations of the site or aerialogtapthy that may
provided a valuable insight into the character of the respectea&s.afT his
element of study obtained pertinent background information, and drew upon
historical mapping and database sources. These included an dpgfraisa
information held in the Lake District National Park Historic Environmeatdrd
(HER) and the National Trust Sites and Monuments Record (SM Ryelagis
appropriate sections of county histories, early maps, primary docuroensaich

as tithe and estate plans, and published documentary sources. The wordaccess
the following repositories: Lake District National Park HER; NationalksTISM R
Cumbria Record Office (Kendal and Barrow); Lancaster Uniwseribrary;
Armitt Library (Ambleside); the OA North library and on-line sources.

The core repository in terms of the collation of information ler desk-based
assessment was the Cumbria Record Office (Kendal), which held ritmary
sources for the areas. However, an extremely valuable sourcecaidagy
information was provided at the Armitt Library, which included the amant
research of Mary Armitt into fulling mills. As the desk-based reseawohprised
a key element of the volunteer involvement within the community grojec
addition to research undertaken by OA North, two day-long tutored sessions were
held at the Cumbria Record Office (Kendal) and Armitt Libréymbleside) in
order to provide training for volunteers in the use of the resourcdee akecord
office and the specific use of historical documents in the cbntéx
archaeological research. The tutored sessions were held during eartf Wlay
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224

2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

2.2.8

2.3
23.1

2012, with instruction by Helen Quartermaine and Jamie QuartermaineCffom
North, Peter Eyre, Senior Archivist at the Kendal Record Office, Deborah
Walsh, Curator at the Armitt Museum and Library.

The relevant documents held by the record office were collated into broad themes
and the volunteers were encouraged to engage in independent research which
formed the basis of a research archive. Numerous types of records were consulted
during the research, with a particular emphasis on the inspeatidwistoric
mapping and secondary sources.

LiDAR plotting: 1m resolution LIDAR mapping was available for selected study
areas, notably at the Sourmilk Gill study area. This is very ileltaerrain
modelling data produced by laser scanning the ground from an airdnaftdata
was initially provided as Raster images, but following discussion wétth som

the Lake District National Park Authority it was agreed to obtain the LiRiaR

in ASCII format which allows considerable manipulation of the modeludirch
exaggeration of the vertical axis to enhance the earthwork renidasLiDAR
provided a basis for the interpretation and recording of the lanelsaad
provided contour information for Sourmilk Gill area.

Aerial Photographic Moddling: three of the sites (Sourmilk Gill, Loughrigg
Terrace and Stickle Ghyll) were modelled by photogrammetmpguserial
photographs and corrected photographic texture photographic infagdse
areas. New aerial photographs were taken using a UAV, a smalbte
controlled helicopter. Survey control was introduced to the photographiseb
placement of survey control targets across the site and weredldgat@eans of
survey grade GPS.

Photogrammetric processing was undertaken using Agisoft softwihaich
provided detailed modelling using an overlap of up to 130 photographs, and
created a very detailed DTM (Digital Terrain Model) acrdabs site. The
photographs were then digitally draped over the model to creataceurate
three-dimensional representation of the ground surface. The primaput,
however, was an accurate two-dimensional image which was usedvmer
additional plan information (Figs 7, 12, and 20).

The Low Wood and Little Ore Gate sites were within woodland, preventing aerial
photography, and the method could not practically be applied.

DETAILED SURVEY

Detailed topographic survey was undertaken at all five gitigsl) using the
methodology equating to the level of survey detail defined as sfngleritage
Level 3 (Ainsworthet al.2007). It was intended for this survey to serve primarily
as a training exercise for the volunteers, so the survey techniques werd tievise
be easy to understand, to allow for plotting in the field, and to use equipment that
can be acquired at low cost by the volunteers for follow on work. liyitiae
following survey techniques were demonstrated to the volunteersrtasfpan
introductory survey day:

. Plane Table: the technique produces drawings in the field and typically
uses stadia tacheometry onthe alidade to measure distances. However, the
project alidade was modified to use a Disto, mounted onto the telescope,
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2.3.2

2.3.3

234

2.3.5

2.3.6

to measure distances of up to 120m. The Disto also measured vertical
angle and output corrected horizontal distances.

. Theodolite and Digo: the project used a theodolite with a Disto distance
measurement device mounted on top. The range of the Disto is 120m and
was suitable for detailed recording. The survey data was plotital
draughting film using a large protractor, allowing for th@duction of
survey drawings in the field;

. Total Station: a modern total station was demonstrated, which provides
digital output to a pen computer allowing views of the graphipauas
they are produced. While the techniqgue was efficient and effethee
equipment was too expensive for the volunteer groups and was not
considered for the remaining survey;

. High Accuracy GPS: the use of a Leica 1200 differential GPS was used
for the peripheral elements of the survey, such as field boundamges
other topographic detail. It can achieve accuracies to +- 0.0#in a
provides graphic output of the survey resuks on its LCD screen. It allowed
the volunteers to establish survey control at all five sites thatd
afterwards be used to locate and position the various hand drawn surveys
produced in the field using other techniques, and to visualise the survey
results in the field in a meaningful way.

Survey Control: survey control was introduced to the sites by means of a high-
accuracy survey-type differential GPS, ensuring the internairacy of the
survey and also its location with respect to the Ordnance Survey National Grid.

Detail Survey: the detail survey was primarily undertaken using the theodolite
and Disto and also the plane table. The plotting of the theodolite wat
graphical onto field survey drawings using a large A3-sized paper pgotrabe
topographic survey recorded all structural and earthwork componehtsh w
were drawn by hachure survey. Survey points were marked on the ground using
spray paint and the survey drawing was manually drawn up with respect to them
On completion of the survey, the field drawings were digitised mtCAD
system and combined with survey data obtained from the Leica 1200 GPS.

Dexcription: the final stage was the production of a descriptive record of all
features, incorporating a provisional interpretation of the function ofetiteres
where possible. A provisional interpretation of the site's chronolegg also
provided where possible. The digital gazetteer was collated and eolitedit as

an Access Report and input directly into a Microsoft Word format.

Photographic Record: a digital photographic archive was generated in the course
of the field project using a digital SLR camera with 10 megapixelugen. The
photographic record comprises landscape and detailed photogtaehyetailed
photographs of archaeological features incorporated a scale b ahdtthgraphy
was recorded opro-formasheets showing the subject, orientation and date.

Photogrammetric Recording of Wall Elevations at Stickle Ghyll there were the
upstanding remains of a putative fulling mill which were reedrdby means of
photogrammetry. Survey control was established by means of tafsetisafo
selective detail on the walls. A series of photographs wéent&dom multiple
locations of each elevations to provide the basis for photogramonaeialy sis.
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2.4
241

242

2.5
251

Photogrammetric processing was undertaken using Agisoft softwareh
provided detailed modelling using the overlaps of the photographs, and aeated
detailed DTM (Digital Terrain Model) of each elevations. The phopdgavere
then digitally draped over the model to create an accurate dimessional
textured surface of each wall. The primary output, however, was an aceuoate t
dimensional elevation of each wall incorporated into Autocad (Figs 21-8).

REPORT AND GAZETTEER OF SITES

Reporting: the present report identifies areas of defined archaeolargy,an
assessment and statement of the actual and potential archeestatognificance
of the material within the broader context of regional and national arcigesl
priorities.

Information concerning the sites of archaeological intergsinithe study area
has been collated into a gazetteBedtion % The gazetteer output from the
Access 97 database is compatible with the National Trust &iickdV onuments
Record, and was formatted within Word. Site locations are givererafigure
National Grid References where possible. TNiational Monuments Record
Thesauri(English Heritage 1999) was used as part of the site descriptions.

ARCHIVE

A full archive has been produced to a professional standard i @ocerwith
English Heritage guidelines (1991) and tGeidelines for the Preparation of
Excavation Archives for Long Term Stora@éKIC 1990). The project archive
represents the collation and indexing of all the data and matetiared during
the course of the project. The archive is provided in the English bier@antre
for Archaeology format, both as a printed document and digitally. arti@ve
will be provided to the National Trust for storage within both thegional and
national archives.
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3. HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.1.4

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Introduction: the following sections present a summary of the historical and
archaeological background of fulling and cloth manufacture within the
Windermere catchment. It examines the process and technologylirod fahd
examines the historical evidence for fulling and cloth manufacueach of the
five putative fulling sites. The historical background below examiheshistory

of fulling from the earliest documentation in the medieval pefwdugh to the
present and has been compiled in order to place the individual fulling mtiigwi

a wider chronological context.

Twefth - Thirteenth Century. ‘Historical evidence from the twelfth century
onwards indicates that the physical geography and climatbeotdke District
areas enabled widespread sheep farming and the export of wool. By the fburteent
century it is apparent that there was a thriving market in the tovasnshigendal

and Ambleside in the Lake District for ready-woven cloth for export to othes part
of England and abroad. To serve this industry a series of fulling hakl been
constructed along the banks of the River Rothay and Easedale (andsperhap
further to the west by Wray Gill) in the Grasmere townships and in avedis of
Rydal Water. The fuling mills have been described as a revohty
development changing the pattern of the agricultural economy, notbgniire
speedier processing of larger quantities of a more weather-proof clothsdutyal
introducing urban manufacturing and economic concepts into the rurarsna
and monastic estates’, (Carus-Wilson 1941, 39-60)

During the twelfth and thirteenth centuries the great manufagteentres of

cloth were in large towns in the east of England close to the ports lpiGteat
Yarmouth and Ipswich. However, documentary, place-name and family name
evidence demonstrate that the wool industry in Cumberland and Westmorland was
also established in this period (Davies-Shiel 1992). The geography antkalima

the land was more suited to sheep than to the rearing of cattle ar fnahlands

and the monastic estates of Furness Abbey and Conishead Prioryeexphogt,
holding extensive ‘parks’ for sheep farming and leasing lancsherep farming.

By the end of the twelfth century, Furness Abbey held as many as 60,000 sheep,
with most of the raw wool exported outside the region (Elliot 1961, 112-9). Wool
production was in such large quantities that it necessitated thainguof
warehouses for storing wool and for the improvement of packhorse routes (Carnie
2002, 54-7). The monks gained a reputation for high-grade fleeces and wool
(Davies-Shiel 1992) at a time when raw wool was a major export of England.

Fourteenth - Sixteenth Century: when Edward Il gained the throne in 1327 and
found that he needed to raise money for his foreign policies, héatedigo tax

the wool-clip that was exported to the continent. The high taxes of thevoaly

as compared to the minimal taxes of woven cloth, enabled further development of
the weaving industries in Kendal and Ambleside (Carus-Wilson 1941, 39-60;
Davies-Shiel 1978, 27). This, combined with increasing confidence in the
building and operation of fulling mills in this area, meant thahhwéavers and
fullers were able to exploit the new commercial possibilities of clathufacture.
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Many parts of the Lake District had an abundnace of becks and stsegtable

for turning waterwheels (unlike the flat areas of the Norfolk and Eastiaragd

easy access to bracken which was used to manufacture potash which wad essentia
to the fulling process. Even prior to the Black Death in 1348, theme we
potentially at least fifty fulling mills (Davies-Shiel 199R) the two counties of
Cumberland and Westmorland, although it can be difficult to quantify rel@ioly

the basis of the sometimes erratic historical evidence blail&ome of these
were owned by Furness Abbey and Conishead Priory (Davies-Shiel 1978, 111;
Z/100/1, 1318). In the late medieval period across the country, monastieshous
invested heavily in fulling mills, and between a third and a halélbimonastic
houses built or managed at least one such mill (Lucas 2006, 181-2). The tota
number of mills in Cumberland and Westmorland equalled around one third of the
number of fulling mills in England at this date (Carus-Wilson 1941, 417d19.
depopulation caused by the Black Death ensured that wage-basexy e
continued to create a profitable industry with a steadier market., last@rduring

the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, there was tight control of tloé tnade by

the Crown with many specific edicts being passed that dbtaikes of
production, the cloth types, the sale of cloth, and indeed who should wear which
types of cloth, again enhancing the commercial prospects fowé#agers of
Kendal and Ambleside and for the fullers who washed and dressed their cloth.

3.1.5 A detailed study of medieval fulling mills and their owners masGere and
Rydal demonstrated that between the thirteenth to the sixteenth eerfulling
mills were erected along the banks of the River Rothay and ied&as and
possibly further to the west by Wray Gill; while the areas south of Rydal astl w
of Ambleside were also regarded as important for fulling (#rrh908; Carnie
2002). Armitt describes how the earliest fulling mill refertedin the surviving
documentation may be the manorial fulling mill of Grasmere roeati in 1283
in the Inquisitions of William de Lindesey, perhaps serving the areas oiméngs
Langdale and Loughrigg, and being held by the lord and situated at thaananor
centre (Armitt 1916, 198). The wool industry and trade at that time seem® also
have been controlled, and dues extracted from the transportation hof lobaal
tradition recorded in the nineteenth century describes how cloth fromgdaée
(probably via Long House and Pye Howe) was transported over Bleadrimy
‘dressed [fulled] in Grasmere and that they paid a smalltéotheir neighbour
township, for keeping the road open to them'. This implies thatlyfirkilling
mills had yet to be built in Langdale and, secondly, that probabl driginal
lord's mill in Grasmere was situated on one of the higher western tributattes of
Rothay’ which accords well with Sourmilk Gill. (Armitt 1908, 152).

3.1.6  In 1375, a William Bakester was working the Grasmere fulling mill, anti39Q
Rad de Grenerige was operating the mill (Farrer and Curwen 1924tt A190i8,
139). By 1390, there was a new mill within this parish situated in Lougharndg
worked by John Walker (Armitt 1916, 199-200). In 1453, a rental cites a new mill
in Grasmere, a new mill in Ambleside and two mills in Langd alekimgy a total
of six mills in the parish (Armitt 1908, 139-140).

3.1.7 Dues also had to be paid for each fulling mill, known as ‘walkihgr’, a
reference to the term walk-mill and the earliest methods 6hduby pounding
with ‘walking’ feet (Plate 2). The Barony of Kendal records noterstal called
‘walky nsylver’ from the tenants of Loughrigg in 1390 and again in 1454. Thus the
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3.1.8

3.1.9

3.1.10

3.1.11

building of a fulling mill was an investment, from which an incocwld be
earned and taxes levied. Armitt notes that as time went on sdlimg fmills
became exempt from the manorial tax of Loughrigg and Rydal, periva
recognition of the increasing numbers built and the ‘webstersavgs’)
independence (Armitt 1916, 94).

The increase in the number of fulling mills can be ascrim@donly to an
increased demand for fulled cloth, but also to the entrepenurialamchercial
activities of newer manorial owners. A rental document of 1493, when Si
William Parr held the barony of Kendal, lists a total of ten millse¢hin each of
the parishes of Grasmere, Langdale and Ambleside and one in iggudir
seems that three of these, one in each township, had been newly tedstruc
during Sir William Parr’s tenure (Armitt 1908, 140). These mills weaséd out:
John Hawkrigge held the three mills in Grasmere, Robert Wylky aswh his
‘fellows' held Langdale, but it is not recorded who held the mill in Loughrigg. By
1506 a further two mills had been built in Loughrigg but again it isknotvn
who leased them (Armitt 1908, 140-1). In Langdale, a fourth fulling mill was built
by the 1570silpid).

Armitt calculates that by the end of the sixteenth century there wereassnas
fulling mills in the area of Grasmere, Troutbeck, Rydal, LoughrEjtgrwater,
and Langdale. Some fulling mills were jointly owned by two or enpartners,
suggesting that a fulling mill could be a costly operation meediusiness
partnerships. For instance, the Bensons were owners of many of thg fuillis
in the area, alongside John Hawkrigg, Robert Wilkinson and his partiiers
Brathwaite family in Ambleside and Hawkshead, the Jacksons in Ambleside
the Griggs in Langdale (Armitt 1916, 202). A court hearing and document of 1578
lists the seizure of ‘the 4th part of a fulling mill; the 8thtpat another fulling
mill; the 8th part of a corn mill; and the 4th part of a cartaioor or pasture
called ‘Whelpstrother’ in the lordship of Langdale before citing dafferholdings
by the Bensons and Griggs in Langdale (Farrer and Curwen 1924).

The names of the Benson family seem to dominate the documentary and financial
archive of the late fifteenth and sixteenth centuries of Grasmewning
properties at Bainrigg (between Grasmere and Rydal), Easettad Langdale.

The Bensons bought the manor of Baisbrown and its mills in 1546 after the
dissolution of Conishead Priory (ALM S/103.2). According to the archivegethes
holdings included mills (although what type were not specified). A p attipeof
Michael, Edward and Bernard Benson in 1575 or 1576 purchased much of
Loughrigg; in this document they were described as clothiers, althougfttA
explains that they could equally well have been fullers and dysrsyell as
weavers (Kendal WDRY/1/13/9 Box 68; Armitt 1908, 146-7). In 1593, the Grigg
family still owned one walk-mill in Langdale but ‘several Isiilwere owned by

the Bensons (Armitt 1908, 143). The Benson family seem to have seized
opportunities to hold land for both the operation of fulling mills as well ashi®r
drying of the cloth, using poor upland areas that could be used asfi¢iger
(Carnie 2002, 101).

‘During the fifteenth and sixteenth century the parishes and hipsn®f
Grasmere, Rydal, Langdale and Elterwater must have had conssdarabiwell
organised industrial drive. Each fulling mill may have been wgylkmtandem
with perhaps as many as twenty websters who used the wool p tbogs fmty -
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five sorters, carders, and spinsters with the fullers and webakaw providing
work for dyers and shearmen. Outside the trade there would have beerowork f
packmen and men operating the potash kilns*, (Davies-Shiel 1978, 22-4)

3.1.12 Late Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries this was a period of decline for the
wool and cloth trade in the Lake District and indeed in the whole oNuréh
West. Transport tolls had detracted from the profits, the plagheks77 and
1597-8 had reduced the working population and contributed to loss of trade
(Armitt 1908, 197), and the Dissolution had caused a temporary collaptbe of
local economic structure for a crucial few years. A raft wégs introduced by
Edward VI in order to control the wool trade more profitably and to ptetre
export of wool clip to the continent did not help to prevent the decline in the wool
trade of the north-west regions. Staplers were given the monopoly iofylad
selling wool and cloth. Furthermore, the better-quality and finer wodiglsbld
in the southern markets were becoming more popular and, although tlaick a
blanket-like cloths were still required to be worn by the artidasses, the
demand for such cloth would have been less profitable. Kendal had its own guild
of staplers but its production remained low; four mills in Grasmere wegorted
as decayed in 1572 (Armitt 1908, 155). During the late sixteenth and early
seventeenth centuries the Benson family, who had owned and operated many of
the fulling mills in the area, had seemingly over-stretched theinfes and their
documentary record becomes a paper trail of mortgages and sales.

3.1.13 Other industries were proving to be much more profitable and tleesaaking
up the reduced labour-force in areas such as the Furness Fells amel swuth
coast of the Lake District. The geography, woodlands and resourcése of
Furness Fells were more conducive to the iron-smelting indusandsthe easy
availability of sea transport and markets on the coast and abr@ad that the
iron industry could expand and bloomforges at sites such as Cunseyaridill
Force Mills developed and becamse more proftable businesses. Only in 1618 and
1619 was the Edward VI legislation modified under James | to encotinage
Lake District woollen industries to redevelop (Carnie 2002, 65), but by then many
fulling mills had been turned into carding mills, bark mills, sawsraihd bobbin
mills (Armitt 1908, 198).

3.2 FULLING TECHNOLOGY AND ARCHAEOLOGY

3.2.1 Thebadgcfulling process the carding, spinning and weaving of wool was based
in tenants’ cottages, many of which would have had one or more handlooms.
After the cloth was woven and sold on, it needed to be fulled. This involved the
cleaning and de-greasing of the of the cloth either with potash, dung aeduri
fuller's earth (a naturally occurring magnesium oxide rtdy), and then the
pounding of the cloth. Prior to fulling mills, the cloth would have been pounded
by the feet of people walking on the cloth. The development of wateered
fulling stocks or mills in England at the end of the twelfth century ovil1973,

12) allowed the mechanisation of this process with huge oak hammeiscks s

to pump out the dirt and grease, thicken the weave and to prodatklikef
texture. Cloth may have been fulled for up to three sessions, sheiriie in

urine, a second time with fullers’s earth (or potash) and a tinm@l with hot
soapy water (Coquetdale Community Project 2011, appendix 11; Davies-Shiel
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3.2.2

3.2.3

1992; Flohr 2006, 193-200). The fulled cloth was then dried by stretching it on
tenter-frames in large fields, presumably adjacent to the midibg8 where the
fulling took place. ‘The process of raising the pile was then .... performeteby
flower head of the teasel (laid in a flat frame) which scrathed up the soffdee
cloth’, (Brydson 1908, 96).

‘Cloth that commeth froe the weaving is not comely to wear,
Till it be fulled under fote or in a fullyng stocks;

Washen well with water, and with tasels cratched,

y-touked and y-teynted, and under talours hand *

William Langland,c1362, from Piers Plowman.

Some versions have ‘y- Walked’ in the place of ‘y-touked’; the author, often uses
“touker * for ‘fuller.’

The Scottish ‘luaghad’ was similar to the fulling mill, wheltiwas cleansed,
shrunk and thickened by heat, moisture and pressure. Up to fourteen women,
divided into two equal groups, would sit down either side of a long ribbed board.
They would then place a cloth over it. Initially, the cloth was workeévbaids

and forwards by the women's hands and once they tired of this, they used the
feet in the same manner (Plate 2).

Singing always accompanied both working at the quern and the ludgisd.
process was known as ‘'waulking and the songs as 'waulking sbhg@swords
often have no specific meaning but are simply syllables appropridtie thythm
of the work

oo

Plate 2: Eighteenth century (approximately 1760s) engraving ofs\@oaten
waulking (fulling) cloth on a Iluaghad and singing waulking songs
(http ://www.ambaile.org/en/item/item_illustration.jsp ?item_id=13027
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3.24

3.2.5

3.2.6

cloth’ (Pluche 1732)

The different processes of fuling meant that each mill deddehave a
continuous water supply, running from the water source through a leatfdvot
washing and for driving a water-wheel. The mill needed to be close to a source of
naturally-growing bracken, which was burnt in kilns to provide potedtich
acted as a cleaning agent, and also adjacent to large areasdafwept hillside
or poor grassland where the cloth could be dried on frames or t¢Rtats 3).
Davies-Shiel suggested that each mill might have been assbciaith
‘tenterfields’ or ‘tenterbanks’ upwind of the mill and one or more potash kilns
fields known as ‘brackenrigge’ [or ‘ashburner’] downwind of the mill ({[2a-
Shiel 1978, 21-23) thus place name evidence is of importance in ydegtif
possible sites.

Water supply: the mill buildings themselves needed to be located where a fall of
water could be exploited (or landscaped) from a stream orpmib, along a
head-race, with a launder constructed to take water from the loeaderaan
overshot, or possibly, a breast-shot water-wheel (Plate 4). Thenoveasd the
breast-shot wheels relied upon the weight of the water for thgrutsion. The
overshot wheel utilised a greater fall of water than a breast shot wiezk(the
water was introduced part way up the wheel) and as a consequence colle get t
same amount of propulsion from a smaller flow of water. The ofpes of
wheel, the undershot wheel, relied entirely on the flow of water thaswheel

and required a substantial stream or mill pond to provide comparable sioop ul
Below the wheel would have been the tail-race to allow the flow to esEage
evidence collated by Davies-Shiel suggests that a single ‘water witbed wair

of stocks on each side of the water wheel would need the flow frafh faot

wide stream saved into a millpond with a weir’ (1992). However, millponds were
more a feature of post-medieval fulling mills, and the simpler medexahples,

as found during the present survey, were often without millp ddelstion 4

The miller could control the water flow by moving a lever toerais lower a
sluice gate or penstock fitted in the launder (Davies-Shiel 1992) fld\weof
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water and launder were constructed so as to work either with an overshot wat
wheel, needing a 10 foot fall of water, or with a breast—shot wdreelith an
undershot water wheel which relied on the kinetic energy from the flonwatdrw
(Davies-Shiel 1978, 29-32). The water-wheel was housed in a stone-livesd w
pit attached to the side of the mill building housing the fulling machines(®P)at

i e . L 7L # Ll

Plate 4: Launder and waterwheel on a small village mill aMtbheeum of Folk
Architecture and Life, Uzhhorod, Ukraine

¥ i TR —-— Facit s 5

Plate 5: Fulling Mill with busnita (whirlpool washing device) tlite ASTRA
Museum of Traditional Folk Civilization, Sibiu, Romania (©Mick Palarczyk)
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Plate 6: Diagram of a fulling mill by Juanelo Turriardd595 within the
manuscrips of the Biblioteca Nacional de Madrid (Turriano 1996)

3.2.7 Surviving pog-medieval mill buildngs post-medieval fulling mills were often
free-standing two storied structures and some were built into a bank to aliew eas
access to and from the second storey (Davies-Shiel 1978, 62). The majohiy of t
mills being investigated by the present study, however, were of mediateabnd
were much more insubstantial and may not have been within a cleefityed
superstructure at all. Such buildings were typically around 10 x Bagimg only
to house the water-wheel and its camshaft, the fulling stocks arimbxas where
the cloth was immersed in liquid or pounded according to the prdesges-

Shiel also refers to small buildings of 10 feet square, perhaps housing jysaione

of stocks on a water-wheel mounted on an exterior wall and thus needing a smaller
water supply (Davies-Shiel 1992); these may refer to aneegvkriod of mill
building. The Garston Mill, Merseyside, excavation report (Adams and Price 2007)
guotes a late nineteenth century source describing the remains afarther
(perhaps medieval) mill as being a small square structuredsuihe dam of the

watercourse, of ‘old solid stonework’, ‘banked up in a narrow rocky gothge’;
archaeological evidence seems to indicate that the oldenwvardl set into the
terrace of the valley and powered by an overshot wiied).(The archaeological
report of the early thiteenth century medieval fuling mal Barrowburn,
Northumberland, indicates that the main mill building had an upper starégtce

a terrace on the bank-side (Coquetdale Community Archaeology 2012, 19), but as
yet there is no indication as to the size of the building. This mill waked by a
breast-shot wheel, within @0.52m wide wheel pit, and it was estimated that the
wheel wasc 3.4m in diameter on the basis of curved abrasions in the masonry.
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3.2.8
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Plate 7: Plan of the fullingnill at Bad Urach by Heinrich Schickhardil, 598,
within the manuscripts of the Hauptstaatsarchiv Stuttgart

Pog-medieval fulling machine technology: within the mill building would have
been the fulling hammers or stocks activated by a cam shaft drivdre byater
wheel (Plates 6 and 7). Fulling was one of the earliest processes in theatieth t
to be mechanised because it was the simplest, needing onhartisbéait or a
wheel with tappets to lift the hammers (Pelham 1958, 4-5). Earynd
machines perhaps had cam shafts against which hammers or stEeksaised

and fell vertically, and heavily, onto the cloth (Reynolds 2002, 82-85;sP&te
10). Unfortunately, medieval fulling stocks have not survived well, although their
mechanism may be extrapolated from diagrams and descriptions of theasarly
medieval period. One such description is from Italy in the easdyenteenth
century (Zonca 1607; Plate 10); it is of a very old mill with an siver water-
wheel of just seven feet in diameter, driving a shaft with feppets to lift the
mallets. Zonca’'s diagram shows a mechanism of hammers swinging large

box, which presumably held the cloth. Later in the seventeenth century, Bockler's
schematic diagram of a fulling stock driven by a single canft stteached to
single and small undershot waterwheel demonstrates the signgdician early
machine (Plate 11; Bockler 1661; Scott 1931, 30-52). The stocks are on pivoted
horizontal arms, pushed into action by the cam-shaft, pummeling ahdrigg

the cloth into narrow folds at the far end of a wooden box. This diaghams

the whole machine as being workable by one man in a comparatively small spac
It is depicted in an outdoor setting, but this is likely to reflect an artigvice of

the period, rather than suggesting that the machines were worked in the open.
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Plate 8: Diagram of fulling machinery by Heinrich Schickhac#i600, within the
manuscripts of the Hauptstaatsarchiv Stuttgart
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Plate 9: Diagram of fulling machinery in the fulling and iplmhg mill at Berg
(Stuttgart) by Heinrich Schickhardt1615 within the manuscripts of the
Hauptstaatsarchiv Stuttgart
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Plate 10: Seventeenth century engraving of fulling mill mackifieem Novo
Teatro di Machine et Edific{iZonca 1607)
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3.2.9

f Agw Y

Plate 11: Seventeenth century engraving of fulling mill machinery Troeatrum
Machinarum NovuniBoéckler 1661)

The post-medieval fulling machine is typically described mgglzeshaft with a
number of cams pushing back and raising up pairs of heavy wooden fulling
stocks, which would then swing down, with gravity, in the arc of a pendulum
onto the cloth (Plates 11-14). A detailed description can be found iceatre
publication

‘the water-wheel used cams on its axle to convert rotary into reciprocal power: in
order to operate two large, very heavy oaken trip-hammers. As the wiada-
revolved, these cams rotated a smaller drum with wooden cam-tappets protruding
from each side; and as the wheel and its drum ascended, the cam-tappets raised
the first trip hammer, as they came into contact with similar grooved-pioject

on the hammer. When the wheel began its descent, the cams passedifpy the tr
hammer’s projections, thereby releasing the hammer to fall with meenéorce

into the fulling trough below; then the cams on the revolving drum made contact
with the cams on the second trip hammer, to repeat this process, pounding the
cloth up to forty times a minuteifunro 2002, 248).
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Plate 12: Watercolour of open air fulling stocks near Fife (SaatiBg0)

3.2.10 The curved ends of the mallets swung into large boxes containing the cloth, both
pounding it and gathering it forward so that the whole length of clathidvbe
worked. The trough was typically rounded at its end to encourage the dfale
woollens to rotate during fulling and thereby producing an even finish. The cloth
would be either broad cloth (usually 8 foot wide) or narrow cloth (usually 4.5 feet
wide) and this would be shrunk to perhaps as much as half the width and length

(Davies-Shiel 1992);

Plate 13: Model of fulling stocks (Anon nd, © Calderdale MBC)
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Plate 14: Simplified diagram of fulling mill machinery (© Isle of Wigndustrial
Archaeology Society)

3.2.11 Other fulling mills known as ‘new draperies fulling mills’ wereveloped in the
sixteenth century, when the cheaper and lighter worsted cloths doguapular.
These cloths were not fulled after being woven, thus they needed fulling &arlier
the process as spunyarn, prior to it being woven. The yarn was magite &ind
thus needed smaller water-wheels and machines within small@linlgsil and
often did not need to be sited near running water or a collecting fande$-
Shiel 1992).

3.2.12 The remains of a post-medieval mill at Buck Mill in Somerset exgavated in
2010 by Wessex Archaeology (2011). This comprised a canalised streknglea
from the water source, the mill buildings and a stone-lined angechgulvert
aligned from the mill buildings towards the tail-race. The kiray areas of the
mill building were accessed internally from the domestic roofs earlier
wooden breast-shot wheel of 2.3m width had been replaced by a later erarrow
iron ¢ 0.90m over-shot water-wheel. Both were housed in a stone-lined wheel pit,
which formed the outer water of the mill building. In the later pl{asghteenth
century), a flat area was landscaped into which was inserted a lamgesi@age
pool, and a curved buttress was erected to support a launder lea@inghe
water wheel.

3.2.13 The fulling mill complex at Llystyn Mill, Nevern, on the River Clgidlan North
Pembrokeshire, was originally a timber-framed building, of unknown date, with a
stone-lined wheel pit; a later nineteenth century fulling rbuiilding was
subsequently constructed in stone (Mytum forthcoming). The interior ravens
of interest: in the same room as the fulling stocks were thesbaf structures
used for heating, and there were chimneys built into the wallfeofriill. An
adjacent room had water piped in from the leat and the basesrdaiuses to
hold large vats for the washing and also for the dying of the clothkl &tz
illustration of a fulling mill (Plate 11) shows a small kilarfboiling water or
other liquid in the foreground (and thus must be of significance) adjaoehe
water-wheel and cam shaft. Hot water was necessary for both blegDlaivigs-

Fortheuse of the National Trustand Lake Disthetional Park Authority @A North September 2012



Windermere Reflections on History — Fulling MilSommunity Archaeology Survey Report 27

Shiel 1975) and for dyeing the cloth, processes which were sometimes undertaken
in conjunction with the fullingQection 3.2.14 hot water may potentially also
have helped in the fulling process but this is not explicit frbm documentary
sources.

3.2.14 Dyeng: the dyeing of the cloth could be undertaken at any stage of thesproce
(Walton 1991, 332), but most typically was undertaken after the fulling and either
within the same facilities as the fulling mill or was tezhias a separate process
(McCutcheon 1980, 248). Potash may have helped to fix the yellow and blue dyes
(Davies-Shiel 1975, 18) and perhaps dying was interspersed amongst the different
fulling washes. Recent work by Adam Lucas, lists fourteenth century fullitgy mi
in Wales and Shropshire that were adjacent to a dyehouse (Lucas 2006, 142)

3.3 DOCUMENTARY STUDY OF THE FIVE MILL SITES

3.3.1  Four of the potential mills sites recorded by the present survégcared in the
area of Grasmere, Loughrigg and Great Langdale (Fig 1).

3.3.2 Sourmilk Gill Mill, Easedale (NTSMR 23039, HER 35921): the thirteenth and
fourteenth century route from Langdale to Grasmere, travelled by thigsing
to have their cloth fulled, lay along Blindtarn Gill (Armitt 1908, 152) and would
have passed close to Sourmilk Gill, thus the eventual constructiorfudiing
mill at Sourmilk Gill may have been commercially viable. It hast been
possible to ascertain who owned these lands in the earlier pdrmasyer, the
lands along Sourmilk Gill, Far Easedale, Blindtarn Gill and further southray W
were held by the Benson family from the late sixteenth centandsthe early
seventeenth century (Armitt 1908, 152). Armitt mentions how the sldice a
Sourmilk was still evident when she was writing and that ‘tradigleclares to
have been used for a walk-mill’.

3.3.3 The tithe map of 1844 for Grasmere cites the names of Gewmldra@nd John
Hawkrigg. It does, though, not show a mill structure or any featurenen t
environs apart from a later sheep fold. The field system nmttta shown on
the later ordnance survey mappigg¢tion 3.3.%

Plate 15: First Edition OS map (1861) showing Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

Fortheuse of the National Trustand Lake Disthetional Park Authority @A North September 2012



Windermere Reflections on History — Fulling MilSommunity Archaeology Survey Report 28

3.34

3.3.5

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

Both the Ordnance Survey First and Second Edition 25 inch mapping of 1861 and
1898 (Plate 15) show a sheep fold located on the south side of Sourmilk Gill, the
surveyed mill is located on the opposite side of the river to this structure. The mil
is located on common or wasteland outside the western edge of anairrand
probably early field system centred on Brimmerhead Farm. Thkaple ring

garth was bounded to the south by Easedale Beck and to the north ok a tra
extending through High Easedale Farm and Kelleray and thus to Briiead.

A small coppiced intake on the south side of Sourmilk Gill may Isaysplied

wood and bracken for potash, and to the north of this was a narrow outgang
bounded by enclosed land that leads to a probable ford crossing the beck, which
possibly acted as a funnel leading sheep to the crossing.

Davies-Shiel's annotated maps of 1990 have marked the location of this surveyed
mill with ‘1593 1675 site of a cloth mill. He also identified to tkast, at
Brimmer Head (NY 3242 0857), the remains of a potash kiln and, at ggncri
(NY 3287 0845), ‘a 10 foot deep pond’ which may be the remains of a potash
kiln (Davies-Shiel 1990), although the locations of these featureshmalgss

than precise making them difficult to verify. Further downstreamEasedale

Beck he marks the map again with ‘John Benson Fuller 1574’.

Loughrigg Terrace Mill, Grasmere (NTSMR 181816, HER 3079): Armitt refers

to a fulling mill at the foot of Loughrigg cited in a rental of 1483a Bainrigg

mill (Armitt 1916, 206). This part of the Bainrigg estate (then owne@ Byphn
Hunter), had been sold on to a new owner, John Benson in 1480 (Armitt 1908,
142), although it is recorded that John Benson later sold on part cftdte m
1487, and perhaps kept back the fulling mill(s) as one of their own businesses.

Armitt locates the Bainrigg fulling mill as being on the shoof the Rothay
between Grasmere and Rydal on the Bainrigg estate. The Baistigp evas
traditionally located on the north side of the River Rothay. Howevermithe
cited by Armitt, now recorded as the Bainrigg fulling mill at 1I8¥6 061 is on

the south shore of the River Rothay. Armitt goes on to say that the Baintigg mi
was ‘the only one onthe left bank of the Rothay, though there were two then, or a
little later, on the right bank’. If the left bank is the north saflehe river, then
there may be the remains of this one mill on the north side of the Roteay .
There are certainly two mills on the south side of the rieeonded by Mike
Davies-Shiel known as HER 30709. The mill lying to the west, closthéo
existing weir as it leaves Grasmere (HER 30709), is the sutveyle These
fulling mills were both on unenclosed land, and were perhaps built diming
period of expansion of the fulling mill industries late in the fifteenth century

Armitt (1912, 30) adds more information. ‘In former times a fulling mill stood on
the left bank of the Rothay near to the ford and within the freehold pyopfe
Bainrigg. The mill was owned in the fifteenth century by the Benaomly.....

The woodman recently found a track leading from the site of theardllrocky
height, which emerged on the present Wishing Gate Road’. The WiGatsy
Road, was engineered as a turnpike road only in about 1770-1780, and follows
the line of the present A591 past Grasmere lake, before headlitogtbie right

onto the low fellside towards Town End, past How Top and over Whiss
Common before descending back into Grasmere via Dove Cottage (Jarhes Arc
pers comm).
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3.3.9

3.3.10

3.3.11

The survey area is depicted as blank open moorland on the OBditist 25

inch mapping of 1861 (Plate 16). The survey area is bounded to the south by an
old track known as Loughrigg Terrace with no other buildings or structura
features detailed adjacent to the shore and neither is the seitiotal tine east
marked. The surveyed fulling mill is on unenclosed land with woodlandy easi
accessible, as were the other fuling mills to the south ofRbihay. Above

Loughrigg Terrace (to the south of the surveyed mill) are the remains oashpot
kiln at NY 3407 0560 (Davies-Shiel 1990), and again its location may be less

m e, i
L opmE it

Plate 16: First Edition OS map (1861) showing Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

Low Wood Mill, Eltewater (NTSMR 181817, no HER number): a rental
document of the late fourteenth century refers to a fulling wilich Armitt
argues is likely to be the one to the east of Loughrigg Fell at Miller Bridgjker M
Bridge was one of the Benson family holdings eventually purchased in 1575 by
three Bensons, Michael, Bernard and Edward, in a major transactibn wi
William Fleming of Coniston and Rydal; Miller Bridge may habeen a
‘customary holding’, perhaps for several generations (Armitt 1908, 145-7). It may
be that in the same transaction Edward Benson, also a clothier, becameobwne
High Close and subsequent bonds of the early to late seventeenth century confirm
the Benson ownership of High Close (Kendal 1605, WDAG/Box 59/3). This
property is adjacent to the location of the third fulling nsilirveyed at Low
Wood. Armitt mentions that there is no documentary evidence for aherif
although: ‘Possibly one may have stood on the Mere Syke, near its ;sfource
from a field there called Long Brow, a building is known to havepjeared’,
(Armitt 1916, 206). The Bensons also held properties at the Fould tose
Loughrigg Tarn.

During the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries many Benson farmmdlds a
(probably) mills were known at the southern part of Loughrigg. Tiserauch
place-name evidence for mills (Mill Brow), stocks (Stock Field) and terfields
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3.3.12

(by Mill Brow) and Tenters Pool (by Little Loughrigg) (Armitt 1916, 20Ghe
OS First Edition 25 inch mapping of 1861 (Plate 17) shows irreguidr a
seemingly unorganised woodland intakes with some access trackvnay area
probably associated with the establishment of pleasure groundsatesotith
High Close. This later landscaping may potentially have impamtethe former
fulling mill and resulted in the changing of the water systenadcommodate
recreational rather than functional needs.

Hammdr

Sear |

|- i £~

Plate 17: First Edition OS map (1860) showing Low Wood and High Close

The Second Edition 25 inch mapping of 1890 (Plate 18) depicted a formal
carriage drive heading down through Low Wood from the landscaped gardens
surrounding High Close. It also shows the stream running diagonally downslop
through the centre of the wood, the site of the pond and, below it, théveutat
linear tail race as the eastern boundary of a small plantatiomrchard
compartment. The differences between the two editions of OS mapmEng
suggest that the archaeological features in the survey areé Ete-nineteenth
century date. Alternatively and more probably, as is often the case alegiliee
Second Edition mapping may have recorded more detail of existatgrés
within the woodland the extents of which were only cursorily inspledteing

the survey for the earlier edition of mapping. A reservoir d@gicted to the
north of site within woodland at Hammer Scar from this mapping afsyadtr is
possible that this feature is associated with water management for theahduse
probable culverted stream running into Low Wood. It is a moot point whether the
stream running through Low Wood is very late in date, and consequently not
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associated with a fulling mill or whether the reservoir igtar addition to an

already channelled watercourse running down past the house that had bee
remodelled.
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3.3.13 Stickle Ghyll Mill, Great Langdale (NTSMR 181818, HER 30571): the
existence of a route from Langdale to Grasmere via Pye HowB&ad Rigg
implies that cloth was being woven in Langdale. While this route was being used,
the construction of the fulling mill at Stickle Ghyll in Greaangdale (Armitt
1908, 152) would have been very advantageous. There were two fulling mills in
Langdale in 1454 (online Records relating to the Barony of Kendalegdale
and Baisbrowne), a third one had been built by 1493 (Armitt 1908, 141) and a
fourth fulling mill had been constructed by the 1576p €it 148). During the
sixteenth century, the Benson family acquired many holdings in Lbxgta
1506-7 the Benson family rented land from a Thomas Grygge in the Langda
township (Armitt 1908, 143). By 1562, John Benson of Langdale or Mickle
Langdale held a freehold property there and resided there (Ar86&, 161). A
William Benson, Michael Benson and Robert Benson ‘of Langden’ stredliin
parish registers of 1570s and 1580s and Armitt suggests that ‘oreerof t
possibly had the mill on the stream that flows from Stickle Tarn, which gained for
it and the adjacent home-stead the name of Millbeck’, (Armitt 1908, 148).
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3.3.14

3.3.15

3.3.16

1658, Edward Benson of High Close bought property at Millbeck. Acapnsiti
continued and by the beginning of the eighteenth century there may have been as
many as three Benson holdings at Millbeck, including that of Low Millbeck Farm
(National Trust files).
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Plate 19: First Edition OS map (1861) showing Millbeck, Great Langdale

The tithe map of Langale, dated 1844, shows that an Edward Benson was still the
holder of property to the east of Dungeon Ghyll Beck, adjacent to, kut no
depicting the surveyed mill. The surveyed fulling mill was located ondhe ef

a complex of farm buildings on a farmstead within an enclosét! died not on
outlying unenclosed land. The OS First Edition 25 inch map of 1861 (Plate 19)
depicted five buildings at Millbeck. The present day SticklenBlamilding is
shown as the southernmost building of the complex. The surveyed rtfikis
most north-westerly of these buildings and it was still roofethat date. The
arrangement of buildings may be continuous from the described plarsate
document of 1653 which described ‘all and singular .... five buildings, orchards,
gardins, arable land, meadows of grounds, grazings, floodings, woods and
underwoods ... turbario’ (WDRY/1/3/13/9). There was no further mention of a
mill here, and probably had an alternative function as one of the five buildings.

By 1890, the OS Second Edition 25 inch map (Plate 20) showed that the New
Dungeon Ghyll hotel had been constructed, and Stickle Cottage had been
expanded with the addition of a building immediately to the wext, aalong
north/south orientated building, probably an out-building, was also constructed
forming a semi-courtyard complex. To the south of this complexbtiiding

now known as Stickle Barn, was largely unchanged from the OSdilision

map. By this date the name of the complex was no longer Millbduchwwas
instead reserved for the farm buildings to the north, and the only name applied to
the complex of buildings was Dungeon Ghyll New Hotel.

The putative mill building in the north-west part of the complex (andtadwe
immediate west of the north/south outbuilding) was by this date weutpof
partially demolished, with the south-east wall elevation not shove. pfresent
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day outgang track that passes the mill is presently enclogéd ifocation, but
was probably unenclosed in the medieval period.

Dungeon Ghyll
New Hotel
9l

-! | 4-40(

= e | ‘ ..‘...l \
Plate 20: Second Edition OS map (1890) showing Dungeon Ghyll New Hotel,
Great Langdale

3.3.17 Little Ore Gate Mill, Graythwaite (no HER number): the fifth possible fulling
mill site lies within the Furness Fells and is located atjuhetion of Little Ore
Gate and Great Ore Gate in woodlands in the Graythwaite Estate, in thegbarish
Hawkshead.

3.3.18 In the early medieval period, these fells were held by the nainksirness
Abbey, and there was possibly a chapel at Graythwaite, although it isferoéde
to at the time of the Dissolution. It was certainly in exiseéemchilst the
Rawlinsons lived there, but was in disuse by 1722 (Farrer and Brownbill 1914;
online entry for Satterthwaite).

3.3.19 The Furness Fells were primarily utilised in the medievaiog for their
woodland and iron ore. Substantial areas were cleared of trees to maakeat;
and associated with the woodlands were charcoal burning pits anorpitias
well as bloomeries for smelting the iron. These cleared d@eesme known as
Parks: for instance Waterside Park, Lawson Park, Parkamoor (Brydson 1908, 51-
9) also Brotherylketh, Abbott Park and Oxen Park (Farrer and Bowifiil,
online entry for Colton). These Parks were then used for the grazing of azaltle
sheep whilst the wood was re-growing. Brydson quotes Collingwood, who in his
Book of Conistof 1906 says, ‘On the east side of the lake [Coniston] there is a
remarkable coincidence between the sites of the Furness Atdskg, or early
clearings for sheep farms, and the bloomeries there. After gsoliion of the
monastic estates, the King's Commisioners’ assessmentd bstd Parks and
Granges, fisheries and ‘herdwicks and shepecoats’ (Cowper 1899, 94). It did not,
however, list the known corn-mills (of which there were four), snstraed
woodland industries, most notably wood turning, coopering and charcoalers
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3.3.20

3.3.21

3.3.22

(Brydson 1908-9, 59-67), although perhaps these were not on offer to the Crown.
Brydson also relates that the Parks that had bloomeries werby lethe
Commissioners in 1537 to William Sandes and John Sawrey, who ‘continued the
iron business formerly carried on by monks’, (1908-9, 61). After the Dissolution,
during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, parts of the Gragtlestate
were held by the Sandys family and then the Rawlinson family, whaalsad

held parts of Grizedale.

It is interesting to note that neither the accessed secondapcomentary
sources report on cloth production, weaving or fulling in these ,asddmugh

these were significant industries during the seventeenth andesitinteenturies

when Hawkshead was a renowned market centre for weaving (Baines 1824, 652).
One document in Satterthwaite Church of 1668 relates that ‘the inhabitants of the
district’ kept a number of sheep on the common land, combing and spinning the
wool in their own homes and then taking it, as spun wool, to the market at
Hawkshead (Tweddell 1870, 108). There is only one mention of a fulling mill in
the sixteenth century, that of Sawrey Extra in 1537 in Cowper (1899, 269), where

there is mention of a later fulling mill at Hawkshead whicls veperated until
1737.

The surveyed site at Little Ore Gate is less than a kilometre from Quiib et
Cunsey Mill there was originally an early seventeenth century Iwgenand
later there seems to have been a corn mill, as may be evident fronr stletitey
the intention of converting the corn mill (belonging with closeethbeed) into
iron works and a mill forge (Z/24/1).

Plate 21: First Edition OS map (1851) showing Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

Away from Cunsey Mill there seems to be little documentary ewdenanills,
except for a reference, in 1643, for permission from Wiliam Resseh for a
fulling mill and bloomsmithy to be erected by a Wiliam Tomlinson of Glate.
There is no detall as to its location, and it was likely to hawn m either
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3.3.23

Grizedale Tarn or Beck (BDHJ/90/12/4). There is a further reference in 1736 to a
fulling mill and lands at Force Forge (south of Satterthwait@yvipusly owned

by Wiliam Rawlinson (BDHJ/89/1/7). Earlier fulling mills may haggsted but

were perhaps, as they were originally on monastic lands, not recordecdrina

a different way to those, for instance, in the Kendal Barony. Alfredré&felired

to two fulling mills or walk mills which were given permissioor fconversion

into a forgec 1624 by William Wright, an ironmaster of Easthead, late of Cunsey.
These mills may have been on the site of the Cunsey Mill confpkik 1968,
196-7) or may have been elswehere, but they do at least demonstrate the presence
of fulling mills in this particular area and may be an indaratthat there were
others.

The surveyed putative fulling mill was located to the west of Cundeyithin
woodland adjacent to a large sub-square field intake. The OS First Edition 6 inc
map of 1851 (Plate 21) depicted the survey area as being a rorapta of
woodland on the edge of both Low Ore Gate and Back Hawthorn Riggs, defined
to the west, south and east by a sinuous but broadly curvilineamstito
features asociated with the mill and its water managemerd¢ dagicted. The
Ordnance Survey First Edition 25 inch mapping of 1890 is identicat diwan

the addition of a pair of woodland access trackways located both south and west
of the survey area. Within the wider region the woodlands contain laregu
enclosures consistent with coppicing (OA North forthcoming) and theep
names in this area are related to woodland and associated ind(mtrieseel
catching along Cunsey Beck), and a chopwood kiln, 13 feet x 8 feeteinhsig

been identified at Great Ore Gate at SD 3727 9365 by Davies-Shiel (1990).
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4. SURVEY RESULTS

4.1
41.1

4.2
42.1

4.2.2

4.2.3

INTRODUCTION

The recent Level 3 archaeological survey has identified and recordeddd &8al
built components or other archaeological features associated tivthfive
potential fulling mill sites (Fig 1). There are sixteeratiures at Sourmilk Gill
(Section 4.2 Figs 2-7); twelve at Loughrigg Terrac8ection 4.3 Figs 8-12);
sixteen at Low WoodSection 4.4Figs 13-16); six at Stickle Ghyl5gction 4.5
Figs 17-28); and nine at Little Ore Gatgettion 4.6Figs 29-34). The identified
features within each individual fulling mill survey area are dieedrby location,
the evidence for the mill structure, the water-management syameimother
ancillary features. This description is followed by a discussiosuofiving mill
evidence, the potential reconstruction of the layout and operation of each mill.

SOURMLK GILL MILL , EASEDALE (FIGS 2-7)

Location and Topography: the fulling mill is located adjacent, and to the north,
of the fast flowing Sourmilk Gill, which feeds into Easedale Bdtle site is
within the Easedale valley to the west of Grasmere (NY 3193 0868). The mill site
is just below a waterfall on an area of gentle sloping land just beyondesenpr
day enclosed lands; there is no evidence that the land was even whe
enclosed intake and may have been deliberately sited on common landlIThe gi
extends out from Easedale Tarn, which lies in a high altitude fovmed by
glacial action and, as such, the tarn ensures a constant and gdaraatee
supply for the fulling mill. Around the mill are areas of gentte moderate
sloping land that face south-east and could have served as tentemaldmulsgh
none were positively identified during the recent survey. The sgealic 120m
(a0OD), below the steep craggy hills of Grasmere Common.

I ntroduction: the Sourmilk Gill fulling mill is the best preserved of the five mills
examined, and it has revealed the remains of the mill structure, the vithaetp
a complex water-supply system. The fulling mill sits withirwider context of
ancillary agricultural features that are seemingly ofaathirdate range, some of
which are just outside the study area to the east, and it isbfgotisat the mill
was operated alongside wider agricultural activities. The txnpf remains is
described below in terms of the evidence and character of thetrattwe, the
form and operation of the water feed and run-off system, and thdasncil
agricultural features that are spatially associated with it.

Mill Structure (Fig 4). the mill comprises a single-celled sub-rectangular
structure which is on an area of level ground immediately audjamea rocky
outcrop that supported a launder. The mill structure comprisegea ravetted
stone-constructed platfori8 MG11.1) upon which there are the stone dwarf wall
remains $MG11.2 of a rectangular structure (Plate 22). The platform has a
series of large kerb stones at the edge to retain the piatparticularly at the
northern corners, but little other stone structure. There is a Bighiwo steps

built into the southern end of the eastern wall elevation providing an indication of
the point of access for the platform. The southern wall of the piatfoincides
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with the southern wall of the overlying stone structure and alsosfdime
northern side-wall of the wheel pit. It is an extremely thick wall snckelatively
well built, reflecting the support it would have provided for the water-wheel axle

o

SMG13)

4.2.4 The lower platformSMG11.1) measured approximately 7m square and the
surviving foundations of the overlying structu@MG11.2 measured 6.2m by
5.5m. The internal space, that accommodated the stocks and drive shaft, was only
4.3m by 4.9m in size, and the long axis of the building was parallel to the line of
the drive shaft extending from the whe€he upper walled structur& 1G11.2
is partially collapsed but the fabric was observed in the northelealation and
from examination of aerial photography was seemingly of drystonstiuction
up to 0.9m wide, with large facing stones on either side.

4.25 It is evident that the platfor®{1G11.1) and the stone structur&NIG11.2
were two very distinct elements, particularly as the platform is ignily larger
than the stone dwarf-walled structure; it would appear to refleotphases of
construction with the platform being the mill or an earlier phasmidf In the
earliest phase, the mill was evidently a timber-framed strectet on top of the
platform, as there is little evidence of stone material beydred revetment
kerbing. While there is the possibility that the second phase stusuresents
dwarf walls for a later phase of mill, there is perhaps a more likenatiee that
it reflects a later re-use of the platform. It is intéresto note that the large
launder platform $ection 4.2.11 has sustained substantial collapse on its
northern side, and it is evident that there should be considerable edllaps
material at the base of the crag. There is no evidence ofméterial. The
assumption must be that the material has been reused in another structure; there i
similar field stone in both the Phase 2 structure and also th& Bi&03 stock
enclosure. If the former, this would imply that the Phase 2 stoneste post-
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4.2.6

4.2.7

4.2.8

dated the disuse of the fulling mill; it might, for example, h&een a stock
shelter wall or bield that reused stone from the platform, but there is nm@wide
for this.

Whed Pit (SMG12; Fig 4 and Plate 23): at the south side of the mill structure is a
sub-rectangular, stone-constructed wheel pit, which shares its nositierwall

with the south wall of the mill building. Internally, the wheel pneasures
approximately 4m x 0.75m and is 1.2m deep; however, the depth does not
provide an indicator of wheel size, as its not known at what heigraxteavas
mounted or to what extent the wheel pit has been infilled. The laigtie pit
provides some indication as to the size of the wheel and, assuming the line of the
axle/drive shaft was down the centre of the mill building, there would Ihege
sufficient space within the wheel pit to provide for a wheel ofta@2m radius

(4m diameter).

Plate 23: The wheel pit with the launder platform upstream behirf8ites
SMG12 andS MG8)

The wheel pit is aligned with a launder base to the westgBiG08) and the
outflow from the wheel pit was into a tail race to the eagt (SMG13). The
wheel pit is of double-thickness drystone construction and externalludiimg

an additional shallow foundation course on the south of the pit, had an overall
measurement of 6.5m x 3.2m. The southern wall of the wheel pit was iday w
(up to 2m thick), sufficient to support the wheel axle.

Water Supply - Overview: the fulling mill was located so as to draw a water
supply from a very fast flowing stream which has the potetuifliood (Fig 2).
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4.2.9

4.2.10

The biggest issue on the site may have been coping with, and preventing damage
to the fulling mill in times of flood, rather than a shortage ofenaf here is a

head race that extends from a side stream of the main flowhwhiould have
afforded a steady, but reduced flow of water down the head race. However, in the
upland areas of the Lake District the flow through primary stsezan build up

very quickly in times of heavy rain and become a major torrent, amd the

need to allow for this increased flow. The head race diverts inée tthrannels,
seemingly controlled by a sluice, and comprises the launder andditec
channels. The two divert channels may have been intended to cope with high
flows in the supply stream. A wooden launder would have extended over a dry
stone platform to provide a raised drop for an over-shot wheel.

The tail race from the wheel pit merged with the southernt dihannel; this
extended into Sourmilk Gill. The northern divert channel extended around the
mill building and fed into three putative wash pools, before drainirtg
Sourmilk Gill.

SE

Plate 24: View downstream along the head race SSW&06)

Head racgSitesSMGO06, 10 and 14Figs 3 and 4): the head race extends away
from a heavily degraded stone structure (StdG10), formed of large stones
(1.37m wide) that edges Sourmilk Gill and shows up clearly on aerial
photographs. The structure is very evident on the southern side of theabea
where it is only 2.3m long, but is hardly evident on the northern side. @Gs/en
location at the intake point from Sourmilk Gill it is possible temtatively
conjecture that this formed the southern side of a possible sluice orcaptare
point off the gill, and could also have served to restrict flow into the laeadin
times of flood. The head race extends south-east from this struahares
approximately 21m x 0.8m wide and 0.3m deep (Plate 24). The headStee (
SMGO06) is orientated roughly north-west/south-east and has been cut into a
natural platform$MG14) that fringes the north bank of Sourmilk Gill. The head
race would have contained large flows of water during timesooftiflhowever,
towards the eastern end of the head race, the northern side of tled matwnd
flattened out. At the eastern end it is aligned with a stone-fouradiedi ér base
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4.2.12

(Site SMG08.1) and excess water was controlled by a pair of divert channels
(SitesSMGO07 andSMGQ9) that skirt either side of the launder and the mill. The
two divert channels, and the low stone platform (SiMG08.2) for the launder
base, split away from each other at the same point, which gomds with a
square plan section in the present channel, and was putativetcaien for a
sluice, which must have existed at this point. The sluice is likely to Ieeme of
wood construction, and may not have left much in the way of physical remains.

Launder(SitesSMGO08.1andS MG 08.2 Fig 4): the launder would have been of
timber construction and would have been set on top of the dry stone launder
support (SiteSMGO08.1; Plate 25) which is orientated roughly west-north-
west/east-south-east towards the wheel pit (SKG12). The structure is a
roughly horizontal, sub-rectangular drystone platform running over an ofrea
natural outcrop that is constructed of surface-gathered stonesurimgas
approximately 12m x 2.2m wide and 2.8m high. The launder platform extends up
to the eastern edge of the rocky outcrop, and is at this point only 5.7m away from
the western edge of the wheel pit, a sufficiently small degafor a wooden
launder to jump the gap, albeit supported by wooden posts. Much ofotte st
from the northern side of the launder was missing and there were no
accumulations of stone at the base of the crag, as would be exkpkdhe
structure had partially collapsed. It appears that this stone wawead from the
structure for reuse and it is possible that a large accumulation ddrsgtones at

the western side of the mill platform (SBMG11.2 might have originated from

the launder base. Alternatively, it could have been incorporated ltdSite
SMGO03 stock enclosure.

Plate 25: South wall elevation of the eastern end of the extant tapfaiform
(SiteSMGO08.)

Divert Channels(Figs 4 and 5) a curvilinear divert channel (Sit8 MGO7)
extends to the south of the launder passing down the face of thendrabem
around the southern side of the wheel pit before merging with thadai (Site
SMG13). For the most part, the channel does not appear to be deliberately cut
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into the rock where it extends over the crag, but has been cut into a channel at the
base of the crag and at its eastern end; where it merges with the tailsage ibi
1m wide and 0.4m deep.

4.2.13 A sinuous divert channel extends around the north side of the mill for
approximately 77m (Sit& MG09), and again, where it extends over the crag, it
has not been deliberately cut, and instead follows a natural coumgtthithe
rocky outcrops. The channel carried water around the north side of lthenchi
flowed into a series of potential washing ponds (SiMG04), before outflowing
into Sourmilk Gill downstream of the mill. On levelled ground the divert channel
has been cut into the ground surface and was up to 0.6m wide by 0.3m deep.

4.2.14 Tall Race:the tail race (Sit& MG13; Figs 4 and 5) took the combined flow from
the southern divert channel and the wheel pit, and appears as a amglihig
running roughly north-west/south-east from the wheel pit SN&12). It is a
well-defined slope-cut channel with some large stone mateawmafysing from
the northern bank (western end) though this was not necessarilyusttudthe
tail race measures approximately 36m x 2.5m and is up to 1.5m deep in filaces
outflows into the north side of Sourmilk Gill further downstream.

4.2.15 Washing pondsthe northern divert channel extends into a series of three small
pools /ponds that were each approximately 2m square$te04; Fig 5), the
southernmost of which is roughly stone lined on two sides (Plate 26). The wat
flow between the separate ponds would have had a cascading arrange meat, with

channel extending from the southernmost pond into Sourmilk Gill. These we

almost certainly washing ponds for cloth taken through the fulling process.

Plate 26: A series of interconnected washing pits (Sitks04)
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4.2.16 Agricultural Features within the vicinity of the fulling mill are a number of

4.2.17

4.2.18

agricultural features that potentially reflect farmingi\aky over a broad period
of time. These include a rectangular enclosure (SKMGO03; Fig 6), which is
13m x 13m in extent (Plate 28) and a small domestic gabled het S$IG02,
Fig 3) 3.5m x 4.2m and located on a narrow terrace just above SouBitilk
(Plate 27). The rectangular enclosure has extremely degradmeel Isanks, and
utilises a large boulder at its north-eastern corner; it is 438m in size. It is
likely to be of considerable antiquity, and is potentially of comparablecatfee
fulling mill. While there have been discussions as to the possibilityitthelated
to the fulling mill, perhaps serving as a storage area fomiligit is relatively
large and there is little evidence of comparable largecikires associated with
other medieval fulling mills. Typically such structures areeripteted as stock
pounds, but their dates are very uncertain.

The hut is likely to have functioned as either a small peat htgcale’ or,

potentially, a shepherd’s hut, and could be of considerable antiqujtyglge by

its level of decay. On the opposite side of the gill is a two-cetiecksenclosure

(Site SMG15; Fig 3) that is in good condition and is believed to have been

repaired by the National Trust within the past 30 years. It has an enfeantg

straight into the Sourmilk Gill which would indicate that it had a functetiner

primary or secondary, as a sheep wash. At the lower end of Souitjlust

before it enters the enclosed lands, there is a shallow flaefloeection which

could have served as a ford or bridging point. An outgang between two blocks of

enclosed land, intended as a drove route, converges on this point reinforcing

suggestions of a crossing point.
: —

i R o N o ' e

Plate 27: The possible peat hut or shepherds hutyBitg02)

Immediately to the east of the study area, in the enclosed bataisging to
Brimmerhead Farm, is an area of broad thickness consumption nallsaaks,
which would have been produced by stone brought up by the plough, indicating
historic land improvement for either grazing of small scaldtivation. The
alignments of the consumption walls are at odds with the presgntfield
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4.2.18

4.2.19

4.2.20

boundaries and the implication is that these reflect the survivafieiiasy stem
that pre-dates the present enclosure.

p D e TR W ety :
Plate 28: The rectangular stock enclosure (SN&503)

Discusson: the fulling mill at Sourmilk Gill was very carefully loed to take
advantage of a fast flowing stream that provided an abundant wagiely s
situated at the interface between the enclosed lands and the stggyp spur of
Ecton Crag. The mill, and its associated water-supply systemaisemarkably

good condition, and was evidently well built. The small, and essentialyc,
form of the fulling mill, along with the use of field clearanstone in the

construction of the launder support and mill building foundations, would suggest
that it was more likely to be of medieval than post-medieva.datl of the
ancillary elements associated with a fulling mill are ewid including putative
washing ponds, and a nearby potash kiln located in a pasture fidie tworth-
west of Brimmer Head Farn$éction 3.3.p

Surrounding the mill are a number of agricultural structureshwgiovide an
indication that both arable and pastoral activities were pegctis the environs.

The consumption banks are typical features of medieval cultivation, and the stock
enclosure (Sit&& MG03), which is a dry-stone structure in an advanced stage of
decay, is likely to be of considerable antiquity and potentiallidienal in date.

The implication is that the fuling mill, and at least sometlod agricultural
features, were broadly contemporary. These monuments seem i thfe
deliberate placement of mills, folds and other communal structures owned by the
Lord of the Manor, grouped around the outgang leading onto the common land,
and reflects the manorial privilege to erect buildings on such liandsas that
were convenient for access for their tenants.

If it can be concluded that these varied monuments were broadly goragm

then this would accord with the documentary evidence that fulling was a seasonal
activity, being undertaken after the sheep were shorn and the wool was processed.
As such the process would allow for it to have been undertaken alongside
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conventional farming activities, particularly those that generated indble first
place.

4.3 LOUGHRIGG TERRACE MILL , GRASMERE (FIGS 8-12)

4.3.1 Location and Topography: the surveyed fulling mill at Loughrigg Terrace is
close to the shore of Grasmere Lake at its outfall whereetisf into the River
Rothay (NY 3431 0589; Plate 29). The mill is adjacent to the presgntveia
which maintains higher water levels in the lake than there wowld baen the
past, and certainly during the anticipated period of usage of theTmdl mill is
located on the lower southern slopes of Ewe Crag and is assowiibedn
artificial platform set up above the shore of the lake (Plate 29)milhwvas fed
by a leat/channel diverted off an adjacent, small and unnamed Dleisksmall
beck was itself fed from a very small tarn above Ewe Craggshwmwvould have
provided some degree of continuous water supply for the mill; howevemat is
as reliable and strong a supply as that feeding the Sourmilk Gill Thid mill is
now, and would always have been, within unenclosed lands which form part of
Loughrigg Common.

4.3.2 Introduction: the Loughrigg Terrace fulling mill corresponds with the

approximate location of documented mills in this aBction 3.3.% and there is

a fairly definite head race and water supply which, in itself, stronglgestsg the
existence of a mill. There is, however, less certainty about gusprform and
location of the mill itself based on the physical evidence beddheaite has
suffered erosion and there has been considerable landscaping around the shore of
the lake which has clearly impacted on the mill site, removisgaficant part

of the large platform. The complex of remains is described below in e
evidence for the mill structure and the form and operation of therviegd
system.

O S i) et s L

Plate 29: The potential location of the Loughrigg Terrace fulling adijacent to
a large platform on the shore of Grasmere lake
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4.3.3

4.3.4

Mill EMdence set within a bend in a stream/leat gully is a small sub-rectangul
grass-covered platform (SiteT01; Fig 9) set on the east side of the water
channel just above the south shore of Grasmere Lake (Plate 30;.Fide3)
platform is potentially the location of a fulling mill, althdudgs size ¢ 4.5m x

2.6m and 0.4m high) would preclude a substantial built structure surrounding the
fulling frame and stocks. The adjacent stream/water channetsligeound the
western side of the platform and, on the opposite (eastern) saleeangular
depressiond2.5m x 0.6m and up to 0.15m deep) between the base of the gully
bank and the platform which could represent the position of a watet-(@itee
LTO04.1). If this was the water-wheel then there is a maximum width of only 1.8m
between the edge of the putative wheel pit and western edge pfatifierm to
accommodate the axle and cams for the mill. In this configuratien stocks
would have been located to the south of the drive shaft extending into an area that
is now obscured by subsequent collapse. While this would seem to be an
extremely small space to accommodate a mill structure, it should be bmndn

that the divert channel to the west has probably cut back the westerof édge
platform which would originally have been wider.

Another potential location for the water-wheel would be on the nodlofethe
platform where the stream kinks around it (3if®4.2), and here the platform

has a well-defined straight cut edge. In this configuration, thevesidd have

been orientated north/south and the stocks would have been orientated east/west,
leaving relatively little space to accommodate the stocks and fullingttrou

Plate 30: Putative mill platform, facing east (Sifie01)
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4.3.5

4.3.6

4.3.7

4.3.8

£ L A Tl

Plate 31: downslope side end of the mill platform at the pospibéition of a
water wheel (Site.T01)

Other potential mill evidence consists of a series oftdfgied stones (Site
LTO3; Fig 9) at the confluence of the head race (Blt€6) (Section 4.3.Band

the north/south channel (Sitd05) which could have served as a foundation
from which to launch a wooden launder taking water to an overshot water-wheel.
There is a substantial fall between the channel at this point and the putatele whe
pit, which would have been sufficient to drive a water-wheel. A launder
launching from this position would favour a wheel in the Bit64.1 position, as

the wheel would have been in line with the launder, a necessary requireme
driving the wheel. With the present lines of drainage this wouwdkwvith a
supply from the channel SiteT05, rather than the head race (Si&06);
however it is possible that in the past the head-race mergadcthannel Site
LTO5 at a higher point, in which case this putative launch pointherlaunder
could also have been supplied by the head race.

To the east of the putative mill, and set above the gully, ligse aof stones
extending for up to 3.5m. It is very tentatively suggested that these loeighart
of the weighted edge of a perishable roof projecting over thiedulrame and
stocks.

The other possibility is that the mill is not in this location lataat was instead

on the shore of the lake, in which case it would have been landscaped and
removed by the construction of the modern path there. This seemikédgs
because, even if a mill in this position had now gone, there should be som
indications of the launder launching point at an adequate height aboskaree

to drive an overshot wheel. With the present arrangement of the oratenel

there are no indications of a launder launching point, nor would there bénenoug
of a fall in the channel to provide a sufficient head of water for a wheel.

Water Supply: the head race (SileT06; Figs 9-11) for the mill extends out from
an existing and relatively fast-flowing stream gully at a pdiat is 116m away
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4.3.9

from the fulling mill. There is presently no join with the header as water
erosion in the stream gully has cut the stream channel down ble®vevel of

head race, and because a dam (Bie09; Fig 11) has been constructed that
presently blocks the start of the head race from the feedemstreannel (Plate

32). The dam is a small, slightly curvilinear section of drystoraling
measuring 3.8m x 1m wide and is up to 0.6m high; subsequent erosion in the
stream gully has cut the stream channel down considerably ang ategtially

have removed a northerly extension of the putative dam structureevidigw
given the uncertainty as to its original form and the evident erosion istiem

gully there is some uncertainty as to how the structure faeditttie capture of
water from the stream. One possibility is that the water alentvia a wooden
launder that extended over the dam and deposited the water intaptioé the

head race, which meant that it was possible to control the amouwetef
entering the head race. The flow of water into the head race was p oteinbialy

a short launder set on a notched stone that survives in the side of the stream gully
(SiteLT10; Fig 11). The dam would have raised and reinforced the natural side
of the stream bank and would have prevented excessive water flow into the hea
race during times of flood, which could have damaged the water wheel.

X

ke b o X ol

Plate 32: Linear blocking dam wall located at the take-off poithebeginning
of the head race (Siler09)

Head Racethe head race (Sitel06; Figs 9-11) consists of a long sinuous gully
running roughly south-east/north-west downslope towards Grasmere [fa
measures approximately 110m x 6m and is up to 2m deep in pldeesiorth-
western end is denuded and there is a slight gap in a boggy #&vea the
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4.3.10

4.3.11

putative launder step (Siter03), which coincides with the confluence of the
head race with another channel/leat (8T65). This small channel is orientated
roughly north/south and is at least 10m long and 2m wide. While the channel may
have in the past taken water off a stream gully running downsloreetsouth-

west of the mill site there is no extant evidence of a link hig stream.
Alternatively the channel may have captured the water from tasbyneoggy
ground to the south of the mill site and would have provided additional water for
the launder but would have also kept the ground above the mill site dry. There is
an area of blocking near the start of the head race ($i&#; Fig 11) which
probably reflects a deposit of more recent material rattem an aspect of the
water management for the mill.

Tail Race and Divert Channdbelow the launch point for the launder, the divert
channel that collects water from both headrace (ISit@6; Fig 9) and channel
(Site LTO5; Fig 9) extends around to the west of the putative mill platfoite (S
LTO3; Fig 9) before merging with the putative tail race below the whied|Site
LT4.1; Fig9) and continuing as a short sinuous section of tailrace, flowing north
towards Grasmere Tarn (Sitd07). The divert channel appears as a partially
modified section of a natural stream gully approximately 26m long, 3m avide

up to 2m deep. At the northern end, it disappears into a culvert runmegthe

the modern footpath along the shore.

Ancillary Features one of the most noticeable non-natural features in the
environs of the fulling mill is a large sub-circular platform {183; SiteL.T02)
which is set into the hillside and embanked downslope located just ébeve
south shore of Grasmere Tarn. It is approximately 12m by 8m irasizelp to
1.3m high. It is presently accessed from the west by a sloping tlaat is again

cut and embanked into the hillside (Plate 34 and Fig. 9), and has adsaenall
running along its southern side; there is also a small footpatingeonto the
platform from the east.

Pl 'S
Plate 33: Large partially eroded platform area adjacent to tlmegfahill viewed
from above (Sitd.T02)
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Plate 34: Ramp leading onto the platform area (Si62) looking east

4.3.12 The platform is separated from the putative fulling millablarge curvilinear
embankment that was constructed ontop of the western bank of the stilgam gu
running around the mill platform (Sit&TO1; Fig 9). The height of the
embankment, separating the platform from the gully, would haveugeztithe
construction of the fulling mill on this platform as the embankmeatilgv have
prevented the transmission of water power from a wheel in the gully dorobe
platform. The function of the platform could have been as some sotbr@igs
area adjacent to the mill site or it may have been utilised to pegome of the
various tasks involved in the process of fulling, such as washing or eeangdy
of the cloth. Unfortunately, the land to the north of the platform, on the shore of
the lake, has been eroded and landscaped to accommodate the footpath making it
difficult to gain a full understanding of the site.

4.3.13 On the opposite, eastern side of the tail race is a furthaiveuplatform (Site
LTO8), located adjacent to the modern footpath. It measures 5m x4.5m and is up
to 1.5m high, and has a D shape which has, in part, been created to allow for the
footpath that extends along its northern edge (Fig 9). It is coabigetess
marked than the western platform and, indeed, is possibly entirélyahan
origin. If it is man-made its function is uncertain and it is notdevi in what
capacity it would have served the mill.

4.3.14 Discusson: the remains at the Loughrigg Terrace fulling mill areyveifferent
to those documented at Sourmilk Gill. If the physical tracescardgirmed as
belonging to one of the fulling mills documented in this localBgdtion 3.3.%
then it was evidently a very insubstantial feature. The size of the milbwavie
been constrained by the size of the gully within which it wastkete would
have been relatively little room for working; with space for onlsirale trough
and set of stocks. Very small mills have been recorded elsewltaech are
located in similar confined spaces so we cannot discount the plabfeing a
genuine mill site (Plate 35). The remains do not reveal any swilaststructure
and it is possible, indeed probable, that the mill workings wereenttely
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housed within a building. The superstructure for the wheel, axle mounts and stock
assembly would all have been constructed of wood, so would have left little in the
way of physical remains. There was possible evidence for iageftstones for
anchoring a rudimentary roof structug&t¢ LT12; Fig 9) but again this could
have been an open-sided building.

4.3.15 Without the evidence of the water supply, comprising the leatslaandthere
would be little to confirm the existence of a fulling mill in this looa, and it is
indeed possible that the mill itself may have stood closer tdakeeshore and
have been eroded away, an interpretation supported by the possibility ofdihe le
platform having originally functioned as a header pond for a water hsupp
however the physical evidence examined on site makes this gti@rpm
unlikely. An associated potash kiln was recorded nearby at NY 3407 0560, and is
just inside a pasture fiel&éction 3.3.p

4.3.16 This mill perhaps highlights the considerable differenceseleet simple mills
associated with medieval weaving and the much better documented post-
medieval mills, which were located within large buildings and welle§ cloth
on a much larger scale. This potentially reflects that the fulling wilthe period
were operated on a seasonal basis by a part time miller and would have served the
needs of only a limited number of farms and settlements; astbaghdid not
need to have substantial pieces of machinery.

Plate 35: A very small mill in Shetland (Brown 2011)
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4.4
44.1

4.4.2

4.4.3

Low WOODMILL , ELTERWATER (FIGS 13-16)

Location: the surveyed fulling mill (at NY 3370 0503) is located below the
present day (National Trust owned) High Close Youth Hostel, prdyidbe
domicile of the Benson family, an important weaving and fullingifain the
region. The location of the mill seems more determined by its rpitgxito the
family seat rather than by its topographic virtues. It is on the lin@ @xtremely
small, unnamed beck, which was not supplied by a natural water body and,
although a small reservoir was established above High Close houseaHhatas
feature and probably post dates the fulling mill. The beck ultigndeds into
Elterwater.

The mill is on a gentle, south-west facing slope that is presently witbypaed

wood, Low Wood (Plate 36); however, it is uncertain if there was surmogndi
woodland when the fulling mill was in operation. The site is on gromant
natural communication route between Grasmere and Langdale wilimhsf a
natural hause or col between the two valleys, although this is not the documented
route that was used for the transport of cloth in the medievabd €ection
3.3.13.

" s £
Plate 36: The putative mill platform located at the south-easter of the mill

pond (SiteLWO01)

Mill Evdence the site of the putative fulling mill consists of a substnti
rectangular platform located on the western side of a north/soightaied
stream running through the centre of Low Wood. It measures approximately 10m
x 8m, with the top of the platform being 5m x 3.75m. There are nbleisi
foundations associated with a built structure on the platform whichsugyest

that the site had an open air fulling frame and stocks [(Siel1; Plate 12 and

Fig 15) or that the superstructure was of wood. The platforracetdd on the
south-eastern side of a mill pond (Sif/03), and, in part, forms a retaining dam

for it. To the west of the mill platform was a well-defined wheel(Bite LW02)

that was, from its upstream, northern side, fed by a mill pond and downstream the
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4.4.4

4.4.5

4.4.6

water outflowed into a stone-lined tail race (3iM/04; Plate 37). The wheel pit

has partially collapsed, but there are, nevertheless, good indicdtoesaining

walls on either side of the pit, which measures 3.5m x 1m and is up to 1.1m deep.
The walls comprise large water worn stones and roughly shaped slate slabs.

wors "
, N he A

Plate 37: The wheel pit located on the south side of the mill pondL(&b2)

There is a substantial upcast mound located immediately to the eastasbubli-
the mill platform in Low Wood (SitdeW15; Fig 15). The mound, along with
other slight banking located adjacent to the west side of the dhanhel Site
LW11), would suggest that this was upcast from the excavation of the mill pond.

Water Supply: the source of water power for the mill consisted of a slightly
sinuous channel running east-north-east/west-south-west through the cknt
Low Wood and to the north of the putative mill site, which has been defined as a
head race (SiteW6.1; Figs 14 and 15). It is visible running downslope through
the woods, extending beneath a section of carriage drive (SitE2), and
continues for approximately 114m before diverging, to feed a roridpto the
west (SiteLWO03.1; Plate 38), and continuing downslope to the east of the
putative mill as a divert channel (Sit&/11). For part of its length the head race
(Site LW6.1) was formalised into a stone-lined cutting. There is evidende of
running in a culvert beneath the carriage drive and for a shaibrsdarther
south (SiteLWO7), which may suggest that much more of its length was
originally culverted.

The head race fed a well-defined rectangular mill pond thagpstream and
adjacent to the north of the potential fuling mill platformt¢SLWO01). The
pond, first depicted on the OS Second Edition mapping (1890), measures
approximately 9.5m by 8.3m and, although mostly infilled with silt, remains 1.1m
deep on its northern side (SitaV03.1; Plate 38). The pond is contained by
partially exposed stone retaining walls, which are verticallyed except the
northern wall which is battered back at a slight angle. The pond contaiised ra
platform 2m wide on the west side (Sit®/03.2; Plate 39). It was fed by a stone-
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lined channel (Sit&W06.2) which separated from a divert channgit¢ LW6.2)
at a junction 5m north-east of the structure (Sitéd.1), and which then extended
east of the mill platform and cairn.

] 7] 2% =
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Plate 38: The rectangular mill pond set within present day Wdéeod (Site
LW03.1)

Plate 39: The stepped terrace on the west side of the mill pond (& 2)

4.4.7 The mill platform also acted as a dam to stop wate@pesy downslope to the
south (SiteLW01), and a damaged retaining wall on the south side of the pond
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(Site LWO8) may have retained the ground below the wheel pit to strengthen and
buttress the local area. The pond may have had a dual function, providing a
reliable head of water for the water wheel to ensure a regular and congialyt, su
while also being utilised for the washing of the fulled woollengyarticular the
stepped platform (SiteW03.2) might have been used as a shelf to apply fulling
solutions, scrub the cloth or even allow the woollens to drain.

Plate 40: Outflow from the wheel pit into the linear tailadSitesLW02 and
LW04.1)

Plate 41: View along the length of the ruler-straight tail race (3¥84.1)

448 An intact linear stone-lined and slate-bottomed tail race flowedth,
downstream from the wheel pit. For most of its length the charmeller
straight, indicating a planned construction of the feature rathan tthe
modification of a natural stream gully (Sik&\V04.1; Plates 40 and 41). The
channel measured approximately 38.4m x 0.7m and was 0.3m deep for most of its
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length, before turning a right angle to the south-east on the sowhérand
continuing as a sinuous stream gully (Si&/04.2; Fig 16). The tail race turned

at the point where there is a small section of retaining (&itle LWO05) and
continued to outflow into the divert channel which had bypassed the till si
(Site LW11). The straight section of the tail race conformed with theesast
boundary of a small plantation or orchard depicted within Low Wood on the
Ordnance Survey Second Edition mapping (1890).

4.4.9 Other Water-rel ated Features south of the mill site is a short, damaged, section
of dry-stone retaining wall (SiteW05), located on the north side of the right
angled turn in the tail race (Sit&V/04.1). This partially collapsed wall is located
where the ground drops away to the south-east and retains adlessiia
measuring approximately 16m x 8m upslope to the north [8it&6); it may
have functioned as a working/storage area or as a tenter ground. i heve
evidence for supports for a water-wheel on top of the retaininf (\Bae
LWO04.1) at this location due to collapse, but the tail race does slop@& dow
significantly after this point.

4.4.10 Woodland Indudry Features the majority of the remaining features within the
survey area consist of woodland-industry and access features. Bhae i
fragmentary linear wall foundation located on the south-west sidéeofrriill
pond (SiteLWO08), which may have buttressed the area when the fulling mill was
in use Bection 4.4.) Alternatively it may have been associated with a small
rectangular plantation or orchard enclosure depicted on the Ordnancey S
Second Edition mapping (1890). In addition, there is a linear wall foiomdat
orientated roughly north-west/south-east running through the northern half of
Low Wood (SiteLW14; Fig 14). The boundary probably functioned as a sub-
divisional hag boundary between separate coppice compartments i
Wood. Upslope, approximately 50m to the south-east and outside ofedenpr
survey area, the foundation continues and connects with further coppice
compartment boundaries near to a potash kiln and attached putatsheadouil
platform, which were checked and confirmed but being outside the srady
were not surveyed.

4.4.11 Other surveyed woodland-industry features are limited to an ovatoahar
burning platform (Sitdd W09 ; Fig 16)c 12m x 10m, which is cut 0.3m into the
slightly sloping ground to the south of the putative mill site, andaa of
fragmentary woodland access trackways that extend through Low Wded (Si
LW10 and LW13). The latter links up to the main carriage drive (3it&12)
and may have been reused and adopted as part of the design for the lates pleasur
grounds.

4.4.12 There is one formal landscaping feature associated with the gandgmarkland
of High Close that passes through the survey area. It is an elaboratelyuctaustr
sinuous carriage drive running downslope through Low Wood from High Close
and was clearly a formal drive rather than purely an accedsdoastructed for
use by those involved in woodland industries. It is metalled, has a draietge
on the upslope side of its surface, and is approximately 6m widecdrhiage
drive has a prominent retaining wall on the downslope side wheresses the
head race (SiteW12), just to the north of the putative mill site. The retaining
wall is up to 2.3m high at this location and has a parapet tlta7m high; the
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4.4.13

4.4.14

4.5
45.1

head race has been culverted below the drive. The drives within Low Weod a
first depicted on the OS Second Edition mapping (1890).

Discusson: although there is no direct evidence for a mill structure Idcate

the platform at Low Wood, there seems to be an elaborately-designeshelem

the surrounding ancillary features and the water-management syidtenuler-
straight tailrace and rectangular mill pond have been ddideraonstructed
rather than remodelled from natural topography and stream gullres formal
layout of these structures, along with the late depiction of the mill pond on the OS
mapping, superficially point to the features being relativédie designed
elements for the gardens surrounding High Close. Closer inspection of tre wat
management features, however, suggests a mill on the platform, and the elaborate
design being a reflection of the close proximity of the Bensonilyfehome, the

most prominent of fulling mill proprietors in the region in the eighteea®ntury.

It is possible that the mill pond was re-used after fulling ceased, posasilal fish
hatchery or some other type of ornamental water feature, althougbbtiwis
wheel pit and complex water management system does point gomary
industrial use.

The mill itself may have been an open-air fulling framesaadks, devoid of a
permanent structure housing all the machinery, as suggested apdéece of
surface evidence for surrounding wall foundations, though these may hawve be
cleared away; it was not uncommon for fulling frames and stackee topen to

the elements (Plate 12). Alternatively, there may have been a maaeed
building with a perishable roof. The driving power for the fullstgcks would
have come from a water-wheel mounted on the gable end which, due to the
considerable depth of the wheel pit, was probably breast shotsorlikely
undershot, and fed from the mill pond. The mill pond may have had a dual
function: the terraced platform on the western side would suggege us the
pond for the washing of the woollen products, and the cleared levebmardse
eastern side of the tail race may have been used as a shosager a tenter
ground, although there is no present physical evidence for this. The pyogimit
two potential potash kilns within Low Wood would lend weight to thelstiag

a fulling mill.

STICKLE GHYLL MILL , GREAT LANGDALE (FIGS 17-28)

Location: the surveyed fulling mill is near Mill Beck Farm (at NY 2941 0649) on
the gentle sloping valley side at100m (aOD), situated just above the valley
floor and below the craggy Langdale Pikes. The mill was probaiuigtdd just
outside the medieval ring garth and at that stage was on Gesegdale
Common; however, during the period 1500-1750 the current pattern of fields to
the north of the ring garth was enclosed, and entailed taking thdromil the
common into private ownership (Bevanal 1991). It is located on a gentle spur
between the very fast and active Stickle and Dungeon Ghylls (Plate 42af he
that feeds the mill runs from the direction of Stickle Ghyll boére is no
evidence that it drew upon it. Stickle Ghyll gully is steep-sided and it wowkl ha
been difficult to draw water from it without constructing a long and comielatx
for some distance in order to obtain a steady supply. There is denewifor
such a leat and, in any case, the water supply is far more abuhdantvould
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4.5.2

45.3

have been required by the mill. Instead, it might have drawn upon a rathe
unreliable supply from an area of mire located on top of the. §ghe water
collected from this area of upland mire was then collected byea race,
transported to the putative mill site, before flowing off downat race and
ultimately discharging into Great Langdale Beck. The archaggotd the mill
close to Stickle Ghyll has been massively impacted upon by rdaion of
ancient and modern routeways leading from the valley bottom up dswie

high fells. Various footpath and drainage improvements undertaken daeng t

past 30 years have been particularly damaging, obliterating\adgnee of the
upper part of the head race and any mill infrastructure that may exasted to
the east of the rocky outcrop.

e T o
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Plate 42: View along the head race towards the fulling miildimg (Sites
SGO01.1andS G009

Mill Evidence evidence for a mill at this location consists of the in-situ
foundations and walls of a small rectangular, unroofed structureS&i6& Fig

18). The building has been partially rebuilt and recently used as a cllednit

was depicted as a roofed structure on the OS First Edition mapping (1861). It had
been modified and was unroofed by the Second Edition mapping (1890). The
building measures approximately 6.8m x 5.8m and survives up to 2m high at
southern corner. It has been cut into the hillside and has a retamlhgn the
north-west elevation that is 1.4m deep. Internally, the structure leagl&loor

that is up to 0.7m higher than the ground to its south-east. It pessessingle
entrance located on the eastern end of the south-east wall elebatidghere is

no visible original fabric around the aperture. The short revetment wall that abut
the structures western corner links it to an enclosure wall, while itsreast@er

is linked to another enclosure wall by a blocked/ infilled entranceway.

The surviving fabric of the original mill structure is fragmentary butndistivith
lime-mortared walls containing both surface-gathered and wader- stones
packed by areas of laterally-placed thin slabs of stone (Figs 21-28). The thortare
elements relate to the earliest phases of construction, so &thbeig is a
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45.4

455

possibility that these relate to an agricultural usage of thectsre, the
probability is that they were part of the original mill pha3d&e rest of the
superstructure has been rebuilt as a drystone sheepfold witipla soverband

of coping stones on top. The extent of surviving early fabric imhvia; often

only comprising foundation courses, but the internal south-west facing and north-
east facing and the external south-west facing elevatiogs @2, 23 and 25)
have larger areas of original fabric. The south corner wall quoin stack survives up
to six courses and is 0.75m high (Fig 21); the south-west wall of the structure has
possible surviving elements and apertures that relate to itasusenill building

(Fig 22). Both externally and internally there is evidence for cgkligld sub-
circular aperture measuring 0.6m in diameter that could confortimetdocation

of the mill wheel axle (Figs 22 and 25).

The position of the water-wheel would have been external to thk-west
facing wall elevation (Fig 22) and would have been supplied by a divert channel
launder combination where a (now blocked) scooped area in the outcropping
bedrock is located to the west of the mill (Fig 18; Plate 43ertadly, the
putative axle aperture is flanked on each side by blocks of drig@bng with
vertical joints 0.45m away from the aperture (Fig 25). It is possible that retat

to these vertical faces were anchoring beam slots or bracing pairitseffulling

mill frame.

o
.

o )
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Plate 43: The infilled scooped channel in the bedrock or a step fdauheer
running onto the water-wheel

Water Supply: the mill was supplied by a well-defined, and partially rock-cut,
head race. Water outflowed from the putative wheel-pit intoilaa@e which
survives as a slight earthwork feature extending south-easttfrensupposed
posiion of the water-wheel. The head race (Si&01, Figs 18 and 19) was well
defined as a linear, north-north-east/south-south-west orientated, Ichaane
would, originally, have gathered water from an area of mire to thé mdrthe
mill site and above the Stickle Ghyll gully, and would then havesfrarted it

Fortheuse of the National Trustand Lake Disthetional Park Authority @A North September 2012



Windermere Reflections on History — Fulling MilSommunity Archaeology Survey Report 59

4.5.6

4.5.7

southwards towards the putative fuling mill (Plate 44). While thet nuggcal
source of water may have been from nearby Stickle Ghyll, the base of thesghyll i
substantially below the mill, and any take off point would therefiaree been a

long way up stream to provide an adequate fall. There is no evidence for a dam or
take-off point on the south bank of Stickle Ghyll as the area has Hesstily
eroded and is covered in large boulders and water-worn stones. Thie visi
section of head race starts just south of the junction of theingxiptublic
footpaths inthe enclosed field containing the mill site (Fig 19). The sedtion

of the channel is partially rock-cut along its length and has hathming earth

and stone bank constructed on its downslope, eastern side. This portien of
channel measures approximately 34.5m long by 2.8m wide, with the open
channel being up to 1m wide by 0.5m deep. At its southern end the channel runs
across a tall rocky outcrop giving it a significant height abtinee putative mill
structure, and affording a good head of water even if the waterysumre
limited. There is evidence for a possible junction with a divadnoel (Site

S GO07 Fig 18) running south-west beneath the modern enclosure wall and, at this
point, the head race (Si®G01.J turns sharply to the east to descend the steep
face of the outcrop for a further 2.7m as a narrow 0.5m wide and 0.2m deep rock-
cut channel. It is probable that this narrow rock-cut channel functioned as a divert
channel that led water from this point, towards and eventually, undevatiee-

wheel (Plate 45). A wooden launder might have been positioned at the top of the
rocky outcrop/ end of the rock-cut head race leading to the whealh wias
probably at an overshot level given their relative heights.

A number of earthworks lie on a flattened sub-circular platfortwdaa the
putative mill site and the rocky outcrop to the north (Si@04 Plate 46 and Fig
18). These include a smaller, oval flat-topped mound &®E94.]), a curving
break of slope running from the foot of this mound to the foot of the rocky
outcrop (Site5sG04.9, and a short bank above the platform, projecting from the
south face of the rocky outcrop (S8&04.94. These earthworks have no obvious
mill-related function, but they could relate to ancillary workingsaar earlier
phase of construction predating the extant mill building (altholghet is no
direct evidence of an earlier mill platform).

Other shallow earthworks adjacent to the north-west of the tmititgre (Site

S G049, might provide some evidence of the water-supply system (Ri@te
Traces of a linear bank are present running west-south-west/edstast (Site
SG04.3 which is interrupted at point in line between the bottom of the rock-cut
channel (Sites G01.9 and an infilled scoop or channel on the west side of the
mill structure (now crossed by a modern field wall; Fig 18). The idfithannel
presumably took water running under the wheel on the south-west wall @tevati

of the mill structure. The break in the bank could represent a gap thsdugin

either a launder or divert channel fed water down from the head race to the water-
wheel or, alternatively, it could have been cut by such a channel.
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Plate 44: The well-defined rock-cut and banked head race channed (Hite)

Plate 45: A narrow rock-cut channel carrying the head race/segomlieart
channel down the rocky outcrop (SB&01.9
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4.5.8

4.5.9

4.5.10
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Plate 46: Amorphous earthworks sandwiched between the mill strumtdre
rocky outcrop (Sit& G049

Tail Race:south-east of the mill structure are the linear remains of a postailble
race Site SGO6 Fig 18). It is orientated roughly north-west/south-east, and is
aligned with the possible water-wheel location on the externahseest wall
elevation of the mill structure; it would have taken water away tcotleh-east

of the mill towards Great Langdale Beck. The feature consists ojha shrthen
bank that is lower in height on the south-west side, and it has a sbionh s&
possible stone revetment surviving mid way along its surviving length. Btiglig
curvilinear boundary/feature was depicted in this location of the OSHEdisbn
mapping (1861).

Other Features the survey area was limited in extent to the enclosed field
surrounding the putative mill site, and few other features wexrded during

the survey. The remains of a wide earth and stone constructed boundary bank
were recorded orientated roughly north-west/south-east and runninghthiueig
north-east corner of the enclosed field adjacent to the south side oé &iakll

(Site SGO3 Fig 19). This bank is approximately 38m long and up to 5m wide,
and is clearly of some antiquity as it is overlain by the moderiosane walls.

The bank is crossed and has been eroded by a modern footpath near its northern
end, and it cannot be traced south of the modern enclosure wall where gardens are
now present. Foundations of a boundary wall can also be seen running north from
the corner of the modern enclosure wall towards Stickle Ghyll §38632); this
boundary was depicted as extant on the OS Second Edition mapping (1890).

Discusson: the documentary evidence suggests that the surveyed mill site is the
location of a medieval fulling mill§ection 3.3.18 Our understanding of the
development of medieval enclosure in Great Langdale suggests tmaill thvas
established on the common, close to one of the fell gates that praddess
through the ring-garth and onto the common. Such a location is typical for a
communal and/or manorial-managed structure such as a mill, kiln or pinfold. The
surviving fragmentary mill building may, however, may have beerodeited
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and rebuilt over time and would include some substantial elements of pos
medieval masonry. The remains are relatively simple in form: 8l ptatformed
structure cut into the hillside with vestiges of the original wall fabtikt evident
even after the remodelling of the structure into a sheepfold. Thainguhad
been roofed in the mid-nineteenth century, and elements surviving in the wa
fabric suggest that it either had a free-standing water-wdreal wheel set in a
shallow pit; given the height of the leat it is very probablg th&s was an
overshot wheel. As there is uncertainty over the existence of al\plte it is
difficult to ascertain the size of the wheel, even though an aslextrseems to
have been present and its height can be estimated accordingly. It ible riblad

the wheel did not extend beyond the width of the end wall, and the position of the

observed bedrock with respect to the observed axle point would suggedt tha
had a maximum diameter of 2.9m. Possible beam slots are visible on thalinter

face of the elevation, and on either side of the putative hole occupied byllthe m
wheel axle but, in the absence of other internal remains, it fisutifto guess
their precise function.

st Hbeth : 2
Plate 47: The possible alignment of the launder or head race running frootkhe r
cut channel towards the water-wheel position on the west side of the fulling mill

4.5.11 Water management and motive power consisted of a simple robkaditrace
running from the broad direction of Stickle Ghyll, but there was no direct take-off
from Stickle Ghyll which suggests that the water might have otigintom an
area of sloping mire upslope of the leat. It is possible that a more stidisthaad
race channel may have extended into this area in the pastnaiivety, the
physical remains of a dam and launder structure set up neghythenay have
been destroyed by the fast-flowing stream. However, it is tlestr water then
entered a rock cut head race and flowed in a southerly direction d®wize
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4.6
4.6.1

4.6.2

putative mill building. The head race ran along the top of a lagey outcrop
which provided sufficient height to create a useful head of watateMyould
have descended from the top of the outcrop along a launder to an overshot wheel
taking full advantage of the height of the crag and allowing coredtter
propulsion from a low flow of water. A narrow channel (Plate 46¢rds from

the putative springing off point of the launder and was likelyb¢oa divert
channel which then would have extended into the area of the wheel pit,ithroug
the scooped channé&éction 4.5.) Ultimately the divert channel would have led

to the tail race; this is evidenced by a small step/infilled depressibe inedrock
adjacent to the wheel location which would point to a divert or exaegsr
channel running beneath the wheel and discharging into the tail race.

UTTLE ORE GATE MILL , GRAYTHWAITE (FIGS 29-34)

Location: the putative fulling mill (at SD 3711 9330) lies in an area of coplpice
woodland atc 70m (aOD), at the edge of the flat-bottomed valley that extends
between Esthwaite Water and Windermere lake and through which Cundey Bec
flows. It is situated on gentle and subtly-undulating land that maksdge of

the valley floor, but is overlooked by the steep-sided ridge of Black Brows which
rises to 268m aOD. Streams and natural drainage lines extend fromBstaek

Ridge down towards Cunsey Beck, one of which flows through Little Ote Ga
coppice and provides the feed for a leat that extended along the slope towards the
mill.

Mill Evidence the putative structure consists of the earthen remains of a narrow
two-celled structure located on a small platform, with a smslging putative
annex on the eastern side (SiteG01) (Plate 48 and Fig 33). The structure is
approximately 8.7m long (east/west) x 2.75m wide and has unifortheaar
foundation banks up to 0.5m wide and surviving up to 0.3m high in places. The
annex on the eastern side measures a further 4.3m long by 2.6m wide. The
western gable end of the structure has been eroded away by the course of a stream
which feeds water out from flat boggy land to the south. There is gav cl
evidence for stone within the suggested building foundations and, as the bedrock
is only 0.1m to 0.2m beneath modern ground level here, dug foundations seem
unlikely. If genuine, the structure is likely to have consisted of dwarf wadiirthy
otherwise perishable building materials, such as a timber beam foundatioer, tim
superstructure and roof. A putative double-channelled head race andrlaunde
platform approach the structure from the west (Si@&06 and LOGO02). A

narrow channel on the southern edge of the structure, running east tokerds
stream, could have served as a possible divert channel.
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4.6.3

4.6.4
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Plate 48: View east along the length of the putative millnflations (Site
LOGO01)

A free-standing undershot water-wheel could have been positioned on the
western gable end of the structure where the stream passethrbece is no
evidence for a wheel pit at this location but, as the bedrock iesegphere
immediately below the present ground surface, it must have beanafl the
ground. The stream continues in a north-easterly direction, serviagassible

tail race and leading to the larger stream that skirts the eastenf Higep utative

mill site (SiteLOGO03).

Water Supply: a long, wide and sinuous leat-like feature, 150m long by up to 6m
wide, can be traced to the south-west of the putative fuling sitd (Site
LOGO06). It starts adjacent to a stream and cuts into the south-east facing hillslope
as it curves around the contour just above the flatter boggy ground soutie
(Plates 49-50). It is possible that this was once a head race for the lneitl, tht

the structure has been massively disturbed by recent access siyy foehicles.
There is, however, no evidence of a water take-off point from thearst
although this might also have been disturbed by a later forestck. ti his
roughly-metalled track, depicted on the OS Second Edition 25 inch (1890)
mapping, winds down through the plantation further to the west and finighes
the point that it meets the stream adjacent to the southeses¢r of a field
enclosure (Fig 29). The putative head race channel has a rgldaivge upcast

bank on the downslope side which, in places, is covered by mature trees. A p
of parallel sunken gullies, roughly 2m apart, lie within the chanhéthvare, in
places, well defined and vertically sided. These could be vehicle ruts as the south-
east end of the bank has been damaged by forestry vehicles as vaegxived

from the channel.
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ative double head racd CB&66)

At its north-east end, the channel curves east and runs to g laiéarm (Site
LOGO02; Fig 33), 21.5m long, 5.5m wide and up to 1m high, which continues the
alignment of the channel and is orientated on the putative fullinggte 51).

It might have been the base for a pair of channels/iwooden laundersgunni
towards a water-wheel located on the western gable end of the putativadrdl a
divert channel immediately south of the mill structure (B¢€508).

Plate 49: The southern half of the put
4.6.5

Plate 50: The northern half of the putative double head racel{E©6)
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Plate 51: View along the putative launder platform towards tiiesite (Site
LOGO02)

4.6.6  The function of the putative head race and launder platform featurieshave
been the provision of water power in the form of a pair of leat®ing down
towards the fulling mill (if that was indeed what it was). Alternativeig, feature
may be the consequence of regular and repeated access by heavy fockest, ve
leaving behind massive ruts that have the appearance of channels. Thisasute w
undoubtedly used for access for forestry vehicles either when the area wed clear
and planted in the 1960s and/or felled and replanted in the 1990s, but it is no
clear if the access route followed an existing feature, such aadar&ee channel
associated with a mill. The putative head race channel potgntiadiriies a
charcoal burning platform (SiteOGO05; Section 4.6.11Fig 33), which could
indicate a relatively modern origin for the channels. Howeves & possiblity
that the disturbance of the charcoal burning platform (SRE€05) resulted from
recent access by forestry vehicles along the route of an rexibBad race
channel.

4.6.7 At the east end of the platform (Si®@G02) is the small natural stream (Site
LOGO03) which, as already discussed above, might have acted as a tail race, some
19min length, leading to the larger stream to the east of the mill site.

4.6.8 A linear divert channel ran along the south side of the putktireg mill
structure (SiteOGO08) (Plate 52). It is approximately 35m long, between 0.8m-
2m wide and 0.3m-0.5m deep in places, and runs from the west of the mil
platform feature eastwards towards a small sub-rectangolzd (Site LOGO7;
Fig 34), now masked by scrub vegetation. If the mill site is genthiee this
feature would be a divert channel passing the mill and providing er wapply
for a washing pond.
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4.6.9

4.6.10

4.6.11
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Plate 52: A possible section of divert channel running east from the mi{Sstiee
LOGO08).

Other Features several other features were surveyed nearby which, collectively

if indirectly, can be seen to support the interpretation of théswgas a fulling

mill. As already mentioned, the small sub-rectangular pond (®t&08), c

4.3m x3m and up to 0.3m deep, could be a washing pond fed by a divert channel
from the fulling mill.

There is a putative potash kiln (St®G04) consisting of a scooped oval
depression cut into the eastern bank of the stream to the east of ttkagsi4).
This turf-covered bowl-shaped depression, 5m x4m and up to 1.25m deep, has a
slight lipped opening, 1.2 m wide, to the east, adjacent to, but highey the
stream channel. The large size of the kiln, which is larger thgpieal pot ash
pit, can be interpreted to suggest that the kiln may have functioned as cohlte
kiln" or ‘chopwood kiln’. Such kilns dried timber primarily for use bgad
smelters, although here are no documented lead smelting sites loctl area.
The kiln (SiteLOG04) may have been previously identified as a chopwood kiln
by Mike Davies-Shiel, although his records place the kiln in thecanfaGreat
Ore Gate woodSection 3.3.283

Two other identified features are charcoal-burning platftroased adjacent to

the head race or trackway (Sk©GO06). These are associated with woodland
industry which abounds in the surrounding region. One of the platforms (Site
LOGO5) is D-shaped, possible because it is overlain or cut by therheador
trackway channel (Plate 53 and Fig 33). It measures approximately 11.5m by 7m
and is built up 0.3m higher than the surrounding ground surface on its east side
As already discussed, the relationship with the channel is uncertaithebptan

of the platform would suggest that the leat/trackway overlay thbé-mast side

of the platform and was a later feature than it. The other istldacr charcoal
burning platform (Sité OGO09; Fig 30) is well defined and situated on the steep
hillside adjacent to the north side of the head race/trackway. eisumes
approximately 12.5m by 10m and is cut into the hillside up to 1m deep.
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Plate 53: A charcoal burning platform located abutting or cut bypthtative
double head race (Sit€d G05)

4.6.12 Discusson: there are a number of problems relating to the interpoetati the
possible fuling mill site at Little Ore Gate. On initiaispection, the mill
structure appears to be genuine; however closer investigation ecveaty
ephemeral, non-stone foundations. It is possible that the mill may havaihad t
timber walls and wall foundations and a perishable roof, and such anlguildi
would have been capable of containing mill stocks and frame with a-whesi
suspended on the western gable end. The proposed water-managemanif syst
with its double head race, launder platform, tail race channel adjaxéné mill
structure and divert channel leading away, also seems plausibléirsin
examination. However, the existence of two leats seems difficult toirexgilen
the size of the putative mill building and our understanding of the fulling psoce
The site has clearly been heavily disturbed by modern forestry processesyha
have damaged an earlier site, and formed or exaggerated the twiordoea
channels by creating wheel ruts. A flimsy mill structureuidikely to have
survived being crossed by heavy forest machinery, such as that shown in Plate 54
which was observed on an access road extending out from the putative doubl
leat.
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4.6.13

4.6.14

Plate 54: example of heavy forest machinery that had the potentiapact on
the putative fulling mill site

The putative double head race would have taken water from the tneaim,s
following the contours around the hill on a slight gradient, but theraois
evidence of a take-off point. It is possible to postulate that the fiaea passed
onto a launder platform which fed the water-wheel and a divert chammahg
directly behind the mill. While the form of any putative mill is uncertain, the drop
from the western end of the launder bank to the wheel location is up to 1.8m, so
the launder could viably have fed an overshot wheel. Other featurels mhic

be seen to support the presence of a fulling mill are the petatashing pond

(Site LOGO7) located on the divert channel and the well-defined potash kiln (Site
LOGO04) nearby.

Alternatively, the ‘double head race’ channel was a woodland acaekway
associated with at least two charcoal burning platforms. Althabghe is no
doubt that the channel has been modified and damaged by forestry aanvit
an access trackway depicted on the OS Second Edition mappingrdidue
from the western end of the feature, it contrasts in form with the other constructed
forest tracks. It is peculiar that a track should be carefullytoseeted to follow
the shape of the contours but not metalled, resulting in massive wheedomts.
of the elements surveyed may well relate to woodland managemerstiplpos
indicating re-use of the site in the eighteenth/nineteenth centuries, but sublrs
as the rectilinear, two-celled structure and the potash kiln seem mucHiketyre
to be related to fuling. As it stands there is considerable dosibtoathe
interpretation of the structures and there exists the pogsitfidt all of the
features related to woodland management activities rather than fulling.
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5. CONCLUSION

5.1
5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.1.4

DISCUSSION

The present survey has investigated and recorded four, and p ossjbigriines
fulling mills within the Windermere lake catchment. The distribution ofrtiiis,
except that at Little Ore Gate which was identified duringearlier phase of
woodland survey (OA North forthcoming), was concentrated in the northern part
of the catchment, centred on Grasmere and Langdale. This carelaliewith

the documentary evidence which indicates that this was an imp arsamtfor
fuling and weaving $ection 3.1.%1 The reliability of the interpretation of the
surviving remains as fulling mills varies significantly beemeeach of the
identified sites and is, in part, reliant upon the interpretation ofvdter-supply
systems, rather than the mills themselves. The sites at So@ithilknd Stickle
Ghyll, were in the locales of documented medieval fulling nfBlections 3.1.4,
3.3.2 and 3.3.183and may indeed have medieval origins. The sites at Loughrigg
Terrace and Low Wood may be of early post-medieval (fifteentlevenseenth
century) date, aperiod that coincided with the time when influential aatihye
local families acquired large estates and established regmoabpolies in
various industries. The most useful illustration of this emerginigansle class

is the Benson family who took a controlling interest in weaving and fulling in the
central Lake District$ection 3.1.10

Mill Structures the Stickle Ghyll mill was, during at least one phase if not
originally, a roofed, stone-founded structure, associated with a well-defined water
supply system comprising a head race, wheel pit and tail race. Theustrseen
today is clearly a product of multiple phases of development hect tis an
implication that it had an extended life. Indeed, the Stickle Gl was
referred to in the fifteenth centurySéction 3.3.18 and was still a roofed
structure, albeit as an agricultural building, as late as 186dtipn 3.3.14 given

that it was reused for agricultural activities it is uncertain as to mpriopiortion of

its life related to fulling activities.

At Sourmilk Gill, there are the substantial remains of a wheel pigter supply
system including a large stone launder support, and a large platfotimef mill,

but the superstructure for this mill was probably of wood. There is a second phase
stone structure, on top of the platform, but this did not necesgaidye to
fulling.

Despite the survey, there has been little evidence for the internahggoddithe

mills. At Stickle Ghyll, part of the mill building survives btas been heavily
modified. It has two vertical slots on the inside of the structure, on aittherof

the axle mount, but their function is uncertain. At Loughrigg Terrahe, t
platform is only 4.5m x 2.6m and 0.4m high and there is little evidiemcany
superstructure, and so it is possible to propose that the stocksoagd would

not have been contained within a building. In any case, there would have only
been room for a single stock hammer and trough. At Little Ore Gate, thevp utati
mill structure was longer and two celled, being 8.7m long, but agas only
2.75m wide, and although slightly large than the Loughrigg Terrace platform, it is
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5.1.5

5.1.6

5.1.7

5.1.8

5.1.9

unlikely, if this was a fulling mill, that it would have had space for more than one
stock hammer and trough.

Head and Tail Races the head and tail races were the most diagnostic features of
all the mills, being visible and, in some instances, providing tbst rdefinitive
evidence for a mill, notably at Loughrigg Terrace. The head race at Little Dre G
was a very substantial series of earthworks, but this is perhaps misieadirege
features may relate, in part or completely, to recent woodlanégeenent. For

the most part, however, the head races were very small chaas¢igified by

the Sourmilk Gill which, in other respects, is the archetypahtulmill. This
reflects that most of the medieval fulling mills used overshbeels requiring
only a limited flow of water.

At two of the head races, that at Sourmilk Gill and Loughrigg Tertlaee was
possible evidence for a dam like structure at the confluence of the leat and strea

In the case of Sourmilk Gill, this was a small structure edging the head $de
SMG10), which may have as been as much about limiting the flow down the leat

in times of flood. Similarly at Loughrigg Tarn, the putative damd diot
apparently extend across the main stream channel, but did support the edge of the
main channel and again may have served to restrict the flow hetdd¢ad in

times of flood.

Wooden launders are essential at sites if motive power is to béaledensing

an overshot water-wheel, but the launders may originally have been insubstantia
and impermanent structures leaving little evidence survivodpayt. Possible
anchoring stones or steps are evident at Loughrigg Terrace whictseats the

only evidence for such a structure at this site, and at Sourmilkh&ie was a
substantial launder platform albeit no launder. Although the wooden lautholers
not survive there is often a marked change in the form of the water-supply system
in the environs of the mill that implies the existence of a laundetl-d&signed

leats extend towards the mill structures, but then stop some @idranc them

and above them, as at Sourmilk Gill, Stickle Ghyll and Little Ore Guauglying

that the flow continued through a now, no longer extant, water transport @evice

a launder.

With the exception of the Low Wood mill, there are substantial drops between the
potential take-off points for a launder and the mill structurb&hvwould have
allowed for the presence of an overshot wheel. At Low Wood mill, the wheel was
fed directly from the mill pond, and there was insufficient fail an overshot
wheel. On the other hand, there was a deep wheel pit and an adegtete w
reserve in the mill pond sufficient to have driven a breast-shot wheel. Tihg ful
process took around three hours and there would have been sufficient water in the
pond to power a breast shot wheel for such a period, this would imglythe

period between fulling was determined as a minimum by the time takdhup f

the mill pond.

Wash Ponds one of the interesting revelations of the survey is the exist@nce
washing ponds at three of the mill sites. At Sourmilk Gill is a series of simed
rectilinear ponds, being fed by the northern divert channel, each 1.3m across (Fig
5). At Low Wood, there was a large mill pond in front of the whdglvphich
included a terrace potentially for washing, and at Little Oree@Ggp utative sub-
rectangular pond (SiteOG07) was fed by a possible divert channel with a run-
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5.1.10

5.1.11

off into the adjacent stream. At Loughrigg Terrace and SticklellGhyg areas
downstream of the mill sites have been heavily landscaped, forpadain the

case of Stickle Ghyll and by footpath construction at Loughriggaterrand

these are likely to have resulted in the loss of evidence for angsp The fact

that three do exist demonstrates that the washing of the clothawasy
important part of the process. This seems to have used the diverniecha a
water source rather than the tail race, presumably in order to maintaineg @ég
control over the water flowing into the ponds. At Sourmilk Gill thare two

divert channels, and it would have been possible to control the flow of water into
either channel and as only one channel fed the ponds this would have allowed an
on/off control of water to the ponds. The careful design of these elementstsugges
that the process of washing cloth needed to be more thorough than could be
achieved by simply dunking the woollens in a nearby stream.

Ancillary features associated with the fuling mills were a number of features
that provide evidence of the wider operations undertaken at the Nites.
notably, potash kilns were present in which bracken was burnt to produce potash
and provide one of the key components for fulling. These are typicallydfin

the environs of fulling sites. Potash kilns were reported in the environs of four of
the sites surveyed: at Sourmilk Gill there was a potash kiln at Brimmer (Nidga

2242 0857; Davies Shiel 1990); at Loughrigg there was one just above the terrace
at NY 3407 056 (Davies Shiel 1990); at Low Wood there were two within the
woodland; and at Little Ore Gate there was one very close tanihgSite
LOGO04). In the latter case, the presence of a kiln may reinforce the intéipmeta

of the site as a fulling mill. The relatively close assammbetween fulling and
potash production, highlights that the physical remains of theamellonly one
visible component within a landscape that may have been heavdgtaied
around the production of cloth. There would have been many other activities,
such as stock management, shearing, weaving, potash production, whshing t
cloth, bleaching and dying, and the drying of the cloth (tenter fields), soiye

of which would have left physical remains. Not all activities would Hazsen at

the site or the immediate environs of the fulling mill but thees \& propensity

for activities to be kept within the wider communities. A very rdegd
enclosure, which was probably a stock enclosure, 8W&03) was surveyed at
Sourmilk Gill, Easedale near to the fulling mill, which was camngted of field
clearance stone in marked contrast to the post-medieval sheepfold or washfold
the south-west, on the other side of the gill (StdG15). It is potentially of
medieval date and could be contemporary with the period of operatitme of
fulling mill.

Fulling was, at least in the medieval period, bound up with madaega and
communal practices, and it is interesting to note that a number of pjllsaato

have been deliberately sited on common land outside the farmed iftade.
Sourmilk Gill mill was just outside an area of enclosed land,hasvs by the
present intake boundary and also the possible remains of mediegtightion

lying just within the enclosed lands. While this may be coincidental arect &l

need to exploit particular topography, it may also suggestthiesie mills were

used by a number of farms within the manorial demesne and needed to be outwith
individual farm holdings. This situation seemed to pertain at LogghFierrace

and at Stickle Ghyll, although the latter is now within enclosadslaAt Little

Ore Gate, the mill is now within an area of coppiced enclosure but may have been
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on common land in the medieval period. The mill at Low Wood is inghti/
different situation as it appears to be a post-medieval milwaasdundoubtedly
within the control and ownership of the Benson family of High Close.
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APPENDIX 1: PROJECT DESIGN

1.1
1.1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.3

1.2
1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

1.2.4

1.2.5

INTRODUCTION TO THE PROJECT

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) has been invited to provide sujmrvand enablement for a
community archaeology project of a series of former fulling millthe Central Lake District at
Easedale, Grasmere, Elterwater, and Gt Langdale, NY 3193 0868, 3438389503, and 2941
0649 which is to be undertaken on behalf of the National Trust and financeteritgge Lottery
Fund, which is a part of the wider Windermere Reflections. OAhNweill provide supervision and
guidance for a survey ofthe fulling mills and surrounding landscape, whécla hiah archaeological
resource.

This is one of three community survey projects being undertaken asfpée Reflections on
History, project which is part of the larger Windermere CatchnRegtoration Program. The aim of
the project is to improve water quality and to bring environmental emdoeic benefits to the area.
The first stage of the project was a GIS based study examining/dbeéland, water and mineral
based heritage of the catchment of Lake Windermere undertaken byo@#A (2010). This made
recommendations for a series of community projects based around fedehtloree themes, and the
present study is intended to develop the water theme. It will lotdkeatise of water power for a
series of four fulling mills in the central Lake Distrastd within the catchment of the Lake.

OA North is required to provide training and supervision to undertdkskatop historical survey of
information pertinent to each site, and will include historicapsnahe database compiled as part of
Stage 1, records held in the Armitt Library and Kendal Record € ffnd also aerial photographic
plotting. Field surveys will entail detailed Level 3 surveys of fotass

. Sourmilk Gill at Brimmer Head Farm, Easedale (NY 3193 0868)

. Loughrigg Terrace, near to the outlow of Grasmere Tarn (NY 3431 0589)
. Low Wood, Elterwater (NY 3370 0503)

. Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale (NY 2941 0649)

A principle aim of the project is to involve the local commuaityvidely as possible, and to provide
new information on the wealth of archaeological remains in the &rhis will entail providing a
presentation ofthe results and guided walks to the volunteers makewaee of the rich heritage in
the region. It will entail getting them directly involved in undertakilefyl surveys, the identification
of historical records and to ultimately disseminate that infoonati reports, and updated records for
the Lake District Historic Environment Record and the National{TSMR.

BACKGROUND

Fulling Mills: fulling entailed a process of scouring, that is the cleaning of libth asing
ammonium salts rom urine, and the thickening of cloth by mattingbhes ftogether. The medieval
fulling mills were water powered and entailed the beating of clatth wooden hammers which were
operated by cams on the shatt of the water driven wheel.

Sourmilk Gill: the fulling mill was worked by Rad De Greenrigge in the 1200s, amdstused by
the occupants ofthe Grasmere and Langdale valleys. It has an lexilaitig, wheel pit, head race,
tail race, over 1ow channel; it also has a raised laundenforvar shot wheel.

Loughrigg Terrace: this fulling mill is a rectangular building, and has a head raceaapdssible
wheel pit beside the platform.

Low Wood: this mill comprises a rectangular pit and associated rectangjatérrm, with a tail race,
head race and overfiow channel.

Stickle Ghyll: this mill has been rebuilt as a Sheep Fold, and includes ektam¢rgs of the fulling
mill, such as athick wall for mounting a wheel bearing. It haasanciated head race.
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1.3
1.3.1

1.3.2

1.3.3

1.3.4

2.1
21.1

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

Outreach: OA is committed to outreach. As an educational charity, OAsst® promote an active
public relations policy in relation to archaeology, and has a publicatiepartment that is
experienced and fully equipped to provide general interest text and gréphietease to the press
and general public in a wide variety of forms including display boardktéeand popular books. In
certain circumstances it is possible to hold open days or imathllc viewing galleries on major
sites. OA has considerable experience in the establishment ofsdtyrbhased projects, and includes
numerous training surveys and excavations. OA North has been providing thsigmafesupport
for a programme of archaeological investigation into Lathom ParlQrmrskirk, funded by Local
Heritage Initiative. This involved the provision of expertise, trainiaggd resources for surveys,
excavations and documentary studies into the landscape associatetiewmiajor fourteenth century
palace Lathom House. OA North has also been involved providing the congudtahsupervision
for the excavation and survey of a complex enclosed settlement etomgh conjunction with the
Ingleborough Archaeology Group, and the supervision and of a survey of a nineteshihy
designed landscape at St Catherine’s Park, Windermere, on beha fiddtional Trust, and the local
community (See also Appendix 3 on OA North Community projects). OA Nesrtpresently
undertaking a community excavation of a nineteenth century church, that madistied when
Stocks Reservoir was constructed in the early part of the twergetury, and is being undertaken
on behalf of United Utilities and the Forest of Bowland AONB.

Holwick: more recently OA North has undertaken a major survey of Holwickgélland valley
landscape in the North Pennines on behalf of the AONB and also Nahgkind. This entailed a
broad range of survey techniques from specially fown oblique aerial phottggrd iDAR,
Documentary Studies, Identification Surveys, detailed surveys usimgddiite and Disto. T he latter
technique was designed to allow cheap, but eficient survey techniquesdbla be within the
pocket of amateur groups (the maximum budget for equipment was £300.00) andvahidhresult
in the plotting / draughting of the survey drawings on site.

OA North employs an experienced and qualified archaeological lam/@urJamie Quartermaine,
who has considerable experiencing in training survey techniques. He haspénise to train local
teams in a broad and diverse range of low tech survey techniquesilthbe vappropriate for the
volunteers who do not have access to modern equipment.

Landscape Archaeology: OA North has considerable experience in the feld of landscapeysurv
work, particularly in the uplands of Northern England and Wales. Numergusys have been
undertaken across the region and North Wales, and has taken the fapidatientif cation surveys
of large areas of unimproved land as well as detailed survepeais landscapes.

AMS OF THE PROGRAMME

The primary aims of the project are as defined within thecptmjief and are as follows:

e« To encourage local volunteers to gain an understanding of the history of eatcthmough
surveying and researching their local history. The volunteers will keghniques of surveying
that they will be able to continue beyond the life of the project.

e« The information collated will be able to be used for interpretagpomposes, in all the
Windermere Reflections projects to inform local communities asitbws in the catchment.

The objectives of the project are as follows:

e To undertake outline documentary research into the fulling mills
e Tomap the fulling mils

e To undertake survey work in the environs of each mill

e To provide training for community volunteers in archaeological survey techniques
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2.1.2

3.1
3.1.1

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.2.5

3.3
3.3.1

Community Aims. the project aims to seek a wide community involvement in thearobseand
investigation of areas within the Lake District National Parkg # foster a wider community
awareness ofthe rich cultural heritage in the local landsctipesntended to use the present project
as a means of training volunteers, and others in the wider commimigychaeological recording
techniques. Great emphasis will be placed on the virtue of sundegidees and to encourage a
legacy of skills within the community. The project will therefgwevide a capacity for further
archaeological and historical research in the area.

METHODOLOGY
PROJECT PREPARATION

At the outset there will be a process of liaison betweerN@#h, The National Trust, and the Lake
District National Park Authority staff This will entail deihg the output formats for incorporation
into the HER, and having a field visit to examine the known archaeolodyrefine the project
methodology. OA North will liase with the Natural Trust to enablgdoge co-operation with all the
land owners to minimise impact on agricultural operations.

SURVEY TRAINING / OUTREACH

It is proposed to undertake a programme of survey training for membthe public at each of the
four fulling mills. This would entail detailed field surveys follesvby a desk-based study.

The first stage of the project will be a general, widely pisiglil, launch event in the feld at either
Grasmere or High Close (31st March or 1st April). This would pied general introduction, and
would include a localised walk around the more visible archaeologinsine. It would also
introduce a broad range of survey and recording techniques, which would frangebasic
techniques to the more advanced. It would include tapes, theodolitestaihées, a total station with
pen computer (to display the results), survey grade GPS, and a W#l (eodel helicopter capable
of carrying a light weight camera). The aim would be to introducevtthenteers to the proposed
programme but also to raise interest. Experience of previous launds ¢eg at Holwick) was that
these attract lots of people, lots of interest and set the paffj¢s a good start.

Following the open day a meeting will be held in OA North oficéh whe National Trust
Archaeologist to agree which methods will be most applicable folm ete and to refine the
programme and methodology.

In the course of the documentary and survey work the volunteers would lessgty cwith
professional archaeologists, who would provide training and on-the-job eqeeri€ he volunteers
would undertake survey work under close supervision fom the OA North pmjpetvisor, and
learn how to identify documentary sources, and how to use the survey inguand the general
principles of survey. The character and significance of the aiduseal landscape will be
explained.

On completion of the project a final presentation will bebksted for all the volunteers and land
managers, and dissemination to the community will be through an everking tal

HELD SURVEY

It is proposed that a detailed topographic survey be undertaken adllimg rills at EH Level 3
(Ainsworthet al 2007).

Sourmilk Gill at Brimmer Head Farm, Easedale (NY 3193 0868): the survey will entail the
recording of the fulling mill, and associated wheel pits, ranescverfow channels. In addition it
will include a ruined building just to the north of the site, eviddor a pack horse route, the nearby
fell wall and Sheep Fold on the opposite side of the beck. An invéstigaill be undertaken for any
possible tenter grounds in the environs of the site.

The site is covered in bracken which severely restricts visilnfithe surface features. At the outset
of the project the area around the fulling mill and water featwiksbe cleared of bracken, and this
will be undertaken by manual methods. It is anticipated that thisakeé a day.

Loughrigg Terrace, nr the autflow of Grasmere Tarn (NY 3431 0589): the survey will entail the
recording of the fulling mill, associated wheel pit, and raceswill also include archaeological
features on the north-west facing flank of Loughrigg and Penny Rock Wood.
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3.3.2

3.3.3

Low Wood, Elterwater (NY 3370 0503): the survey will entail the recording of the fulling mill,
associated wheel pit, and races. It will also include anbhgieal features in Low Wood and Christie
Wood, including charcoal burning platforms, potash kiln, and access tracks

Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdde (NY 2941 0649): the survey will entail the recording of the fulling
mill and race. The possibility of possible tenter grounds will laésmvestigated.

Survey Methods: it is intended that this primarily serve as a training exerés the volunteers, so
the survey techniques will be devised to be easy to understand, aatlowilfor plotting in the field,
and is easily affordable by volunteers. This will inevitably mebe tise of more outdated
technologies, and will have a significant impact on productivity. Tiser® broad range of survey
options that can be achieved by volunteers with access to non-expensive auipnuk it is
proposed to introduce the volunteers to a range of techniques and then cantleatsatrvey using
the plane table and tape offset. In addition all four sites willsheveyed using high level
photography, with respect to survey control established by GPS / @itahstSimilarly a gazetteer
and photographic record will be compiled. Details of these technigeesudined below.

Chain / Tape survey: traditionally this is done with survey chains, however, survey chamns ar
difficult to come by now and so surveys would typically be undertaken usiong fhpes. The
technique has the advantage that it can be drawn up on site and is easigrstand, but is
error prone on sloping sites and is time consuming. T he technique wifiptied at those sites
which have a relatively fat ground surface without too much undulationsudace
vegetation.

Plane Table / Alidade the technique has the advantage that it produces the drawing in the
field and can cope well with sloping sites. The use of a plane tabéffective in allowing
volunteers to understand the principles of surveying. Using stadia tache@meatlidade has

an effective distance measurement capability of 150m (assumingatedecuracy), but it is
dificult to train volunteers in this technique. The alternativéoidring the technique up to
date by mounting a cheap Leica Disto on top of the telescope of tlag @li This provides
accurate distance measurement up to a distance of 120m and aigyiases the use of the
equipment, and therefore makes it more productive. The applicationdist@ on both a
theodolite and an alidade on the recent Holwick project was found tovieey asuccessiul
approach.

High Altitude Phaography: it is proposed to record the sites and immediate environs by
means of high altitude photography, which, using specialist photogrammseftvicare, can be
used to create accurate three dimensional models of the sitepogtaphic surfaces. There
are two means of achieving this by means of an extendable masngrauslAV. The mast
has a maximum height of 8m, and for small sites it is verytiefeen that it can provide high
resolution surface images for the modelling process. However, fog extensive sites it
generates more photographs than the sotware can handle. The altémdtigeuse of the
UAV, which provides photography from any altitude up to approximately 80m heighteys
control is introduced to the photographs by the placement of survey contras tacgess the
site which are located by means of survey grade GPS.

The photogrammetric processing is undertaken using Agisot sotware proidldes detailed
modelling using the overlap of up to 30 photographs, and creates a vergddBfBM (Digital
Terrain Model) across the site. The photographs are then digitapgdiover the model to
create an accurate three dimensional model of the ground surfacepriffey output,
however, is an accurate two dimensional image which can be used tatgemeurate plans
or profiles.

Theodolite Survey (optional): the use of a theodolite is not specified within the brief but is
presented here as an option to be used in conjunction with the planeCGAbMorth has only
one plane table / alidade and ifit is required that two instrunaemissed simultaneously then
it is proposed to use a theodolite / Disto combination as well.date would be drawn up in
the field using an accurate film based protractor and ruler.

Survey Control: it is proposed that survey control be introduced to the sites by meansigh
accuracy survey type differential GPS where possible. This taavacaccuracies of +- 20mm, and
will ensure that the survey is accurately located onto the OrdnameeySNational Grid. If at any of
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the sites there is no mobile reception (necessary to providetommser the GPS) then the control
will be established by means of a total station.

3.3.4 Detail Survey Overview: the detail survey by plane table / tape will record all structara
earthwork components, which will be drawn by hachure survey. Survey polinbewnarked on the
ground using spray paint and the survey drawing will be manually drawn upesitéct to them. On
completion of the survey the field drawings will be digitised intGAD system. The survey will
record all archaeological features, earthworks and elemehéssiirvey will aim to identify, locate
and record all built elements of the landscape.

3.35 Gazetteer: a descriptive record of all features will be compiled usinguadsrd proforma, which will
incorporate a provisional interpretation of the function of the sieatlre, where possible, and
similarly will provide a provisional interpretation of the sitelgonology where possible. Once the
digital gazetteer has been collated and edited, it will be outfaut Ascess Report and input directly
into a Microsot Word format. The gazetteer out put will be corbjmtivith the NT SMR and the
LDNPA HER. This data will be formatted and topped and tailed witvord to produce the gazetteer
volume for the survey project. The description will include the folloviields:

. NTSMR Number
. LDNP HER number
. Site Number

. Form

. Site Name

. NGR

. Site Description
. Monument Type
. Period

. Interpretation

. Dimensions

. Threats

. Management

. Photo reference
. Condition

. Surveyor

. Date of survey

3.3.7 Photographic Record: a photographic archive will be generated in the course of the fejdcpr
comprising landscape and detailed photography. Detailed photographs will be dékehe
archaeological features using a scale bar. All photography willet@@ded on photographic pro-
forma sheets which will show the subject, orientation and date.photography will be undertaken
using a digital SLR camera with 8 megapixel resolution.

3.4 DeESK-BASED STUDY

3.4.1 A desk-based study will be undertaken by volunteers and members afiéghecammunity, but will
be directly supervised and guided by staff of OA North. It is intendadttaining be provided for
those members of the public who are particularly interested iagpést, and it should be recognised
that there is only limited space available at both the Kendatdrexfiice and the Armitt Library and
it may be necessary to restrict numbers of volunteers. The stildyroviide training in the use of
desk-based technigues, and how and where to obtain documentary sources pettireestudy.

3.4.2 The documentary study will seek archaeological information pertioetite study area, such as
earlier investigations of the site or aerial photography that may pravigguable insight into the
character of the study area. It will seek to reconstruct, gfimarough mapping sources, how the
landscape has developed within the last two or three hundred yearslatBhgenerated during the
desk-based study will provide the basis for an assessment of the aradusigniicance of the known
surface and subsurface remains. It will also serve as a tittee archaeological potential of the
study area. This work will obtain background information pertinent to theemtrestudy, and will
draw upon historical mapping and database sources. It will include egisapmrf County histories,
early maps, and such primary documentation (tithe and estate planssettay be reasonably
available. Published documentary sources will also be examined arsdesssmd any potential
transcribed early documents will be examined This work will acdée following repositories:
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Cumbria Record Office (Kendal), Armitt library (Ambleside)arcaster University Library and the
OA North library. It is anticipated that the study will entailirf days spent in the record office and
Armitt library. Good scanned and photographic copies will be obtained of arapsllustrations
where possible.

3.4.3 LiDAR plotting: LIDAR at 1m resolution is also available, which is of idfint resolution to be able
to inform the survey, and it is proposed to purchase two 1sgkm tilesacdsigiart of the project. The
aerial photography will be examined in conjunction with the LIiDAR ang@aiiures are shown on
both, then plotting will be undertaken from the LIDAR as it is there accurate. The aerial
photography and LiDAR will be used during the survey by the volunteers asidlieyvélk the area
around the fulling mills to get a wider context for the sites.

3.4.4 Aerial Photography: oblique aerial photography is a valuable tool for examining and assessing the
sites, so long as there is not a thick bracken vegetation cowssatre ground (which there is at
Sourmilk Gill). Where there is not thick vegetation cover it is pregd® undertake targeted oblique
photography. Depending upon the site, this will either be undertaken frght aalrcrat (based from
Blackpool Airport) or more likely it will be rom a small UAVWUfmanned Aerial Vehicle). The latter
is a small electrically powered model helicopter which has iigyato carry a light weight camera
up to altitudes of 250 feet. The advantage of the UAV is that ittaikee photographs fom much
lower altitudes than can legally be achieved with a light aiycoatt it is not easily targetable, so it
typically provides blanket photographic coverage across the area. As faossible the transcription
of photographs will be undertaken by volunteers and the information will beimppsed on the
modern and historic mapping within a CAD system.

3.5 REPORT PRODUCTION

3.5.1 Archive the results of the management programme will form the basis fofl aarchive to
professional standards, in accordance with current English Hegtadelines The Management of
Archaeological Projects, 2nd edition, 199The project archive represents the collation and indexing
of all the data and material gathered during the course of thetpibfés archive will be provided in
the English Heritage Central Archaeological Services formasymopsis (normally the index to the
archive and the report) should be placed in the Lake District iisEmvironment Record. The
archive will include the raw survey digital data in AutoCAD fornmfatcopy of the revised SMR will
be deposited with the ADS.

3.5.2 Report: the report will present, summarise, and interpret the resifilthe programme detailed in
Stages 3.1-3.5 above, and will include a full index of archaeologgetlires identified in the course
of the project. The reports will consist of an acknowledgem entnseat, lists of contents, summary,
introduction summarising the brief and project design and any agreed depaiture them, a
methodology and a statement of the project aims. The report willdech record of all the
volunteers who have contributed to the project.

3.5.3 The report will identify the significance of the archaeolalgimd architectural evidence and will also
include the following:

. An outline history of fulling mills in the region

. An historical background of the four ulling mills

. Results of the survey, presented in conjunction with survey mapping aflling mills and
environs
. A discussion presenting an interpretative account ofthe fulling ,naitid their context within

the landscape and their relationship to local communities

3.5.4 The report will also include a complete bibliography of sources\roith the data has been derived,
and a list of urther sources identified during the programme of warkappendix gazetteer of sites
which will be based directly upon the project database and will be tinhepaith the Lake District
HER and NTSMR.

3.5.5 The report will incorporate appropriate illustrations, includomies of the site plans, detailed survey
plans of each fulling mill, maps of the wider landscape, all ratitcean appropriate scale. The site
mapping will be based upon the CAD base. The report will be accompayighotographs and
historic illustrations illustrating the principal elements ofldredscape.
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3.5.6

3.6
3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

5.1
511

5.1.2

Editing and submission: the report will be subject to the OA North’s stringent editing ¢uiace;
then a drat will be submitted to the National Trust for consahatFollowing acceptance of the
report, six bound copies of the report (and digital copy) will be submétdte National Trust and to
the LDNPS HER. A summary of the work will be provided for OASIS.

OTHER MATTERS

Access: the sites are on open access land or in the ownership of the Nadtraagl but parking at the
Easedal e site is restricted and will require that only a \rerigeld number of cars are used to ensure
the maintenance of good relations with the farmer.

Health and Safety. full regard will be given to all constraints during the survey, ad alto all
Health and Safety considerations. The OA North Health and Safetgn®&int conforms to all the
provisions of the SCAUM (Standing Conference of Unit Managers)tiHesid Safty manual. Risk
assessments are undertaken as a matter of course for attpra@ed will anticipate the potential
hazards arising from the project.

Insurance insurance in respect of claims for personal injury to or the deathyomembers of the

public in the course of the project will be covered by OA North, whoifesance cover which

complies with the employers' liability (Compulsory Insurance) 2869 and any statutory orders
made there under. For all other claims to cover the liabili@%MNorth in respect of personal injury
or damage to property by negligence of OA North. The insurance co foléoavs:

. £10 million public liability
. £10 million employers liability

. £5 million professional indemnity

WORK TIMETABLE

The proposed timetable is defined in the briefand is reproduced: below
. 31°" March / 1st April Opening Field Meeting

. o _1d April Easedale Survey

. 16™ — 2d" April Loughrigg Terrace Survey

. 23% to 27" April Low Wood Survey

. 30" April to 4" May Stickle Ghyll survey

. 7™ —1d May  Archive Research

. The submission for the drat report is mid June 2011
RESOURCES

OA NORTH PROJECT TEAM

The survey will be undertaken by Peter Schofield (Project ©ffacel Alastair Vannan, under the
guidance of the project manager, Jamie Quartermaine. The rejbitspart be written by members

of the society, and part by staff of OA North. The OA North etegnoéreport production will be split

between Peter and Alastair.

Project Management: the project will be under the project managemenflashie Quartermaine,
BA Surv Dip MIFA (OA North Project Manager) to whom all correspondence should be seftires
Jamie is a very experienced landscape surveyor, who has undertakeragedn@erally hundreds of
surveys throughout Northern England since 1984, and has considerable experievockiraf on
similar projects to that proposed. He has managed a major recordiggarpme of Lyme Park,
Cheshire, and very detailed surveys of the South West Fells includiag snch as Barnscar and
Burnmoor. He has also undertaken surveys of Lowther Park, Cumbria, dRRfiok, Lancashire and
has also managed the recording programme of Lathom Hall and ParksHiemead the survey of
the Forest of Bowland for United Utilities. He has been a projeahager since 1995 and has
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5.1.3

5.1.4

5.1.5

5.1.6

managed over 250 very diverse projects since then, which are predominavly arientated, but of
all periods from the Palaeolithic to the twentieth century.

Jamie is a qualifed land surveyor (Topographic Sciences Dipldasgd® University) and has an
exhaustive knowledge and understanding of surveying techniques. He regularlyaining tcourses

in survey techniques and has the expertise to devise a variety ofdbwsuevey techniques for
training volunteers.

Project Surveyors: the survey will be undertaken WBeter Schofieldand Alastair Vannan. Peter
Schofield (OA North Project Officers)Peter works full time on landscape surveys across the north-
west. He has undertaken surveys at Hardknott Forest, CumbriagyH&wld Estate, Cumbiria,
Ennerdal e Valley, West Cumbria, a major programme of landscapeysacross nine upland areas
in North Wales, Litle Asby Common for the Friends of the Lak&tit, and the Holwick and Force
Garth surveys, Teesdale. With the exception of Jamie Quartermhé is our most experienced
landscape archaeologist.

Alastair Vannan: Alastair Vannan has considerable experience in the survey of uplanddpeslsc
Fore example he undertook with Peter the surveys of Buttermere dmel Méasdale on behal f of the
National Trust. He also has considerable experience of documewtéadyand undertook both the
documentary study for the recent Holwick community survey, but also ssgertne field teams.
Alastair would undertake the documentary study for the proposed fullingsamiey. Alastair has
been leading a number of community excavations, which included the magvatésn of Lathom
House (nr Ormskirk), and also the excavations of Stocks Church, BbBsiviand.

David Maron: support for the surveyors will be provided by David Maron, who has consklerabl
experience of assisting with surveys fom all across the coutiérywas formerly a head teacher and
has a remarkable aptitude for training volunteers.
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APPENDIX 2: PROJECT BRIEF

Invitation to Tender: Community based survey and investigation of formeifulling

mills in Easedale, Grasmere, Elterwater and Great Langdale, Cumbria

Introduction

The National Trust is inviting tenders for various archaeologieatices that will facilitate the
survey, investigation and recording of the remains of four formemdulinills. The frst site is
located on the eastern bank of Sourmilk Gill, close to the point wherbeck enters the enclosed
land belonging to Brimmer Head Farm in Easedale (NGR NY3193 0868%ethad site is located
close to the outflow of Grasmere Tarn and alongside a small btk fa small tarn to the south-
west of Ewe Crag above Loughrigg Terrace (NY3431 0589). The thircsdibedated in Low Wood
which once formed part of the High Close Estate, located betwemsm@re and Elterwater (NY
3370 0503). The forth site is located close to the Stickle Barn TawerrStickle Ghyll in Great
Langdale and has been rebuilt as a Sheep Fold (NY 2941 0649).

The location of these four sites are highlighted on the attached mappéndix 1

The contractor will be required to approach and undertake the spemidgcam of archaeological
services as a ‘community engagement’ focused event, providing support anithgtran
archaeological skills to groups of volunteers. The initial recruitnoé volunteers falls outside the
contractors brief, although the management and supervision of voluntéerg with a
responsibility for their safety and welfare while on-site, isrdsponsibility of the contractor.

Project background

This campaign of survey forms one third ofthe ‘Reflections on Histmgject, which will deliver
community focused archaeological events on the themes of woodland, méiterirzerals between
2011 and 2013. ‘Reflections on History’ is part of the larger ‘Winderr@atehment Restoration
Program’ which has secured a grant from the Heritage Lottery Fundurto'Windermere
Reflections’, a catchment wide project that will improve wafeality and bring environmental and
economic benefits to the area. ‘Reflections on History is oneegénteen conservation and
community focused to be delivered under the banner of ‘Windermere tivef2c

The stated aims of this project as stated in the applicatitire tideritage Lottery Fund are twofold:

. The aim of the project is to encourage local volunteers to gain an tamdigng of the
history of the catchment through surveying and researching their local yhiStbe
volunteers will learn techniques of surveying that they will be ableotdinue to use
beyond the life of the project.

. The information collated will be able to be used for interpretafiorposes, in all the
Windermere Reflections projects, to inform local communities amgitors in the
catchment.

The final project bid accepted by the Heritage Lottery Fund includedget that the project would
utilise a minimum of 120 volunteer days. The means by which this figureached is fexible,
however this brief has been based on using a team of six volunteers eaekitday for a total of 20
days (over a four week period) in order to complete the survey of allnfalls. Any additional
volunteer days collected during the subsequent archive research phaseakeutietproject above
and beyond the minimum target set down in the fnal project briepetdy the Heritage Lottery
Fund.

Site background
Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

The former fulling mill located on the eastern bank of Sourmilk {BilEasedale (NGR NY3193
0868) is covered in bracken for much of the year. However, preliminaggtigation has revealed
that the remains of former rectangular mill building, wheel lpiinder support, bridge footings,
Head Race, Tail Race and overfow channel can be seen. A mimallis stone building also exists
approximately 100m north of the mill, it is not known if this relateshe nearby mill. There are a
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3.2

3.3

3.4

number of surviving Medieval references that suggest the mill wakedvdoy one Rad De
Greenrigge in the 1200’s and that there a toll was paid by LangdatiaBsasmerians for bringing
wool over the route via Pye How to Sourmilk Gill. It was this ttoht led to the construction of the
fulling mill at Stickle Ghyll!

The mill alongside Sourmilk Gill is located on land owned by the LowEstate and currently let
and managed by the National Trust. As registered common land Ea€edaleon is grazed by
sheep belonging to a number of farms in the neighbouring valleys. The sitedted close the
bridleway from Far Easedale to Easedale Tarn which is a pogisitar route, Easedale Common is
classifed as open access land and therefore has unrestrictedgoabts.

The site appears on the National Trusts Sites and Monuments REESWR 23039), but is absent
from the Lake District National Park Authority Historic EnvironmdRecord. The site is not
designated.

Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

This site is located close to the outfow of Grasmere Tarn lmdfyside a small beck that has its
source in the form of a small tarn to the south-west of Ewg @lave Loughrigg Terrace (NY3431
0589). The site is fairly conspicuous as a clearly artificiatarggular building platiorm with a
grassy covering, located on the edge of a large bracken bed whichroombrefthe lower flank of
Loughrigg. Preliminary investigation has identified evidence of a haae and possible wheelpit
above and alongside the building platform.

Loughrigg Fell is owned by the Lowther Estate and currently let and nthbgige National Trust.
As registered common land Loughrigg Fell is grazed by sheep belonging tdarraffarms in the
neighbouring valleys. Loughrigg is classified as open access land andriéndra$s unrestricted
public access.

Surprisingly this site is absent fom the National Trusts Sates Monuments Record and Lake
District National Park Authority Historic Environment Record. Tive is not designated.

Low Wood, Elterwater

The former fulling mill located along the course of a small beckaw Wood, located some 250
south-west of high Close Youth Hostel (NY 3370 0503). The site is logatiedmer coppice and
standard woodland with little in the way of understory. Preliminary tigetson has identified the
site of a possible unpowered fulling mill, recognisable as a recaanguhken pit with a rectangular
platiorm on the western side. Below this a long straight T @iéRdnich runs for around 80m before
ending at the site of another possible structure. A Head Race aridvoverannel are also evident.
The surrounding woodlands contain numerous other archaeological featuredinmnaccess tracks
and a potash kiln presumably associated with the fulling mill. Sontgeqgbrevious owners of the
High Close Estate have had close associates with the clothatrddi¢ is possible that documents
might survive fom the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries that méwioing mill.

The millin Low Wood is located on land owned by the National Trust. Wdadland is not grazed,
other than by wild deer. Low Wood has fee public access and can dssextdy visitors to High
Close Youth Hostel.

Surprisingly this site does not appear on the National Trusts Siteanuments Record and is
also absent from the Lake District National Park Authority HistBnvironment Record. The site is
not designated.

Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

The former fulling mill located to the north-east of Stickle B&iawvern and south of Stickle Ghyll
appears to have been rebuilt as a simple single cell Sheep Fol@9Y0649). The walls of the
Sheep Fold stand well over 1m in height, possible incorporating fabric the former fulling mill.
One wall, which may have supported a waterwheel, is more tham aithick as other walls. Gaps
and rebuilds can be identified along other walls suggesting that ctasding and analysis would
be rewarding. A partially cut put Head Race can be seen whithustd with water collected fom
Stickle Ghyll.

The mill alongside Sourmilk Gill is located on land owned by the LowHstate and currently let
and managed by the National Trust. As registered common land Langtale dgrazed by sheep
belonging to a number of farms in the valley. The site is situébse the popular public footpath to
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4.1

4.2

Stickle Tarn. Langdale Fell is classified as open accessdatidherefore has unrestricted public
access.

The site appears on the National Trusts Sites and Monuments R¢EGWR 23039), but is absent
from the Lake District National Park Authority Historic EnvironmeRecord. The site is not
designated.

Project methodol ogy
The different components and methodology for the survey and investigatsmt ate below:

Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

The proposed survey and investigation of the former fulling mill alongSidermilk Gill will
include the following:

. Removal of all dead bracken fom the site, including all structaresd associated
watercourses. This is expected to take one ull day.

. Survey of the mill and associated features using a plane tabledeadkal

. Survey of the mill and associated features using high level digital phptog(utilising an
extending pole).

. Creation of a site grid using a combination of EDM and GPS technaologies

. Creation of a written gazetteer based on the collection of infoomén the field using a

standard site record form. The gazetteer should include informatiba bacorporated into
the final site report and entry on the National Trust Sites and MartanRecord

(NTSMRY)/ Lake District National Park Authority Historic Enviroenmt Record (HER). The
gazetteer should include the following mandatory description f eldsnsitder, site name,
NGR, site description, monument type (using the English Herisdige thesaurus or
similar), period, condition, threats, management recommendations amdrehot

. A standard digital photographic record of all sites and featuredfietraturing the survey.

. The survey of the fulling mill alongside Sourmilk Gill should also udéd the ruined
building 100m to the north, any evidence ofthe original packhorse route &b lGregdal e
via Pye How (within 200m of the mill) along with the fll watl the south and the intake
field and Sheep Fold on the opposite bank.

. The survey should be extended into the neighbouring pasture felds to identifgcardi
any evidence oftenter grounds (subject to permission for access).

Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

The proposed survey and investigation of the former fulling mill alondsedghrigg Terrace will
include the following:

. Survey of the mill and associated features using a plane table idadeabr tape offset
survey.

. Survey of the mill and associated features using high level digital paptogfutilising an
extending pole).

. Creation of a site grid using a combination of EDM and GPS technaologies

. Creation of a written gazetteer based on the collection of infooman the field using a
standard site record form (as previous).

. A standard digital photographic record of all sites and featuredfigiraturing the survey.

. The survey of the fulling mill in Low Wood should also be broadened out tadiechll

other features of archaeological interest on the north-wesgfd@nk of Loughrigg and
Penny Rock Wood on the opposite river bank.
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4.3

4.4

4.2

Low Wood, Elterwater

The proposed survey and investigation of the former fulling mill in Loao@d/ will include the
following:

. Survey of the mill and associated features using a plane table idadeabr tape offset
survey.

. Survey of the mill and associated features using high level digital phaptogfutilising an
extending pole).

. Creation of a site grid using a combination of EDM and GPS technaologies

. Creation of a written gazetteer based on the collection of infooman the field using a
standard site record form (as previous).

. A standard digital photographic record of all sites and featuredfigtrturing the survey.

. The survey of the ulling mill in Low Wood should also be broadened out tadachll

other features of archaeological interest in Low Wood and neighbouringtl€ W ood.
Archaeological sites within the wood include charcoal burning platfoemgot ash kiln,
ruined walls and a series of well made carriage tracks iasstcwith the High Close
Estate.

. The survey should be extended into the neighbouring pasture felds to identifgcardi
any evidence oftenter grounds (subject to permission for access).

Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

The proposed survey and investigation of the former fulling mill siduagar Stickle Ghyll will
include the following:

. Survey of the mill and associated features using a plane table idadeabr tape offset
survey.

. Survey of the mill and associated features using high level digital paptog(utilising an
extending pole).

. Creation of a site grid using a combination of EDM and GPS technaologies

. Creation of a written gazetteer based on the collection of infoomén the field using a
standard site record form (as previous).

. A standard digital photographic record of all sites and featuredfietbrturing the survey.

. The survey should be extended into the neighbouring pasture fields to identifgcard

any evidence of tenter grounds (subject to permission for access).
Archive and documentary research

There is a wealth of documentary and cartographic information availableufbng mills which
would add a great deal to our understanding and interpretation of the twausities investigation.

While there is no scope within the current project for detailedsitigation of primary source
material, some assessment of the readily available secondary saterégahshould be undertaken.

The contractor should anticipate visiting the following local archives.

. Kendal Records Office — 2 days.
. Armitt Library — 2 days.
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In each case the contractor should seek to obtain good copies (or photographsvahtrgarts) of
all historic maps and other documents considered particularly importanthéo pgroject and
reproduce them within the final report.

4.3 Report writing

After the completion of the feldwork and documentary research, theactort should use the
information generated to produce a comprehensive and well illustegied ithat brings together
and presents the results of the investigations. The report should ittotuiddowing:

. a description of the project and its methodology,

. an outline of the history of fulling and fulling mills in the region,

. a summary of the known historical and social history of the four fullifip mvestigated
based upon secondary source material,

. a detailed and annotated survey drawing of each fulling mill along gitivey map
showing other recorded sites in the vicinity if appropriate,

. a complete photographic record of all four fulling mill sites,

. a complete gazetteer of all sites recording during the projéet dur locations.

4.4 Presentation of results

In addition to the work described above, the contractor will be requirgorepare and deliver a
presentation on the results of the site survey and documentary resteatchan audience of project
volunteers shortly ater the completion of the report. The responsilifitbooking a venue and
advertising the event will fall to the National Trust Archaeologist

5 Survey outputs

On completion of the program of archaeological works listed above fardpafrt containing the
results of the investigations at both sites should be completed aretl gasthe National Trust
Archaeologist for comment and review. The drat report should includeescagfi all maps,
photographs and other illustrations that will appear in the final report.

The draft report will then be examined and any comments returned twrbractor along with any
suggested amendments within seven days.

After reviewing comments on the drat report the contractor wiblvide the following to the
Windermere Reflections partnership.

Six bound paper copies of the report. Each copy should be accompanied byf pagpetr plans if
not included in the bound report.

Three separate digital copies of the complete report (includingdigitel mapping information in

formats compatible with both Mapinfo Version 7 and AutoCAD packagEhe digital media

should also include complete and ‘ready to print copies of the projemt i@ both Word and PDF
formats. Please note that the PDF version should be suitaldbabing via e-mail (i.e. less than
10MB in size).

A series of files that contain hard copies (or digital foldersaioimg digital copies) of all archive
and documentary information examined as part of the project.

6 Site conditions

The sites of all four fulling mills are located in areas witirestricted public access, the sites at
Easedale, Loughrigg and Stickle Ghyll being located on open accessrdrttieasite in Low Wood
being owned by the National Trust. However, there are certainsaresss ctions that the contractor
should be aware of
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Parking in Easedale is notoriously dificult, even in early Apris guch the National Trust has
made arrangements to park a maximum of three vehicles in the fdratyBrimmer Head Farm, a
short distance from the site. Therefore we ask that the camgratiake arrangements to arrive on
site in asingle vehicle. Itis critical that contractors dotnofaind park on the road into Easedale as
this might endanger the existing goodwill towards the project fomotta tommunity!

Volunteers will be asked to meet at the National Trust's ofic&rasmere and travel to Brimmer
Head Farm in two cars. This system wil be established andvisgmbrby the National Trust
Archaeologist.

There is currently no easy access across Sourmilk Gill to tivegfumill site. However, the National
Trust have already agreed to install a wooden footbridge alongsidel tvalfdby the start of April
2012.

There are no difficulties with accessing the fulling mill site_oughrigg, Low Wood and Stickle
Ghyll. There is ample parking for contractors and volunteers in thdosverdr park adjacent to
High Close Youth Hostel which can be utilised for the surveys at Lagtand Low Wood. The
National Trust car park will be available for use for contractamd participants free of charge
during the survey at Stickle Ghyll.

7 General terms

The Windermere Reflections partner organisations will retain agiplydver the resulting report and
all associated archival material (including all digital mapd @hotographic material), and shall
have absolute control over the use and dissemination of that informathmn. Windermere
Refections partnership fully recognises the originator's moral tglduitable accreditation in any
publication of the results.

It is the policy of the National Trust to deposit copies of alveys undertaken on its land with the
appropriate regional archives, authorities and organisations. The Natrosawill also deposit a
copy of the updated Sites and Monuments Record with the Archaeologicaldeatice based in

York.

The project will be undertaken by the contractor acting on an independent $taff working on
the project will not be deemed employees of the National Trust. Tsesteuld refect this fact and

more specifically the Contractor will take sole responsibility the payment of tax, National
Insurance contributions, etc. If VAT is payable, this too should beatat in the bid.

8 Timescale

Given the ‘community engagement’ focus of this project it iscaiitthat the professional contractor
can commit to delivering this project to a fixed timetable. Appsed timetable (to be discussed
with the contractor as part of the tendering process) appears below.

We recommend that a introductory session and guided walk open to all vidubteéheld in
Grasmere or at High Close YHA on either th&' 8farch or ftApriI. The responsibility for booking
this venue falls to the National Trust.

Survey and investigation of the site at Easedale will take placdioe@lays between the 9th to the
13th April 2012
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Survey and investigation of the site at Loughrigg will take place owerdbys between the 16th to
the 20th April 2012

Survey and investigation of the site in Low Wood will take place owverdays between the 23rd to
the 27th April 2012,

Survey and investigation of the site in Stickle Ghyll will take @lager five days between the 30th
to the 4th May 2012.

A short campaign of archive research and volunteer training based arnti Library and the
Public Records Office in Kendal will then take place from thet@tthe 10th May 2012.

The contractor should then produce a drat report by the middle of Jundmadeport by the end
of June.

The contractor should then allow time for the production of an attraatidethoroughly prepared
presentation on the results of the survey by the end of June/ stast.of Jul

The contractor should indicate their availability for carrying out #h@sk within the timescale
indicated above as part of their bid.

Costing

We ask that contractors provide the client with a detailed break ddwosts as part of the tender
including travel, accommodation, report writing and production etc. 8peosts will be needed
for all elements of the work program (on-site stafing, masgridocumentary research, report
writing, preparation for presentation etc).

The contractor should feel free to add in costs for any other tasthdyabelieve might be useful or
add value to the project in order to create a ‘shopping list ofitdrat can then be incorporated into
the project if the required.

Contacts

Please send tenders to:
Jamie Lund
Archaeological Consultant
The National Trust

Lake District Hub

The Hollens

Grasmere

Cumbria

LA22 9QZ

Tele: 01539 463825
E-mail: jamie.lund@nationaltrust.org. uk
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APPENDIX 3
SURVEY GAZETTEER

SOURMILK GILL SITES

Site Number  SMGO1

Site Name Structure, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31900 08725

Type Structure

Period Post-medieval

Description A sub-rectangular stone feature measuring 9m by 3.5m located on thebaokhof
Sourmilk Gill. The sunken area measuring some 3.8m by 3m is contaidedefined by
what appears to be a series of deliberately placed field mEatzoulders, measuring 3.8m
by 3m. The original form and function of this feature is not clesn finitial inspection. It is
possible that the feature is entirely natural in origin. It iatkxt approximately 1m south-east
of a stone structure, likely to be a shepherd’s hut or peat huS(®{E92).

Site Number  SMGO02

Site Name Structure, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 31896 08730

Type Structure

Period Post-medieval

Description A single celled sub-rectangular stone-built structure. It measppsximately 4.5m by
3.7m and has agable end surviving on the north-west end which would suggegtreatliyor
pitched roofto the structure, although there are no slates evidentirsling it. Much of the
eastern end of the structure has collapsed and the rubble has besederom the site.
There is a probable entrance on the south-east side and a smadttangedar annex is
attached to the western wall of the structure. There is kd@év@atform cut into the slope to
the north of the structure measuring 4m square. This feature may fawe use as a
shepherds hut or as a peat hut.

Site Number  SMGO03

Site Name Stock Enclosure, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 31959 08731

Type Stock Enclosure

Period Post-medieval

Description The sub-square stone foundations of a stock enclosure measuring apprgxifirBateh
square. The walls survive only as a foundation course of double-thicktmsss sand
surface-gathered stones. It incorporates earthfast stones largk anatural boulder on the
east corner. An accumulation of stone in the north-west internalrcorag be collapsed
walling or, alternatively, represent a badly eroded sub-rectanguldmrplawith retaining
stones. The alternative possibility is that it was relatedheditlling mill and perhaps served
as a storage yard for cloth and raw materials associated méthulting; however, it is
extremely large given the relatively small size of the fullindl arid was not roofed, which
would probably be prerequisite for storage.

Site Number SMGO04

Site Name Washing Ponds, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31990 08685
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Type Pond

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description An adjoining series of three small pools that each measure apprelyirdat square. They
are located downstream of the fulling mill adjacent to a modela fvall and are on the
course of a divert channel near its outfow into Sourmilk Gitle(SMGQ09). The water ows
between the separate ponds in a broadly cascading arrangement, andhémreost pond
is roughly stone-lined on two sides. The ponds may have had an industriaigvpsibose
associated with the nearby fulling mill (SB&G11).

Site Number  SMGO05

Site Name Putative bridge Abutment, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

NTSMR -

LDLDNPHER -

NGR NY 31985 08669

Type Bridge

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A slightly domed sub-oval grass-covered area located within the sdatbfsSourmilk Gill.
It measures approximately 6.5m by 2m and, due to its alignment wittvaled outgang
lane, running onto the common may have originally functioned as a bridge abutment

Site Number  SMGO06

Site Name Head Race, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31914 08719 to NY 31932 08708

Type Head Race

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description The head race for the fulling mill (Sig&MG11). It is orientated roughly north-west/south-
east and is cut into the gently sloping north bank of Sourmilk Githelasures approximately
21m long and at its western end is roughly 0.55m wide and up to 0.3m dedye dastern
end the head race is aligned with a stone founded launder supporEk8x@8) and excess
water is controlled by a pair of divert channels (SB&G07 and SMGO09) that skirt either
side of the mill.

Site Number  SMGO7

Site Name Divert Channel, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31932 08708 to NY 31956 08698

Type Mill Race

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A curvilinear divert channel running on the south side of the millgpraximately 27m. For
the most part the channel does not appear deliberately cut and sedoiisw a natural
course through the rocky outcrops to the south of the launder supportS@@€8). The
channel carried water around this launder from its confuence étinéad race on the west
end (SiteSMGO06) and fowed into the tail race (Si@MG13) adjacent to the mill wheel pit
on the east end (Si8VG12). At the eastern end adjacent to the outfiow of the wheel pit the
channel seems to have been deliberately cut up to 1m wide by 0.4m deep.

Site Number  SMGO08

Site Name Launder support, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31932 08708 to NY 31943 08704

Type Launder

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description The foundations of a linear stone-constructed launder support or platfemtabed roughly

west-north-west/east-south-east. It would have formed the basev@wden launder fowing
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down from the confuence of a head race and divert channels updtetine west (Sites
SMGO06, SMGO07 and SMGO09) towards the mill wheel pit to the east (SB&MG12). The
structure is a roughly horizontal sub-rectangular drystone platform runnimgaovarea of
natural outcrop that is constructed of surface gathered stones mgampproximately 12m
long by up to 2.2m wide and 2.8m high. There is a break of 2m in the adrthe structure
where there is no obvious construction and most of the facing stonetssiegon the north
side. It is clear that the northern elevation of the eastern etiteolaunder has collapsed,
giving the impression that the launder support narrows towards its ersg.hbhiever, is not
the case. Close inspection reveals that this elevation has edllapke collapsed stone,
which is not visible at the foot of the rocky outcrop, is believed to Hmen used to
construct the sheep fold or bield that sits on top of the platiorm raated for the mill
building (SteSMG11.2.

Site Number  SMGO09

Site Name Divert Channel, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31932 08709 to NY 31991 08677

Type Mill Race

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A sinuous divert channel running on the north side of the mill for approxXiynéafen. On the
western end the channel does not appear deliberately cut and sdelhosvta natural course
through the rocky outcrops to the north of the launder base $3i@08). The channel
carried water around this launder fom its confuence with theftaeadon the west end (Site
SMGO06), and fowed into a series of potential washing ponds (SiéG4), before
outfiowing into Sourmilk Gill downstream of the mill. On levelled grouhé divert channel
has been cut into the ground surface and measures 0.6m wide by 0.3m deep.

Site Number  SMG10

Site Name Bank, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31912 08719

Type Bank

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A stone-revetted bank running perpendicular to the eastern end of thheaul race (Site
SMGO6). It measures approximately 2.4m long by 1.4m wide and survives u@rtohigh.
It extends up to the edge of the head-race and may have servedasitpart of a sluice
mechanism or been intended to restrict fow into the head-racmés of food.

Site Number  SMG11

Site Name Fulling Mill, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

NTSMR 23039

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31952 08704

Type Fulling Mill

Period Medieval to Post-Medieval

Description The single celled sub-rectangular foundations of a fulling mill lsitated on the north side

of Sourmilk Gill. The main structure comprised a large revegbtatform and on top was a
dwarf walled, dry-stone structure reflecting a separate phasensfruction, although the
structure was not necessarily related to a use as a fullingMuoith of the stone from the
northern side of the nearby launder was missing and there were no amommsubf stone at
the base of the crag, as would be expected if the structure haallpaxtilapsed. It appears
that this stone was removed fom the structure for reuse and pbssible that a large
accumulation of similar stones at the western side of theptaifbrm (SiteSMG11.2) might
have originated from the launder base. If this was the case theratdre phase of
construction on top of the mill platform would post date the usage o&timelér and fulling
activities
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The mill structure was attached to the north side of a stonedihegl pit (SiteSMG12).
The mill platiorm measures approximately 7m square, while thall sheepfold or bield
constructed on top of the platform measures 6.2m by 5.5m. The pldt&antarge stones set
within the north corners of the revetted walls and the foundatiols watvive up to 0.75m
wide by 0.5m high. There is a fight of two steps built into the soutbed of the eastern
wall elevation and the southern wall of the platform forms the norfide wall of the wheel
pit. The main structure/final phase is partially collapsed buttiygnal fabric was observed
in the north wall elevation where the walling was of double-thicknegstaire construction
measuring up to 0.9m wide. The west wall elevation survives uio Bigh in places. The
entrance (on the east side) corresponds with the fight of two sl on the platform.

Site Number  SMG12

Site Name Wheel Pit, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31950 08700

Type Wheel Pit

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A sub-rectangular stone-constructed wheel pit located adjacent tsothikern end of the
fulling mill at Sourmilk Gill (SiteSMG10). It shares its northern side wall with the south
wall elevation of the mill building. Internally the wheel pit meas approximately 4m long
by 0.75m wide and 1.2m deep. The wheel pit is aligned with a launder stippbe west
(Site SMGO08) and the outfow to the east was into a tail race (SM&13). The wheel pit is
of double-thickness drystone construction and externally, including an addistoal&dw
foundation course on the south of the pit, measured 6.5m by 3.2m. The sautheof the
wheel pit would have been very wide (up to 2m thick), which would have sugptbree
wheel axle.

Site Number  SMG13

Site Name Tail Race, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31953 08699 to NY 31981 08675

Type Tail Race

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A curvilinear tail race running roughly north-west/south-east from dlhseast side of the
fulling mill. The channel took water fowing fom the confuenceboth the wheel pit and
divert channel (SiteSMG07 andSMG12) and outfowed into the north side of Sourmilk
Gill further downstream. The tail race is a well-defned depg channel with partially
tumbled retaining walls, particularly evident on the north side. Hsowes approximately
36m long by 2.5m wide and is up to 1.5m deep in places.

Site Number  SMG14

Site Name Platform, Sourmilk Gil, Easedale

LDNPHER 35921

NGR NY 31923 08705

Type Platform

Period Unknown

Description A possible teardrop-shaped natural platform located on the west gtuke wiill. It is formed
on the south side by the course of Sourmilk Gill and to the north by Huk raee (Site
SMGO06). The area measures approximately 22m long by 13m wide.

Site Number  SMG15

Site Name Sheep Fold, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 31894 08703

Type Sheepfold or washfold
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Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A two celled sub-rectangular sheepfold or washfold located on the kankhof Sourmilk
Gill. Overall the fold measures approximately 15m by 11.5m and irftaances on both the
south and north-east sides. The entrance to the north-east has aal esdting of stones
piled into Sourmilk Gill. The sheepfold overlay an earlier peaktranning downslope from
the south-west (SiteMG16). The entrance facing onto an active stream would suggest that
this structured functioned as a washfld.

Site Number  SMG16

Site Name Trackway, Sourmilk Gill, Easedale

NTSMR -

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 31889 08698 to NY 31842 08684

Type Trackway

Period Post-medieval

Description A sinuous section of sunken trackway ascending the hillside on the sdetlofssourmilk

Gill. Itis overlain on the north end by a sheepfold (SikG15).

LOUGHRIGG TERRACE SITES

Site Number LTGO1

Site Name Fulling Mill, Loughrigg T errace, Grasmere

NTSMR 181816

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34358 05912

Type Fulling Mill

Period Post-medieval

Description A small rectangular grass-covered platform located at the Hadee ceast bank of a deep
gully adjacent to the south shore of Grasmere Tarn. The platormtipdteis the location
of a fulling mill although its size (approximately 4.5m by 2.6m and ORlgh) would
preclude a substantial built structure surrounding the fulling fame tackiss The adjacent
stream bypasses the western side of the platform and on the oppstkgile there is a slight
sunken area abutting the base of the gully bank which may relate to ttienposa water
wheel (SiteLT04.1). Another potential configuration of the water wheel would be on the
north end of the platiorm where the stream kinks around it (Ji6.2) and here the
platborm has a well-defined straight cut edge. Other potentidl ewidence consists of
deliberately placed stones to the south of the mill platiorm whimph have provided support
for a wooden launder that carried water to the waterwheel (Si®8), and a line of stones
external to the east side of the gully containing the platform (Site?). These stones may
potentially represent ballast for the end of a perishable roofcgirgjeover the fulling frame
and stocks.

Site Number  LTGO02

Site Name Ramped Platform, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34346 05917

Type Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description A large sub-circular platform cut into the hillside and embanked downshapes located

just above the south shore of Grasmere Tarn. The platform, nmgpapproximately 12m in
diameter by up to 1.3m high, is accessed from the west by aslgibping ramp that again
is cut and embanked from the hillside. The access ramp istfila long by 8m wide and
has a small drain running along the south side. The platform isasspdom the mill site by
a large curvilinear embankment that is constructed atop the wésteknof the stream gully
running around the mill platbrm (SiteT01). The embankment would have precluded the
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construction of the fulling mill on this platiorm, it also suggdsigt the transmission of
water power from a wheel across to the platorm would also have takkely. The
function of the platform could be as some sort of working or storageadjacent to the mill.
Unfortunately the land to the south, close to the shore of the Ham,been eroded and a
footpath constructed across part of the feature, as such any contgmmadence based
interpretation of the site is compromised.

Site Number  LTGO3

Site Name Putative Launder Support or step, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasm ere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34358 05904

Type Launder

Period Post-medieval

Description A series of fat-topped stones located at the confluence dfehe race and another channel
(Sites LTO5 and LT06) some 4.5m-5.5m upstream of the potential mill platorm (Site
LTO1). The area to the south of the stones is particularly boggy andigherslight drop in
height to the north of the stones. Potentially both the head race andliaybshannel
deposited water into a wooden launder which used these stones asabroumitlation/ pad
stones to route water towards the wheel pit. There is no othet dirglence here for a
launder mechanism. Ifthe presence of a wooden launder supporgjgedcit suggests that
the stream to the west side of the mill platform acted asra small divert channel, or the
head race merged with the channel at a higher point in antiguity.

Site Number  LTGO4

Site Name Wheel Pit, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34359 05912

Type Wheel Pit

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description There are two potential locations for the water wheel adjacettiet potential fulling mill
platiorm on both the east and north sides of the structure. The mostsbuieel position
(SiteLT04.1) consists of a small sunken depression sandwiched between thaleast the
mill platorm (SiteLT01) and the base of the eastern bank of the gully containing the site.
The rectangular depression measures approximately 2.5m by 0.6m antb if.1pm deep,
and the depression is higher than the stream channel to the north.r@mthhend of the mill
platiorm the stream gully kinks almost a right-angle around the phatfiris possible that a
water wheel could have been positioned here along the well-defineghttrat edge of the
platiorm (SiteLT04.2).

Site Number  LTGO05

Site Name Channel/Leat, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34356 05892 to NY 34357 05902

Type Mill Race

Period Post-medieval

Description A small linear stream channel which drains through a boggy fush dogpstope of the mill

site. Itis orientated roughly north/south and measures at leastob@nby 2m wide and the
northern end of the channel forms a confluence with the main heaSiteL T06) above a
potential launder step (SiteT03). The channel may have taken water off of a stream gully
running downslope to the south-west of the mill site although theredseub evidence for a
section of cut channel adjacent to this stream.
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Site Number LTGO6

Site Name Head Race, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34434 05824 to NY 34359 05906

Type Head Race

Period Post-medieval

Description A long sinuous head race consisting of a natural gully running roughly south-¢hsi/astr
downslope towards Grasmere Tarn. It junctions onto a running streatime csouth-east
upslope end, where there is a small blocking dam (Si@9) and a notched stone in the
base of the beck may have supported the end of a wooden launder that woutdllleated
water and transported it over the small blocking dam, depositingithet head race (Site
LT10). The head race measures approximately 110m long by 6m wide by up tee@rmde
places. The north western end is denuded and there is a slightagapggy fush before the
potential launder step (Sitef03) at the confuence of another channel/leat (RiT®5).
There is an area of blocking near the start of the head raeel {8if.) which is probably
more recent material rather than an aspect of the wategeraeat for the mill.

Site Number  LTGO7

Site Name Tail Race, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34358 05907 to NY 34357 05927

Type Tail Race

Period Post-medieval

Description A short sinuous section of tailrace located downslope to the north ahithelatiorm. It
starts upslope at the foot of the potential launder steps L(B@i8), curves around the west
side of the mill platorm as a divert channel, and passing the twentpat water wheel
positions, and flows north towards Grasmere Tarn. It is a partiabdified section of a
natural stream gully and measures approximately 26m long by 3m wide daod2nmpdeep.
At the northern end it disappears into a culvert running beneath the niootpath along
the shore.

Site Number  LTGO8

Site Name Platiorm, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34360 05922

Type Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description A small D-shaped platform located adjacent to the modern footpathseceastern side of
the tail race (Sit€ TO7) to the north side of the mill site. The feature is possiblyragin
origin and/or has an unknown function associated with the mil. The platfogasures
approximately 5m by 4.5m and is up to 1.5m high. Unfortunately the land sotiie on the
shore of the lake has been eroded and a footpath crosses it thatiutiad@®mprehension of
the site difficult.

Site Number  LTGO09

Site Name Mill Dam, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34432 05825

Type Mill Dam

Period Post-medieval

Description A small slightly curvilinear section of drystone walling blocking thelops end of the head

race (SiteLT06) at the junction with its feeder stream. The dam structusasuores
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approximately 3.8m long by 1m wide and is up to 0.6m high and is likelyv®e drasured

excess water did not enter the head race during periods of high floter ¥éald possibly
have been allowed into the blocked head race via a moveable wooden laundetrdbthe

water flow. It would have crossed the dam and was set on a notcmedistthe stream bed
(SiteLT10).

Site Number  LTG10

Site Name Launder Step, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34435 05822

Type Launder

Period Post-medieval

Description An angular stone located in the stream bed just upslope fom the jumgtiothe head race
(SiteLTO06). The stone, measuring 0.4m by 0.3m and 0.4m high, has a lineangressthe
upper surface that may have formed the eastern anchoring point for abheowemden
launder to control the water flow into the head race over the blockihdSi LT09).

Site Number  LTG11

Site Name Stone Blocking, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34426 05837

Type Structure

Period Post-medieval

Description An area of rubble inflling located near the upper end, and withirhéad race for the mill
(SiteLTO06). The feature does not seem to have an obvious function and probably post-dates
the use of the mill and head race, and was intended to disable thiealting the head race.

Site Number LTG12

Site Name Stone Feature, Loughrigg Terrace, Grasmere

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30709

NGR NY 34362 05912

Type Structure

Period Post-medieval

Description A small roughly linear north/south orientated setting of stones visiblthe ground surface

on the east side of the gully containing the mill platiorm (&iT®1). There are multiple
stones visible in a line measuring up to 3.5m long running parallel tmithplatform. It is
possible that these stones were anchoring points or ballast for wedwig a perishable
roof structure over the mill platform.

Low WOODSITES

Site Number
Site Name
LDNPHER
NGR

Type
Period
Description

Lwo1

Fulling Mill, Low Wood, Elterwater
181817

NY 33710 05027

Fulling Mill

Post-medieval

A substantial rectangular platform located on the west side oth/smuth orientated stream
running through the centre of Low Wood. The platform probably formed the docafi a
fulling mill although there are no visible foundations associated withuit structure
surrounding the site of a fulling frame and stocks. The platiornoaatdd on the south-east
side of a mill pond (Sité W03), and, in part, forms a retaining dam for it. The platform is
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flat-topped and measures approximately 10m long by 8m wide, with thaf tbp platform
5m by 3.75m. To the west of the platiorm it a well-defined whetelgading through to a
stone-lined tail race (SiteasW02 andLWO04).

Site Number  LWO02

Site Name Wheel Pit, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33705 05029

Type Wheel Pit

Period Post-medieval

Description A well-defined wheel pit located adjacent to the west side mftative fulling mill platform
in Low Wood (SiteLWO01). The pit has partially collapsed opposing retaining walls on either
side and measures 3.5m long by 1m wide and up to 1.1m deep. The avafisise large
water worn stones and roughly shaped slate slabs. The retain wallesusest on the west
side of the structure. The wheel pit was fed upstream to the fiomtha mill pond and
downstream outfowed into a stone-lined tail race (Sit&93 andLWO04).

Site Number  LWO03

Site Name Mill Pond, Low Wood, Hterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33709 05034

Type Mill Pond

Period Post-medieval

Description A well-defined rectangular mill pond located upstream and adjacerthé north of a
potential fulling mill platiorm in Low Wood (SiteWO01). The pond measures approximately
9.5m by 8.3m and although mostly infilled with stones and silt, is th@less 1.1m deep on
the north side (Sité W03.1). The pond is contained within stone partially exposed stone
retaining walls. The walls are all vertical sided exceptribeh wall which is battered back
at a slight sloping angle. The pond contains a raised platform mmeauni wide on the west
side (SiteLW03.2). The pond is fed by a stone lined head race and was passed by a divert
channel at a junction 5m north-east of the structure (2i¥¥#96 andLW11). The pond
powered the mill site via a wheel pit on the south end thathfedigh into a stone lined tail
race (Sited W02 andLWO04). The mill platiorm (SitdeW08) presumably acted as a dam to
stop water escaping downslope to the south. The pond may have had a diga Dinobth
water power and washing of the fulled woollens. In particular thgpetke platiorm (Site
LWO03.2) could have been used to access the pond for washing the materiglofithevas
first depicted on the OS Second Edition mapping (1890).

Site Number  LWO04

Site Name Tail Race, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33705 05025 to NY 33700 04969

Type Tail Race

Period Post-medieval

Description An intact and impressive linear stone-lined and slate bottomedataillocated downstream

of the wheel pit associated with (Sit&V/02) the putative fulling mill site. For most of its
length the channel is ruler straight suggesting a planned constructitve &fature rather
than modification of a natural stream gully (SitaN04.1). The channel measures
approximately 38.4m long by 0.5m wide and 0.3m deep for most of its lentie bening

a right angle to the south-east on the southern end and continuing as a sireasasgully
(Site LW04.2). The tail race turned at the point where there is a sredilbs of retaining
wall (Site LWO05) and continued to outfow into the divert channel bypassing the mill site
some 23m further downstream (Sitev/11). The straight section of the tail race conformed
with the eastern boundary of a small plantation or orchard within Low Vitsbédhown on
the OS Second Edition mapping (1890), but was not on the OS frst ediapn(1860), and
suggests that the plantation was established in the intervening period.
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Site Number LWO05

Site Name Retaining Wall, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33696 04990

Type Retaining Wall

Period Post-medieval

Description A short damaged section of drystone constructed retaining wall iedocatthe north side of
a right angled turn in the tail race (Sit#&/04) running south-east from the putative mill site
in Low Wood. The partially collapsed wall measures approximat@m Sy 1.3m and up to
1.8m high on the south side where the ground drops away to the south-kastaltslight
stub of wall corner on the west end where the wall originally turneth norillow the east
side of the tail race. The wall retains a levelled aréadsterminate size upslope to the north
(Site LW16) which may have functioned as a working/storage area or as a ¢enterd.
There is no evidence for support for a water wheel on top of diaire wall at this location
due to collapse, although the tail race does slope down significarttlis dbcation.

Site Number  LWO06

Site Name Head Race, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33762 05146 to NY 33714 05037

Type Head Race

Period Post-medieval

Description The slightly sinuous water channel running east-north-east/west-souttthweagh the
centre of Low Wood, and to the north of the putative mill site & ieen defined as a head
race. It is visible running downslope through the woods and beneath a ssctarriage
drive (SiteLW12) for approximately 114m before junctioning to feed a mill pond to thé wes
(Site LWO3) and continuing downslope to the east of the putative mill as a dkennel
(Site LW11). The channel varies in width and depth along its length primariig a
unsurprisingly, due to severe water erosion. It is clear thamdst of its length, as with
most of the other drainage channels running through the wood, it was mdhatito a
stone-lined cutting. There is evidence of it being culverted beneattathage drive and for
a short section further south (Sité/07).

Site Number  LWO7

Site Name Culvert, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33728 05058

Type Culvert

Period Post-medieval

Description A short damaged section of stone culverting located upon the head race thnmiggp Low
Wood (SiteLWO06) and just to the south of a carriage drive (Sit&/12). The section
measures approximately 4.6m long by 0.7m wide and there are collausieths of stone-
lined culvert immediately to both the north and south of the cover¢idsec

Site Number  LWO08

Site Name Wall Foundation , Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33699 05030

Type Wall

Period Post-medieval

Description A fragmentary linear wall foundation located on the south-west sitleeafill pond (Site

LWO03) at the putative mill site in Low Wood. The wall is orientatedighly south-
east/north-west and measures approximately 9.7m long by 0.3m wide.tli@ngouthern
edge ofthe wall is visible and it survives up to 0.2m high withapskd material downslope
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to the south. The wall may be associated with retaining the vgitegbove, or alternatively,
was associated with a small rectangular plantation or orchatdsene depicted on the OS
Second Edition mapping (1890).

Site Number  LWO09

Site Name Charcoal Burning Platiorm, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33683 04974

Type Charcoal Burning Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description An oval charcoal burning platform cut into the slightly sloping ground tostheh of the
putative mill site in Low Wood. It measures approximately 12m long bywitim and is cut
into the slope 0.3m deep on the north end.

Site Number  LW10

Site Name Trackway, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33717 04977

Type Trackway

Period Post-medieval

Description A fragmentary linear section of woodland access trackway locatetheé south of the
putative mill site in Low Wood and east of the divert channel (BW&l1). The recorded
section measured up to 25m long orientated north/south by 2m wide. Theajraclas
clearly used for woodland industry and was not a formal carriageway.

Site Number  LW11

Site Name Divert Channel, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33718 05039 to NY 33700 04969

Type Millrace

Period Post-Medieval

Description A slightly sinuous divert channel running roughly north/south to the eashafypassing,
the putative mill site in Low Wood. The often deeply eroded and cut ehameasures
approximately 75m long by up to 2m wide in places. The north end junctionshenhead
race (SiteLWO06) approximately 5m away from its infow into the mill pond (Sit&/03)
and continues down to the south where it meets with the tail raed {804).

Site Number  LW12

Site Name Carriage Drive, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33813 05127 to NY 33798 04900

Type Carriageway

Period Post-medieval

Description An elaborately constructed sinuous carriage drive running downslope througiWboad

from High Close farm. It is clearly a formal carriage driather than purely an access track
used for woodland industry. It is metalled, has a drainage ditch on tlepessde of the
surface, and is approximately 6m wide. The carriage drive has angrametaining wall on
the downslope side where it crosses the head race L(Bit¥) just to the north of the
putative mill site. The retaining wall measures up to 2.3m higfisatocation with a parapet
that is 0.7m high. The head race has been culverted below the Thgedrives within Low
Wood are first depicted on the OS Second Edition mapping (1890).
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Site Number  LW13

Site Name Trackway, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33724 05066 to NY 33679 04900

Type Trackway

Period Post-medieval

Description A curvilinear section of woodland access track running roughly north-@adt/aest on
the west side of the putative mill site in Low Wood. The recosktion of trackway
measures approximately 100m long by 2.3m wide. It junctioned onto a haberate
carriage drive on the north end and ran downslope through the rest of Low Waod.
trackway was clearly used for access for the woodland industngiven that it links up
to the main carriage drive (Sit&V12) it may have been reused and adopted as part of the
design for the later pleasure grounds.

Site Number  LW14

Site Name Wall Foundation, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33742 05079

Type Wall

Period Post-medieval

Description A linear wall foundation orientated roughly north-west/south east running thrthegh
northern halfofLow Wood. The recorded section of the boundary, wheresged the head
race (SitdeW06), measured approximately 14.5m long by 2m wide and survived up to 0.3m
high. The boundary was probably related to woodland management and functionsdbas a
divisional hag boundary between separate coppice compartments within Low \WWood.
extends upslope for approximately 50m to the south-east (outside of thet gessey area);
the foundation continues and connects with further coppice compartment boumear ¢
a potash kiln and attached putative building platform.

Site Number  LW15

Site Name Upcast mound, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33720 05020

Type Clearance Cairn

Period Post-medieval

Description A substantial oval upcast mound located immediately to the ea$taasit of the putative
mill platorm in Low Wood. It measures approximately 5.5m by 3.7miandp to 0.5m
high; is constructed of small stone, silt and earth. The mound, aloh@ther slight banking
located adjacent to the west side of the divert channel (S#t&1), would suggest levelling
works adjacent to the mill platform to create a working areal®arance of the divert
channel or occasional scouring of the mill pond to remove material thgdsi the fow of
water. A less likely possibility is that the site could eléb the clearance of demolition
rubble from the mill site, but there are no obvious visible foundationa foill building on
the platform (SiteeWO01).

Site Number  LW16

Site Name Levelled Area, Low Wood, Elterwater

LDNPHER -

NGR NY 33698 04995

Type Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description A flat cleared area measuring approximately 16m long by 8m wideetbtatthe immediate

east side of the tail race (Sit&/04) running south from the putative mill sitein Low Wood.
The south end of the area is defined by a small retaining waé I(8V05). The area is
possibly a working area associated with mill processes.
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STICKLE GHYLL SITES

Site Number  SGO1

Site Name Head Race, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30571

NGR NY 29397 06533 to NY 29407 06500

Type Head Race

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A well-defined, roughly linear, north-north-east/south-south-west orishthead race that
would originally have channelled water fom an area of more abovsittesouthwards
towards the putative fulling mill site (Si&G09. There is no evidence for a dam or take-off
point on the south bank of Stickle Ghyll as the area has been heavilg aratlées covered in
large boulder sand water washed stones; the gully is in any casansiabigt below the head
race for the mill . The visible section of the head racdsstd its northern end just south of
the junction of two modern public footpaths in the enclosed field containingithgite. The
main section of the channel is partially rock-cut on both the shallowectbwaad visible rock
outcropping and has had a retaining bank constructed on the downslope eastefriside.
portion of the channel measures approximately 34.5m long by 2.8m widetheitbpen
channel up to 1m wide by 0.5m deep. At the south end the channel rurss aa¢edlsrocky
outcrop giving it significant height above the putative mill structure. i§ e junction with a
possible divert channel running south-west beneath the modern enclosu(gitealb G07)
and the head race turns sharply to the east to descend the steep theeoutcrop for a
further 2.7m as a narrow 0.5m wide and 0.2m deep rock-cut chaniglpribbable that this
forms the start of a divert channel taking water through, and undepoti#on of the water
wheel as a wooden launder positioned at either the top or bottom ofapi@gskrocky
outcrop face would carry water only to the waterwheel. Therdghkt skvidence for a gap
between two small banks in the shallow earthworks just north of ihestmucture (Site
SGO04 which would suggest water and/or launder passing south-east from theutroc
channel towards the water wheel. There is also an infilled scodipeirocky outcrop on the
west side of the mill structure that is now crossed by a modtdnvfiall that could relate to a
channel for taking water under the water wheel.

Site Number  SGO02

Site Name Boundary Wall Foundation, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30571

NGR NY 29392 06549 to NY 29393 06526

Type Boundary Wall

Period Post-medieval

Description The linear foundations of a boundary wall running north ffom the extant cofntreo
modern enclosure wall on the north-west side of the feld containingutiaéive fulling mill
towards Stickle Ghyll. The boundary was depicted as extant on the @fdS&dition
mapping (1890). The double thickness wall foundations measure app roximatelp3ray
0.8m wide and survivein places up to 0.3m high. The boundary has beety sdseusled,
probably as a result of stone robbing after the feature fll out wlibigral use, and is
crossed by the modern footpath.

Site Number  SGO03

Site Name Boundary Bank, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30571

NGR NY 29411 06544 to NY 29438 06520

Type Boundary Bank

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description The remains of a wide earth and stone constructed boundary bank orientgfiely north-

west/south-east and running through the north-east corner of the enchtidedritaining the
putative mill site, and adjacent to the south side of Stickle Ghiy# boundary is overlain by
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the modern enclosure walls, and measures approximately 38m long by upwm&nT he
bank is crossed by a modern footpath near the northern end and at the sowthém veall
disappears where the area has been landscaped as gardens.

Site Number  SG04

Site Name Earthworks, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

NTSMR -

LDNPHER 30571

NGR NY 29411 06501

Type Bank (Earthwork)

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A series of amorphous and ambiguous shallow earthworks located in tHefamarea
sandwiched immediately between north-west side of the putativestmititure (SiteSG09H
and a natural rocky outcrop. The overall area of the features meapproximately 13.5m
long by a maximum of 6.5m wide on the northern end. The earthworks consisthaflow
flattened sub-circular platform containing a smaller oval flat-tdppeund. To the southis a
short and slight linear break of slope or depression running at the fdw afdky outcrop
and curving at the northern end toward the sub-circular platform. Thateo a short bank
stub running out from the south face of the rocky outcrop. Immediately todtie-west
corner of the mill structure is a linear bank with a gap in thielie that is aligned with both
an infilled scoop and the foot of a rock-cut channel (St&9J). It is possible that this relates
to an aperture through which either a launder, or divert channel, fest d@avn fom the
head race towards the water wheel on the south-west wall elewdtihe mill structure. The
earthworks have no obvious direct function, and they could be related targneibrking as
the mill or could be related to an earlier phase of constructiatatimg the present walled
mill building, although there is no direct evidence of an eanidr platform.

Site Number  SGO05

Site Name Fulling Mill, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

NTSMR 181818

LDNPHER 30571

NGR NY 29416 06499

Type Fulling Mill

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description Extant foundations of a small rectangular fulling mill building tedato the south of Stickle

Ghyll and immediately north-west of the present day Stickle Barrghwiis formerly a part
of the Mill Beck Farm complex. The building, now surviving as a ghtiabuilt sheepfold,
was depicted as a roofed structure on the OS First Edition mapp®6d)(but had been
modified by the Second Edition mapping (1890). T he building measures approxid&ely
by 5.8m and survives upto 2m high downslope on the south corner. The structbeemas
cut into the hillside with a retaining wall on the north-west elemail.4m deep. Internally
the structure is a level platiorm up to 0.7m higher than exterdalynslope to the south-
east. The structure is abutted by a later revetment wall dtidh attaches it to the enclosure
wall to the south-west and to the east it is attached via &dologateway to another
enclosure wall. There is a single entrance located on thereasi# of the south-east wall
elevation (adjacent to the blocked external doorway) but this is assbwigh the later use
of the site and there is no visible original fabric around the aperture

The surviving fabric of the mill structure is fragmentary but didtibeing lime mortared and
containing both surface gathered and water worn stones packed by daasatly placed
thin slabs of stone. The rest of the superstructure has been @bultdrystone sheepfold
structure with a simple coping stones on top. The surviving fabric igblain places oten
with only visible foundation courses but with the internal south-westglaand north-east
facing and the external south-west facing wall elevations having ormgbal fabric. The
south corner wall quoin stack survives up to six courses and is 0.75nthegdputh-west
wall elevation of the structure has possible surviving elementsptiiat to the structure
originally being a mill building. Both externally and internally thiere@vidence for a blocked
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sub-circular aperture measuring 0.6m in original diameter that @omidrm to the location
of the mill wheel axle. The position of the water wheel would bereat to this wall
elevation and would have been serviced by a divert channel/launder combinbéom av
(now blocked) scooped area in the outcropping bedrock is located to the wibst rofll.
Internally the putative axle aperture is flanked 0.45m equidistant onsioiath by a single
blocked vertical slot in the original wall fabric. It is possitihat these slots relate to
anchoring beam slots or bracing points for the fulling mill fame. Tié was clearly
serviced by both a well defined partially rock-cut head race S@€1), and a tail race
south-east of the putative water wheel position which survives laghaearthwork feature
(SiteSG08H.

Site Number
Site Name
NTSMR
LDNPHER
NGR

Type

Period
Description

SGO06
Tail Race, Stickle Ghyll, Great Langdale

30571

NY 29419 06491 to NY 29428 06482

Tail Race

Medieval to Post-medieval

The damaged linear remains of a possible tail race orientated yoogtth-west/south-east
and leading away to the south-east of and aligned with the possiblewhatsr location on

the putative mill structure. The feature consists of a slighakba# slope of single sided
channel that is lower in height on the south-west side; it alsa Isé®rt section of possible
stone revetment surviving in the centre of its length. A slightlyilonear boundary/feature
was depicted at this location of the OS First Edition mapping (1861).

LITTLE ORE GATE SITES

Site Number
Site Name
LDNPHER
NGR

Type

Period
Description

LOGGO01

Fulling Mill?, Litdle Ore Gate, Graythwaite

SD 37109 93304

Fulling Mill

Medieval to Post-medieval

The putative foundations of a fulling mill structure located within waudllat Little Ore
Gate. The main structure appears to consist of earthen rembiasnarrow two celled
platorm structure with a possible smaller sloping annex on the séds. The structure
measures approximately 8.7m long (east/west) by 2.75m wide, withrartifanks surviving
up to 0.5m wide by 0.3m high in places. The annex on the east sideresea further 4.3m
long by 2.6m wide. The western end of the structure has been eroded bgutbe of a
stream feeding water out from the fat boggy land to the south. iifithstructure is genuine
it is possible that a free-standing undershot water wheel would hexepbsitioned at this
location on the western gable end of the structure. There is no evigieaagheel pit at this
location as the bedrock is exposed here immediately below the presend grurface. The
stream continues on in a north-easterly direction as a tailruaceng towards a larger
stream that skirts the eastern side of the putative mil(SiteLOGO03). There is no clear
evidence for stone within the construction of the putative building foundatods the
bedrock is only 0.1m to 0.2m beneath modern ground level so would preclude otwgpus
foundations here. If genuine the structure would have consisted of dwldirfgwwith a
perishable superstructure and roof A putative double channelled headandcthen a
launder platform approach the structure from the west (&i®S06 and LOG02), and a
narrow channel passed the south edge of the structure to the eads tithweastream.

Site Number

Site Name
LDNPHER

LOGO02
Platform for Launder?, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite
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NGR SD 37082 93303 to SD 37102 93305

Type Launder

Period Post-medieval

Description A rectangular platform area orientated west/east and locatedeowesst side of a putative
fulling mill at Little Ore Gate. The feature measures appnaxely 21.5m long by 5.5m wide
and is platformed up to 1m high downslope on the north side. The platfagmhave been
the base for a pair of wooden launders running towards a water loicatdd on the west
gable end of the structure and a channel running south immediately behindl thteucture.
Alternatively the feature could potentially relate to a modern giantdarackway running
over a natural rocky ledge.

Site Number  LOGGO03

Site Name Tail Race?, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

LDNPHER -

NGR SD 37104 93306 to SD 37128 93327

Type Tail Race

Period Post-medieval

Description A small natural stream gully orientated roughly south-west/north teastdrains a boggy
area within Litle Ore Gate. The stream crosses a piat@iteLOG02) adjacent to the west
gable end of what may be the foundations of a fulling mill (8@&01). If this relationship
is correct then the downslope portion of the stream acted asracaithat was some 19m in
length and outiowed into the larger stream that curves around the possliidite.

Site Number  LOGO04

Site Name Potash Kiln, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

LDNPHER -

NGR SD 37145 93301

Type Potash Kiln

Period Medieval to Post-medieval

Description A potash kiln consisting of a scooped oval depression constructed intastemebank of the
stream skirting the putative fulling mill at Litle Ore GafEhe turfcovered bowl shaped
depression measures 5m long by 4m wide and is up to 1.25m deep. Taesligid lipped
opening on the eastern end which is adjacent to, but higher than, #me strennel that is
1.2m wide.

Site Number  LOGGO05

Site Name Charcoal Burning Platiorm, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

LDNPHER -

NGR SD 37083 93298

Type Charcoal Burning Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description The D-shaped remains of a damaged charcoal burning platform locasesbradjo, and
possibly overlain by the leat/forestry trackway passing through Little Gate (Site
LOGO06). It measures approximately 11.5m by 7m and is dlightly platiormethemast side
by up to 0.3m high. The double leat/trackway bank is denuded but abutts thealchar
burning platform so it is uncertain if one feature cuts the otherthHeuplan of the platiorm
would suggest that the leat/trackway overlay the north-west side pfatierm and was a
later feature.

Site Number  LOGO06

Site Name Head Race?, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

LDNPHER -

NGR SD 36971 93253 to SD 37082 93303

Type Head Race
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Period
Description

Post-medieval

A long sinuous feature located on the south-west side of a putative fatlill site within
Little Ore Gate. The feature consists of a wide featureithaut into the south-east-facing
hillslope and curves around the contour along the bottom break of the sloperbé¢he hill
and fatter boggy ground to the south. The feature starts in the soutladyasent to a
stream and skirts around the mill site. The feature is aligrild avwell-defined roughly
metalled forestry track which winds down through the plantation furthahe west, and
which itself was depicted on the OS Second Edition 25 inch (1890) mappirigished at
the point it met the stream adjacent to the south-west cornefiedfl eenclosure. It would
appear that the track utilised the feature, certainly at tistemeend, but it is not evident if
this was created for the forestry track. It is possible tiiat stream fed the putative leat
system, although there is no evidence of a water take-off pbuit,this would have been
disturbed by its later use as a forestry track. The sinuous festoreentated roughly south-
west/north-east and measures approximately 150m long by up to 6m whds. dt relatively
large upcast bank on the downslope side which in places is coveredure mmees and there
are a pair of parallel running sunken features within the siteatbatoughly 2m apart. In
places the depressions are well-defined and vertical sided. oltteesn portion of the bank
has been damaged by forestry vehicles where they have diverted off étigepldat feature.
At the north-eastern end the feature curves eastwards and adjpiatfoamed area (Site
LWO02). The function of the feature could be as a pair of leats running dowards the
fulling mill. Alternatively the feature could be an accessktrassociated with woodland
industries as it skirts two charcoal burning platiorms (SL€05 and LOGO09). The
feature was definitely used to some degree as access ftrnyjovehicles when the area was
either planted in the 1960s and/or felled and replanted in the 1990s butdblat mot
discount the re-use of an earlier feature.

Site Number
Site Name
LDNPHER
NGR

Type

Period
Description

LOGGO07
Washing Pond?, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

SD 37127 93293

Pond

Post-medieval

A sub-rectangular slightly sunken area along the line of an eastiweshg channel (Site
LOGO08) that passes the south side of the putative fulling mill sitecattbws into the
stream to the east. The feature measures approximately 4.3rbyidmy wide and is up to
0.3m deep and is masked by scrub vegetation. The feature could possiblyabkeirsg pond
associated with the adjacent fulling mill that is fed by the channel

Site Number
Site Name
LDNPHER
NGR

Type

Period
Description

LOGO08
Divert Channel?, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite

SD 37103 93303 to SD 37139 93292

Mill Race

Post-medieval

A slight linear channel orientated roughly west/east located alongnthediate south side
of the putative fulling mill structure at Litle Ore Gate. T¢teannel measures approximately
35m long by up to 0.8m-2m wide and is 0.3m-0.5m deep in places. The cleacnahnected
in the west to a platformed feature (Jit@G02), passes the mill structure (St®GO01) and
crosses adjacent to a pond (Ji®GO07) before meeting the stream that surrounds the
putative mill site on the eastern end. Ifthe mill site isugee this feature would be a divert
channel passing the site and feeding a washing pond. The other outsideifyorssithiat it
was simply a wheel rut, but the absence of a corresponding rut wguke against it.

Site Number
Site Name
LDNPHER

LOGGO09
Charcoal Burning Platiorm, Little Ore Gate, Graythwaite
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NGR SD 37011 93235

Type Charcoal Burning Platform

Period Post-medieval

Description A well-defined sub-circular charcoal burning platiorm located on teepshillside adjacent

to the north side of the leat/trackway passing through Litle Ore (&ite LOGO6). It

measures approximately 12.5m by 10m and is cut into the hillside by 1mp tdeep. The
platiorm on the south side adjoins the leat/trackway.
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Figure 7; Aerial survey photograph of Sourmilk Gill Fulling Mill, Easedale
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Figure 8: Loughrigg Terrace Fulling Mill, Grasmere
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Figure 10: Loughrigg Terrace Fulling Mill, Grasmere (centre)
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Figure 12: Aerial survey photograph of Loughrigg Fuling Mil, Grasmere
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Figure 13: Low Wood Fulling Mill, Elterwater
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Figure 14: Low Wood Fulling Mill, Elterwater (north)
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Figure 15: Low Wood Fulling Mill, Elterwater {centre)
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Figure 17: Stickle Ghyll Fulling Mill, Great Langdale
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Figure 22: South-west-facing external elevation of Stickle Ghyll Mill
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Figure 23: South-west-facing internal elevation of Stickle Ghyll Mill
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Figure 24: North-west-facing internal elevation of Stickle Ghyll Mill
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Figure 25: North-east-facing internal elevation of Stickie Ghyll Mill
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Figure 26: South-east-facing internal elevation of Stickie Ghyll Mill
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Figure 27: North-east-facing external elevation of Stickle Ghyll Mill
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Figure 28: South-east-facing adjoining wall elevation of Stickle Ghyil Mill
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Figure 29: Little Ore Gate Fulling Mill, Graythwaite
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Figure 30: Little Ore Gate Fulling Mill, Graythwaite (south-west)
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Figure 31: Little Ore Gate Fulling Mill, Graythwaite (west)
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Figure 32: Little Ore Gate Fulling Mill, Graythwaite (centre-west)
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Figure 34: Little Ore Gate Fulling Mill, Graythwaite (east)






